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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

2009 will go down in Uralkali’s history as a challenging and transformational year. Around 

the world, the agricultural industry was profoundly affected by the global economic upheaval, and 

demand for potash fertilizer fell sharply for the fi rst time in years. Uralkali was forced to cut spot prices 

as early as the fi rst quarter in response to the reduced buying power of the main potash importers. 

The Company also scaled back production, at several points throughout the year operating at less 

than a quarter of its full capacity. However, Uralkali managed to get through the critical fi rst six 

months of the year, and in the second half secured long-term contracts in the industry’s two vital 

markets – China and India.

It was a diffi cult year not only for the key potash consumers around the world, but also for 

Russian farmers. Mindful of the need to support domestic agriculture, the Company boosted supply 

to the Russian market and voluntarily set a ceiling price of 3,700 rubles per tonne for potassium 

chloride supplied to Russian agricultural producers for the whole year 2009. Furthermore, in a move 

intended to aid the domestic agricultural sector, we set a temporary price of 3,955 rubles per tonne for 

Russian producers of complex fertilizers. These prices were a fraction of global prices for potash. 

Despite the adverse economic conditions, we remained committed to our responsibilities as 

a good corporate citizen. This included volunteering to compensate the local, regional and federal 

authorities for costs related to the 2006 accident at the Company’s Mine 1, a total of around 2.8 billion 

rubles. We also agreed to contribute to the development of a 53-kilometre railway bypassing the 

Verkhnekamskoye potash-magnesium salts deposit, as well as meeting the 5 billion ruble funding 

gap for the construction of the road. In total, we voluntarily paid around 7.8 billion rubles in costs 

associated with the accident. 

During this challenging year we were particularly conscious of the need to look after 

Uralkali’s main asset, our staff. In order to avoid redundancies, the Company had to suspend monthly 

bonuses. However, there was a salary increase for all Uralkali staff which took effect on 1 August 2009. 

Dmitry Rybolovlev
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors



We also paid bonuses to all our employees at year end, in recognition of their hard work, achievements 

and loyalty during the fi nancial crisis. 

Despite the adverse economic situation in 2009, we maintained our programme of developing 

the social infrastructure of our home city, Berezniki. The Company spent 400 million rubles 

supporting a range of social projects across the city. These included a new kindergarten, a medical 

centre, assistance to educational institutions, and a programme to tackle street crime. 

The year was the test of resilience for all those working at Uralkali and of management’s 

ability to make the right decisions. To meet our new goals, and adapt to the changing economic 

environment, we have made a number of changes to our management structure and the way we 

operate. This includes the appointment of Denis Morozov as President of Uralkali at the end of 

2009. Denis has extensive mining industry management expertise. He has successfully led several 

major projects, both domestic and international. As Uralkali’s President and CEO Mr. Morozov will 

supervise all the company’s key business areas. With him on board we plan to achieve the highest 

international standards of corporate governance.

Effective 1 July 2010, Mr. Morozov will be appointed Uralkali’s Director General, while 

maintaining the posts of President and Chief Executive Offi cer. Uralkali’s current Director General, 

Vladislav Baumgertner, will resign effective 30 June 2010. 

During his time at Uralkali, Mr. Baumgertner has successfully delivered major strategic 

goals for the company including the successful listing of the company’s shares on the London 

Stock Exchange in 2007. On behalf of Uralkali’s Board of Directors I would like to thank him for 

contributing to the company’s development and wish him well for the future.

The changes we are implementing at Uralkali aim to deliver greater value to shareholders 

and to make the Company even more attractive to international investors. Our strategic goals include 

expanding production capacity and modernizing existing facilities. With those goals achieved, we 

will be able to respond more effectively to new demand as the global potash market recovers, thereby 

safeguarding our Company’s future.
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CEO’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

I was offered the job of President of Uralkali towards the end of 2009. At that time I already 

had experience in the Russian mining sector so the opportunity to get involved with the leading 

Russian producer of mineral fertilizer appealed to me professionally. In my view the potash industry 

is unique and has enormous potential for further growth. Potash is an essential nutrient for people. 

So, the future of mankind will, to a signifi cant extent, depend on the companies that will be able to 

meet its needs.

Uralkali is one of the leaders in the potash industry and the fi rst Russian fertilizer company 

to list its shares abroad and win the acclaim of a broad range of investors. It is the confi dence shown 

in the company by  investors that has helped Uralkali achieve the highest market capitalization of 

the Russian mineral fertilizer producers.

Ultimately, my top priority in this job is serving the interests of all shareholders – whether 

large or small – and, to that end, continuing to strengthen the corporate management structure 

and practices at the company as much as possible. My guiding principle at Uralkali will be ensuring 

transparency in the company’s dealings with all its stakeholders. It is only strict adherence to that 

principle that can ensure the steady growth of shareholder value and the sustainable development 

of Uralkali as a Russian company with a truly global perspective.  

Denis Morozov
President & CEO



Uralkali has ambitious growth plans and I am determined to apply all my previous 

experience to help Uralkali successfully achieve its strategic goals. Those goals include maintaining 

the company’s existing capacity and continuing to pursue the large-scale expansion programme, 

including the development of a new mine which will allow us to signifi cantly upgrade and enhance 

the current production base. 

I look forward to our cooperation and am confi dent we will be able to achieve excellent 

results. We need to consolidate what has already been accomplished and to scale new heights. 

I am grateful to Uralkali’s Board of Directors for their confi dence in me. I also want to thank 

all of you for your decision to invest in Uralkali’s business.
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Director General's 
Statement

Dear Shareholders,

2009 was a testing year for the global economy, and the potash industry was no exception. 

We had to withstand pressure from a deteriorating market throughout the period. The decline in 

demand and falling potash prices in world markets forced Uralkali to operate at a reduced capacity 

utilization rate last year. Uralkali’s annual potash production capacity is 5.5 million tonnes, but 2009 

production was less than half of that at slightly over 2.6 million tonnes.

The fi rst half of the year was particularly challenging. The situation improved slightly in the 

second half, after an important contract to supply potassium chloride to India was signed in the 

middle of the year. Potash demand began to recover towards the end of the year, and in November 

2009 Uralkali’s potash production was 45% higher than in November 2008. The long-term contract 

with China, signed in December, raised production to a level 54% higher than in December 2008.

We were able to turn the unusual market situation to our advantage, taking the opportunity 

to launch a full-scale upgrade of existing production facilities. We also commenced installation of 

the second processing line at Uralkali’s Production Unit 4 (BKPRU-4), part of the expansion plan to 

increase capacity to 7 million tonnes in 2012. This was not the only project carried out at Mine 4. Other 

achievements include the assembly of new power units, the continued replacement and addition 

of new bulk conveyers, and the design of associated gas pipeline. In total, more than 3.9 billion 

rubles was invested in modernizing Mine 4 during 2009. We also invested over 400 million rubles 

in the development of the second shaft at Mine 2, where the lifting machine was replaced. Work on 

expanding capacity is continuing through 2010.

In addition, we enlarged our storage facilities in Berezniki from 160,000 to 300,000 tonnes 

of potash. The additional storage comprises three infl atable warehouses, each holding 45,000 to 

50,000 tonnes.

We have revised our investment programme timetable in response to market 

conditions, postponing the launch of new production capacity from 2011 to 2012. 

Vladislav Baumgertner
Director General & COO



The proposed expansion, which would enable us to produce 7 million tonnes of potassium chloride, 

would be the most cost-effective in the industry, requiring investment of just US$400 per tonne of 

additional capacity, net of infrastructure costs. In our expansion plans, we are always mindful of the 

need to invest into the maintenance of existing production facilities. As a result, we have increased 

production investment in 2010-2012 to an average of some 12.5 billion rubles annually.

The fi gures outlined so far do not include investment in the Company’s major greenfi eld 

project, the development of the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld. The decision to build a new mine was taken in 

2009, and production there is expected to start in 2015. By 2018 the mine should already have reached 

full capacity, producing between 8 and 11 million tonnes of ore per annum.  

Uralkali operated at only 48% of its production capacity in 2009. Despite this, the Company’s 

fi nancial position has held up well, with total sales in excess of US$1 billion. This was achieved because 

the average price for potassium chloride in 2009 was US$405 per tonne, surpassing the average for 

previous years, and second only to 2008 prices. The EBITDA margin achieved by the Company in 

2009 was 56%, higher than in 2007 and 2006. 

Uralkali remains one of the most cost-effi cient producers, with cost per tonne of US$80 net 

of depreciation.

In 2009 we allocated 14.1 billion rubles to our investment programme, of which the majority 

was spent on the project to improve infrastructure and expand capacity from 5.5 to 7.0 million tonnes 

in 2012. This number also includes 6.6 billion rubles spent on maintaining existing production. 

In spite of the challenges of 2009, we look forward to the future with confi dence. Uralkali 

has turned adverse market conditions to its advantage and laid solid foundations for future growth. 

We regard the potash industry as unique in its exceptionally strong future prospects. We believe 

the market is certain to improve and see ourselves as well positioned to respond to the anticipated 

growth in demand. 
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Uralkali Key Figures

Key Financial Indicators I 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Revenues 27,976 22,290 29,499 62,798 33,809

Net Sales II 20,489 16,673 22,673 54,355 29,314

Cost of Sales (COGS) (5,497) (6,307) (7,108) (9,410) (8,878)

COGS to Net Sales % 27% 38% 31% 17% 30%

Gross Profi t 22,479 15,983 22,391 53,388 24,931

Distribution Cost (8,544) (6,691) (7,957) (9,840) (6,075)

General and Administrative Expenses (1,286) (2,058) (3,473) (3,204) (3,838)

EBITDAIII 13,585 8,558 12,098 41,349 16,375

EBITDA Margin IV 66% 51% 53% 76% 56%

Net Income 9,429 3,494 8,045 21,943 9,095

Net Income Margin V 46% 21% 35% 40% 31%

CAPEX 5,728 5,198 6,316 14,341 14,105

Debt (bank loans) 3,484 11,088 10,600 13,987 13,463

Equity 17,979 17,650 25,074 34,620 43,716

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,076 2,892 7,291 16,174 4,297

(RUR mln)

Notes

I. All fi nancial indicators are based on IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements and are given in million RUR unless otherwise 
stated.

II. Net Sales is calculated as sales net of freight, railway tariff and transshipment costs.

III. Throughout the report EBITDA means adjusted EBITDA – calculated as Operating Profi t plus depreciation and 
amortization and does not include mine fl ooding costs.

IV. EBITDA Margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by Net Sales.

V. Net Income Margin is calculated as Net Income divided by Net Sales.
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Sales Volume 5,338 4,343 5,060 4,668 2,497

Export 4,871 3,905 4,575 4,141 1,895

Domestic 467 438 485 527 602

Production Volume 5,379 4,165 5,119 4,793 2,621
(ths. tonnes)

 
Mln tonnes K2O, %

K2O, mln 
tonnes

All Mines

Measured 1,370.2 21.3 292.0

Indicated 2,088.8 20.8 435.0

Inferred 310.3 26.8 83.3

Total Measured + Indicated 3,459.0 21.0 727.0

Key Operation Indicators

SRK audited mineral resource statement as 
of 1 January 2010

Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

(Dec. 2009 – Dec. 2008) 8.8% II

Consumer Price Index for food 

(CPI) (Dec. 2009 – Dec. 2008) 4.9%

Producer Price Index (PPI) 

(Dec. 2009 – Dec. 2008) (1.0%) III

RUR/US$ (average for 2009) 31.8 IV

RUR/US$ (average as 

of the end of 2009) 30.2 V

Macro Economic Figures 
for 2009 I

Notes

I. Federal State Statistics Service statistical review on socio-economic situation in the Russian Federation for 2009.

II. Includes food and non-food merchandize, as well as services, in the Russian Federation. 

III. For the Mining Industry (excludes minerals for fuel/power sector). 

IV. Average Exchange Rate of Central Bank of the Russian Federation for the period from 31 January to 31 December 2009. 

V. Offi cial Exchange Rate set by Central Bank of the Russian Federation as of 31 December 2009. 
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Operating Statistics
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Group Overview

•  Founded in 1930 as a state-owned entity. 
Incorporated as a private company in 1992

•  World leader in the production of potash 
fertilizer with a global market share of 
around 8.5% in 2009

•  Key markets: Brazil, India, China,   South-
East Asia, Russia, US and Europe

•  Production facilities located in Berezniki, 
Perm Territory, in the Verkhnekamskoye 
potash-magnesium salts fi eld – the world’s 
second largest deposit

•  Offi ces in Moscow, Perm and Minsk

•  Ordinary shares and global depository 
receipts of the Company are traded on the 
RTS, MICEX, and LSE stock exchanges

•  Exports channeled through Belarusian 
Potash Company (BPC) – the world’s leading 
potash exporter

Key Highlights

~8.5% 
[15]  of world 

potash production 
in 2009 

~56% EBITDA 
margin in 2009 

34 billion rubles 
revenue in 2009

12
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2

5

3

1

1.  Production Unit (BKPRU-1)
•  potash producing plant 

(standard MOP)
•  carnallite producing plant

2.  Production Unit (BKPRU-2)
•  potash producing plant 

(standard and granular 
MOP)

•  potash mine, ore resources: 
318 million tonnes I 

3.  Production Unit (BKPRU-3)
•  potash producing plant 

(standard and granular 
MOP)

4.  Production Unit (BKPRU-4)
•  potash producing plant 

(standard MOP)
•  potash mine, ore resources: 

1,851 million tonnes I

5.  Licence to develop 
Ust-Yaivinsky Field (Mine 5)

•  ore resources: 
1,291 million tonnes I 

Uralkali – Vertically Integrated Company

Group Structure

5.5 million tonnes 
КCL in 2009

Production capacities:
7 million 
tonnes KCL 
in 2012

New mine in 
2018

Note

I. JORC as of 1 January 2010.

BBT shipping terminal 
with capacity of
6.2 million tonnes

Storage 
capacity
540,000 tonnes 

Over 4,600
specialized 
railcars

•  Company-owned 
railcars

•  Warehouses in Berezniki and the port 
of St. Petersburg

•  Baltic Bulk Terminal (BBT) – a modern 
shipping terminal, built in 2004 in 
St. Petersburg, providing the shortest 
transportation route from mines to port

Production Logistics

mine

plant

•  2 potash mines

•  5 processing plants:
- 4 potash producing plants 
(standard and granular MOP)
- 1 carnallite producing plant

•  Licence to develop the 
Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld of the 
Verkhnekamskoye deposit

1413
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BPC ~30% 
[5] of the 

world market of potash 
fertilizer in 2009 

BPC – the market Leader in 
Latin America, India and 
China in 2009

Note

I. % of total sales volume, 3% – other regions of export.

• Exports through Belarusian Potash Company (BPC) – world leader in exports of potash fertilizer

• Direct domestic sales through Uralkali

Sales

10%

 17% I 24%

5%

 8%

21%

12%

China

SEA

Brazil Russia

Europe
USA 

India
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Group Description

 Key Assets
Uralkali has a vertically integrated structure, controlling the whole value 

chain from ore reserves to end markets. 

The Company’s assets include:

•   Two potash mines 

•   Five plants, of which four produce potash and one enriched 

carnallite 

•   License to develop the new Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld at Verkhnekamskoye 

deposit

•   100% interest in the Baltic Bulk Terminal (BBT)

•   50% interest in Belarusian Potash Company (BPC), a world leader 

in potash fertilizer export sales which accounts for almost 30%[5] of 

global potash exports 

•   100% interest in Uralkali Trading that provides a channel for part of 

Uralkali’s export shipments 

•   4,600 company-owned railcars

•   Storage facilities in Berezniki and St. Petersburg to hold 540,000 

tonnes of fertilizer

Production
The Company produces two main types of potash fertilizer: standard 

and granular. 

Uralkali production facilities are located in the Urals, in the city of 

Berezniki, Perm Territory.

The Company is developing the Durymansky and Bygelsk-Troitsky 

fi elds of the Verkhnekamskoye potash-magnesium salts deposit, operating 

two mines and fi ve plants (see p. 13) with a total capacity of 5.5 million tonnes. 

Uralkali plans to increase production capacity to 7 million tonnes in 2012.

Uralkali owns a license to develop the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld, where a new 

mine is scheduled to come on stream in 2018 (see also Operations Review, 

p. 46).

Berezniki is a major 
industrial centre and the second 
largest city in Perm territory. The 
population is some 170,000[16], of 
whom over 12,000 are employed by 
Uralkali and its affi liates. Thus, 
every fourthI person in the city 
is connected either directly or 
indirectly with Uralkali. Uralkali 
accounts for over 40%[18] of the 
city’s overall industrial output.

Note

I. Inclusive of family members.
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Baltic Bulk Terminal
Uralkali owns 100% of BBT, a modern, highly automated shipping ter-

minal built at the St. Petersburg seaport in 2004. It is a special facility dedicated 

to the shipment of mineral fertilizer, providing the shortest transportation 

route from the mines to the port. The terminal handled 3.6 million tonnes of 

fertilizer in 2009, of which 1.7 million tonnes was from Uralkali. The rest was 

nitrogen-phosphorus fertilizers from Russian producers. The peak shipment 

capacity for BBT is 6.2 million tonnes. The current excess handling capacity 

at the terminal will absorb Uralkali’s planned increase in production.

Rail
Uralkali owns over 4,600 railcars, one the largest fl eets in Russia. Rail 

shipment is a vital part of Uralkali’s operations, as Uralkali product is trans-

ported to BBT by rail. It also provides a signifi cant competitive advantage for 

shipments to North China, a major consumer of potash fertilizer. Together 

with local producers, only Russian suppliers have access to this market.

Warehousing
Smooth product delivery requires adequate storage facilities, and 

Uralkali is well-equipped in this respect as well. In addition to storage at BBT, 

which can house up to 240,000 tonnes of product, Uralkali owns facilities in 

Berezniki, which have enough capacity for 300,000 tonnes. The facilities are 

divided into sections, each holding a different type of product. Warehouses 

are connected by rail to a weatherproof conveyer system. Storage space was 

further expanded in 2009 by the installation of three infl atable structures, 

each holding 45,000 to 50,000 tonnes of stored bulk. 

Pricing and sales
Uralkali owns a 50% interest in BPC. Other shareholders are: 

Belaruskali (45%) and Belarusian Railway (5%). BPC is a world leader in 

potash fertilizer export sales, with market share of around 30%[5]. BPC has 

sales offi ces in six countries and ships Uralkali and Belaruskali products to 

over 60 countries across the world. BPC is an invaluable link in Uralkali’s 

production and supply chain. It helps achieve higher sales effi ciency and 

better trade terms with clients in the biggest markets, including India and 

China (see also Potash Market Overview, p. 24).
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Calendar of Major Events

February 4
New investigation report
Russia’s mining safety watchdog, 

Rostekhnadzor, provided a report setting out 

the results of the additional investigation into 

the causes of the Uralkali Mine 1 fl ooding 

accident in October 2006. According to the 

report, “the commission concluded that the 

accident was caused by the combination of 

factors of a geological and technological 

nature” (for further information see 10 

March 2009, 23 April 2009, and 23 December 

2009, 12 March 2010).

March 4
New prices for the Brazilian market
BPC set new prices for granular KCL for 

the Brazilian market. The new prices set in 

March/May 2009 were US$750 per tonne for 

major importers and US$765 per tonne for 

small importers.

March 10
Participation in the construction of the 
Yaiva-Solikamsk railroad bypass and 
offsetting costs related to the Mine 1 
accident
Uralkali volunteered to commit 5 billion 

rubles to bridge the fi nancing gap for the 

construction of the 53-km Yaiva-Solikamsk 

railroad. The Company also confi rmed 

that it was prepared to offset the costs 

incurred by the municipal, regional and 

federal governments in relation to the 

Mine 1 accident. These costs, 2.767 billion 

rubles in total, included 1.819 billion rubles 

incurred by the federal government, 0.494 

billion rubles spent by the Perm regional 

government, and 0.454 billion rubles for 

Russian Railways to construct a 6 kilometer 

railroad bypass. Uralkali also announced 

its intention to cover the costs of 36 million 

rubles incurred by the Berezniki municipal 

government in relation to the accident.

Altogether, the voluntary funds committed 

by Uralkali to reimburse the costs related 

to the accident amounted to some 7.8 

billion rubles (for further information see 

4 February 2009, 23 April 2009, 23 December 

2009 and 12 March 2010).

April 23
Payment to the Perm Territory Regional 
Government
Uralkali paid 2.3 billion rubles under an 

agreement with the Government of the 

Perm Territory. Over 1.8 billion rubles went 

to reimburse subsidies from the federal 

budget, and around 494 million rubles 

was paid to offset the costs incurred in 

connection with the Mine 1 accident (for 

further information see 4 February 2009, 

10 March 2009, 23 December 2009 and 

12 March 2010).

May 13
Price level for Russian agricultural 
producers
Despite the increase in KCL production 

costs, largely the result of low utilization 

rates, the Company decided not to increase 

the ceiling prices for Russian farmers, 

which were kept at 3,700 rubles per tonne.

June 30
General Shareholder Meeting
At the Annual General Meeting 

shareholders approved the Annual Report 

and the Company’s fi nancial statements 

for 2008. Shareholders decided to pay 

14.5 million rubles to the Company’s 

independent directors for their work on 

board committees. It was agreed not to pay 

remuneration to other board members. 

The shareholders resolved not to allot 

20,967 million rubles in profi t remaining 

from 2008 after the payment of the interim 

dividends for the fi rst half of the year.

July 10
Staff changes
Anatoly Lebedev resigned as President 

and Vice-Chairman of Uralkali. The 

Board approved the appointment of 

Mikhail Antonov, Vice President, Strategic 

Development, as Acting President. Andrey 

Konogorov was elected Vice-Chairman.

July 13
Amendment of the license for 
the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld development
The Federal Agency for Subsoil Use 

(Rosnedra) endorsed a supplementary 

agreement to the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld 

licence held by the Company. The 

agreement extended the deadline till 

15 May 2011 for the preparation of the 

design documentation for the construction 

of the new mine and its approval by the 

relevant state authorities. The deadline for 

commissioning the project, 15 August 2018, 

remains unchanged. 

The supplementary agreement came 

after several months of discussions with 

Rosnedra, and a study by Uralkali of 

development options for the Ust-Yaivinsky 

fi eld. An optimal plan was chosen based on 

the study, which includes the construction 

of a new mine to produce 8 to 11 million 

tonnes of ore. The decision on whether to 

construct the new plants will depend on 

potash market conditions. 

July 24
India contract
BPC announced a contract signed with 

Indian Potash Ltd (IPL), India’s biggest 

importer of mineral fertilizer, to supply 

KCL in 2009-2010. The price set for the 

Indian market was US$460 per tonne. Total 

supplies under the contract, including 

optional quantities, are around 675,000 

tonnes.

October 30
Tax inspectorate decision
Uralkali was served with a decision by the 

Tax Inspectorate resulting from a tax audit 

for 2005-2006. The tax authority proposed 

that Uralkali pay an additional 613 million 

rubles in tax for 2005–2006, together with 

a penalty charge of 121 million rubles and 

penalty interest of 58 million rubles. The 

Company stated its intention to challenge 

this decision in accordance with applicable 

law (for further information see 20 January 

2010).

November 24
Adjustment of capacity increase schedule
Uralkali decided to amend the timetable for 

the realization of its investment programme 

and the launch of new production capacity. 

The increase in capacity to reach the 

target of 7 million tonnes of potash is now 

scheduled for 2012, when demand could rise 

enough to absorb the planned increase (for 

further information see 21 December 2009).

December 11
Price level for farmers
Uralkali set the ceiling price of 4,550 rubles 

per tonne of potash supplied directly to 

Russian farmers in the fi rst half of 2010. 

During this period the price may be revised 

to levels below 4,550 rubles.

December 21
New appointments
The Board appointed Denis Morozov as 

President of Uralkali with effect from 1 

February 2010. It was also decided that 

the President should assume full CEO 

responsibilities. Vladislav Baumgertner, 

General Director, will now become 

Chief Operating Offi cer in charge of the 

Company’s production activities.

In addition, the Board decided to appoint 

Victor Belyakov, Deputy General Director, 

Economics and Finance, as Chief Financial 

Offi cer (CFO) with effect from 1 January 

2010. His predecessor, Kuzma Marchuk, 

who had been in charge of the Company’s 

fi nancial management since 2004, resigned 

from that position to focus on his role as a 

member of the Board of Directors.

December 21
Investment programme for 2010-2012
The Board approved the investment 

programme for 2010-2012, which set the 

annual level of investment for that period 

at around 12.5 billion rubles (net of costs 

to develop the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld and 

investment in social projects). Of these 

funds, about 6.7 billion rubles will be used 

for capacity expansion, and nearly 5.8 billion 

rubles for capacity maintenance (for further 

information see 24 November 2009).

December 23
China contract
BPC announced a contract with major 

Chinese potash importers, Sinochem and 

CNAMPGC, to supply about 1.2 million 

tonnes of potassium chloride to China 

(including 200,000 tonnes of optional 

quantities) at US$350 CFR.

December 23
Payments in connection with the 
construction of the Yaiva-Solikamsk 
railroad and reimbursement of costs 
related to the Mine 1 accident
Uralkali paid 5.454 billion rubles to the 

federal government, thus fully complying 

with the commitment it made in March 

2009 to offset around 7.8 billion rubles in 

costs incurred by the government. Those 

payments were paid by the Company in line 

with its social responsibility commitment 

to cover the costs related to the Mine 1 

accident and to bridge the fi nancing gap for 

the construction a 53-km Yaiva-Solikamsk 

railroad, bypassing Verkhnekamskoye 

potash-magnesium salts deposit (for further 

information see 4 February 2009, 10 March 

2009, 23 April 2009 and 12 March 2010).

January 20, 2010 
Tax inspectorate demand for 2005-2006
Uralkali received a demand to pay 803 

million rubles in tax, fi nes and penalties 

for 2005-2006 from the Interdistrict 

Inspectorate No. 3 of the Federal Tax 

Service for Major Taxpayers.

Uralkali had already challenged the 

decision, but the appeal was rejected by a 

tax service decision of 25 December 2009. 

The Company’s position, that the claim is 

groundless, remains unchanged, and it 

intends to contest it again in accordance 

with applicable law (for further information 

see 30 October 2009).

March 11, 2010
Court order issued by the Geneva Court 
of Justice
Uralkali learned about a court order on 

provisional measures issued by the Court 

of Justice of the Republic and Canton 

of Geneva in relation to the divorce 

proceedings between Dmitry Rybolovlev 

and Elena Rybolovleva. The Order is 

directed against Dmitry Rybolovlev but 

seeks to apply to assets of Uralkali with the 

exception of everyday management and the 

Company’s ordinary commercial activities. 

Given these exceptions, Uralkali does not 

expect the court order to have any material 

impact on its business.

The court order will apply for the duration 

of the divorce proceedings unless 

overturned on appeal by the Swiss Federal 

Supreme Court. Uralkali is not a party to 

any relevant Swiss proceedings.

March 12, 2010
Additional funds allocated to fi nance 
construction of Yaiva-Solikamsk 
railroad bypass
Uralkali’s Board of Directors decided to 

allocate an additional 1 billion rubles to 

compensate Russian Railways for expenses 

associated with the construction of the 

53-km Yaiva-Solikamsk railroad bypass. The 

payment is voluntary and comes as part of 

Uralkali’s social responsibility efforts. The 

decision was made following discussions 

with Russian Railways (for further 

information see 4 February 2009, 10 March 

2009, 23 April 2009, 23 December 2009).

March 12, 2010
India contract
Belarusian Potash Company announced 

that it had signed a potash shipment 

contract with IPL, India’s largest importer 

of potash. Under the terms of the contract, 

BPC will provide IPL with some 900,000 

tonnes of potassium chloride at a price of 

US$370/tonne CFR over the period from 

April 2010 to March 2011.
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•  A natural compound residing 
in soil

•  There is no natural or 
man-made substitute for 
potash 

•  Enhances crops’ taste and 
nutritional qualities 

•  Boosts plants’ resistance to 
hostile weather conditions, 
droughts and disease

•  Plays an important part in plant root 
development 

•  Responsible for photosynthesis 

•  Responsible for protein formation in 
plants 

•  Responsible for growth and yield

Potash (K)

Nitrogen (N)

Phosphorus (P)

What is Potash?

Primary
nutrients

K PN

K

Potash Market – Growth, 
Visibility, Stability

Nitrogen, phosphorus and potash 
each play their role but only 
together do they ensure balanced 
nourishment and cannot replace 
each other.

Compensation 
of potash 

uptake

Yield

Ground water

Fixation in the soil



Strong Demand with the Up Trend

•  Balanced application of fertilizers implies an average ratio of 2:1:1 
for nitrogen:phosphorus:potash, while the current global average 
ratio is 2:0.7:0.5[15]. This shows enormous potential for the increased 
application of potash.

•  The planet's growing demand for energy, and political support 
for renewable energy in some countries, is driving the increased 
production of biofuels, with demand for biofuels growing 
each year. Biofuels are produced from crops that require large 
amounts of potash fertilizer, stimulating demand.

•  The continuing growth in the world’s population is leading to 
increased demand for food.

•  As the world becomes more prosperous, the quality of food consumed 
is improving. In particular, people are consuming more protein.

•  The growing demand for food in general and meat products in 

particular is driving demand for grains, resulting in the need for 
higher yields.

•  Per capita land resources (particularly croplands) are decreasing. 
There is an acute need for intensive agricultural technologies, 
primarily a balanced utilization of fertilizers, to be adopted in 
order to achieve higher yielding capacity.

Fertilizer DemandFood Demand 

Biofuel Demand

Crop Demand Crop Production

Fertilizer Demand for BiofuelsBiofuel Demand Biofuel Production
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More Arable Land

Fertilizer Demand for Food

Need for Higher Yields

Demand for biofuels is growing each year[2]

The development of cattle breeding requires 
more grain crops [11]

Demand for food is constantly increasing[14]

Production of grain crops is increasing annually [29] The total per capita area of arable lands is 
decreasing every year [14]

Developing countries are the biggest consumers 
of potash globally, and their share of total 
consumption is increasing [15]

The required crop yield is becoming higher each 
year [26]

Developing countries have extensive 
arable lands [29]

…however, they typically have lower crop 
capacity than developed countries [29]

The growing consumption of biofuels is driving 
increased crop production [21] 

Many national governments actively promote 
biofuel production [14], [25]
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The planet’s population is continuing to grow [14]

The world is becoming more prosperous 
each year [12]

Higher income leads to greater 
consumption of proteint [14], [22]

Biofuels account for a rapidly growing share of overall energy consumption [2]
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Visible Potash Supply and its Foreseeability

Canada
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Mineral Scarcity Means High Entry Barriers [13], [20], [9], [15], [30] 

Proven resources of potash are largely concentrated in Canada and Russia I I

Note

I. PotashCorp estimates.
II. Other countries, not represented on the map, account for less than 2.0% of total resources.

Potash (K)
Market size (2010E) 28.3 million tonnes[15] K2O (47 million tonnes KCl)

Geographic availability Very limited

Industry members Small number of leading players

Long-term pricing stability High

Profi tability High

Barriers to entry High

Cost of greenfi eld capacity US$2.8 bnI for 2 million tonnes of annual KCl production

Greenfi eld lead time min 7 years

23



2009 Potash Market Overview
The global economic and fi nancial crisis, which started in 2008, had 

a variety of adverse consequences on the economy in 2009. According to the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF), global GDP fell by 0.8% in 2009, although 
this fall was less marked in developing countries. China, India and South East 
Asia – all major importers of Uralkali’s products – saw GDP rises of 8.7%, 5.6% 
and 1.3%[22] respectively in 2009. 

It should be noted that the world economy is now showing signs of recov-
ery. The fourth quarter of 2009 showed global GDP 1.3%[22] higher than in the 
same period of 2008. The IMF expects global GDP growth of 3.9% in 2010.

Most commodity prices, including those for agricultural products, have 
remained extremely volatile over the last two years.

The world economic downturn has led to an increase in undernourish-
ment, with the United Nations’ Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) 
estimating that 1.02 billion people across the world are undernourished, the 
highest level since 1970.

The problem of undernourishment is particularly acute in low-income 
populations, where lower buying power results in lower per capita consumption 
of meat, milk, fruit and vegetables.

Rising infl ation also contributes to undernourishment. For example, 
food price infl ation in India reached 20%[2] towards the end of 2009, the high-
est level for 11 years. The increase in undernourishment is a global problem.

Price for crops [2]
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It can only be resolved by boosting food production, which requires higher yield 
levels. According to the International Plant Nutrition Institute (IPNI), fertilizer 
accounts for approximately 40% of crop yields.

In some regions, adverse weather conditions had a negative impact on 
agriculture in 2009. These included monsoons in India, drought in Argentina 
and the Black Sea basin, and high levels of rainfall during the spring and autumn 
sowing seasons in the US. In other agricultural regions weather remained within 
historical patterns.

In spite of government efforts to mitigate the situation, agricultural 
producers in a number of markets still experienced credit diffi culties.

Because of the prevailing economic uncertainty, in 2009 potash users 
preferred to run down inventories rather than make new purchases. Many pro-
ducers opted to decrease fertilizer consumption due to uncertain price outlook 
both for their products and the fertilizers themselves. As a result sales fell to 28.2 
million tonnes of potassium chloride, 44%[15] lower than in 2007 and the lowest 
level since 1995.

The decline in demand was particularly noticeable in regions with 
advanced agricultural practices where soils have accumulated higher levels of 
nutrients. In Western Europe and North America, potash fertilizer consumption 
was respectively 50% and 27% lower than in 2007[15], which was a year of relatively 

Increase in undernourishment [14]
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high fertilizer application. In January to December 2009 the price for potash 
fertilizer was forced down by a drop in demand from US$873 FOB Vancouver to 
US$460 FOB Vancouver[15] per tonne respectively.

The highest demand for potash in 2009 was recorded in Brazil and 
India, at 5.2 and 5.0 million tonnes of potassium chloride respectively[15]. As 
BPC is the leader in supplying those markets, relatively high demand refl ected 
positively on Uralkali sales there. A contract to supply 1.2 million tonnes of 
potash was signed between BPC and Chinese buyers, laying the foundation for 
market recovery in 2010.
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Potash end users traditionally view BPC as a reliable supplier trading at 
fair prices. As a result, BPC maintained its position as a leading supplier to these 
markets, a major achievement given the overall fall in demand.

The reduced application of potash to the soil has likely led to a depletion 
of potash levels in many regions. This could cause a rebound in demand as 
agricultural producers seek to rebuild potash stores to normal levels. It should 
be noted that a return to normal rates of fertilizer use in soils is supported by 
agricultural economics: fertilizer price cuts, along with the relative stability of 
prices for agricultural production, have made farming more cost-effi cient.

As a result, the farming sector has an incentive to raise yields and main-
tain soil fertility, and this could well lead to the recovery of the potash market 
in 2010.

US farmer net profi t per acre [4] 
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Soybean

Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 1.2% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 6.5% [7] 

Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) 6.1% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 4.7% [22]

Brazil

Agricultural producers’ earnings 2009[1]

Brazilian potash consumption, import and domestic production [15]
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Brazil’s position in the world’s 
agricultural industry in 2009 [29]

Brazilian potash consumption, 
breakdown by crop types [20]

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

China India

EuropeBrazil
USA

CornSugar cane Soybean

Other
crops

27%

Corn

19%

34%
20%

Soybean Sugar
crops

Agricultural credit policy by the Bank of Brazil [6], [17] 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

bn
 B

R
L

0

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2Q094Q07 1Q08 2Q08 3Q08 4Q08 1Q09

Agribusiness loans YoY, %

Potash: Consumption, Import 
and Domestic Production
The consumption of potash in Brazil fell 
by approximately 16%[15] in 2009 compared 
with 2008. According to Fertecon’s forecast, 
potash demand should rise by about 19% 
in 2010 due to global economic recovery 
and the need for the fertilization of potash-
defi cient soils.

Fertilizer Demand Upside
Sugar cane is the main source for ethanol 
industry in Brazil and its production is 
growing rapidly. This is likely to boost 
demand for fertilizers which are essential 
to high sugar cane yields.

Agricultural Lending
Potash consumption in Brazil should 
be stimulated as loans to agricultural 
producers become more affordable. In 
2009, the Bank of Brazil opened up access 
respectively to 30% of on-demand and 
70% of savings deposits as a means of 
providing loans to agricultural producers 
on favorable terms[6], [17]. Agricultural trade 
bodies also decided to improve access to 
loans. 

Main Types of Agricultural 
Crops
Brazil is a global-scale producer of sugar 
cane, soybeans and corn, all of which are 
actively consuming potash.

Agricultural Crop Production 
in 2009
Soil in the region is typically low in potash. 
Hence, given the need for soil fertilization 
in order to raise agricultural yields, potash 
fertilizer consumption is expected to 
rebound in 2010. 

Note

I. Details refer to 50% of Brazil that such data is available for.

Agricultural Producers’ Income
In 2009, agricultural producers’ incomes 
remained adequate despite the global 
economic downturn. Against the backdrop of 
economic recovery, agricultural producers are 
likely to be better motivated to invest in soil 
fertilization in order to drive up yields.
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The distinguishing characteristics of 
Brazil’s climate are frequent rainfall 
and abundant sunlight. Brazil is also 
home to approximately 13%[24] of the 
world’s surface water resources. These 
factors make the region ideally suited 
to agriculture.

Potash levels of Brazilian soils I, [23]
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India Sugar cane

Potash levels for Indian soils [23]

Potash: Consumption and Import
A key feature of the Indian market is the 
absence of domestic potash production.
In 2009, India remained a most active 
market for consumption of muriate of potash 
(MOP). Despite a marked fall in consumption 
compared with 2008, caused by the delayed 
signing of the import contracts combined 
with the unfavorable weather conditions, 
both imports and consumption of MOP were 
higher than in 2007.
MOP consumption growth might approach 
7%[15] in 2010 owing to both the economic 
recovery and the government policy of 
supporting and promoting agriculture. 

Government Subsidies
Substantial agricultural subsidies were 
allocated by the Indian government in 
2009 in order to foster consumption of 
fertilizers by the agricultural industry. This 
enabled farmers to maintain high levels 
of fertilizer use even during the fi nancial 
crisis.

GDP per Capita Growth and 
Improved Nourishment
With living standards improving, 
consumption of higher quality and more 
nutritional agricultural products started to 
rise, this being positively correlated to the 
increasing consumption of potash. 
According to the USDA 70 cents of each 
additional dollar spent in India goes on 
buying food Indian infl ation hit the record-
breaking high in 2009, nearing 20%[2].

Mineral fertilizer consumption 
in India [10], [17], I

Mineral Fertilizer 
Consumption 
Despite the increase in potash 
consumption in India over the last two 
years, the level of potash use has still been 
below scientifi cally recommended potash 
fertilization levels (2:1:1 NPK). In order 
to achieve balanced potash fertilization 
levels, potash consumption has to increase 
110% [15], [23] from 2009 consumption 
levels. This provides a scientifi c basis 
for expecting long-term potash demand 
growth in India. 

Agricultural Crop Production
 In 2009, production of many agricultural 
crops in India was restricted by unfavourable 
weather conditions and a cutback in 
fertilization levels. Research by IPNI has 
shown that agricultural producers’ annual 
rice crop shortfall could be as high as 37%III if 
no potash is applied. This is proof that yields 
will drop signifi cantly if muriate of potash 
fertilization is not applied for a considerable 
length of time.

India’s position in the world’s 
agricultural industry in 2009 [29]

Potential potash consumption 
in India [15], [23], II

Potash consumption and import in India  [15]

Fertilizer subsidy policy in India [10], [17]

Percentage of each additional dollar 
spent on food, 2009 [29]

GDP per capita and meat consumption 
growth in India [2], [29]

Indian potash consumption 
breakdown by crop types [20]

Production of main types of agricultural crops in India [29] 

The proportion of the Indian 
population defi ned as the 
middle class continues to grow 
steadily and is forecasted to reach 
approximately 520 million[3] 
people or 37%[3], [29] of the total 
population by 2025. In 2009, about 
52%[19] of the working population 
was employed by the agricultural 
industry.
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Main Types of Agricultural 
Crops 
India is the world’s second largest 
producer of rice, rapeseed, sugar cane, 
wheat and cotton. All these crops need a 
lot of potash and their growth is highly 
dependent on balanced fertilizing. 
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Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 1.4% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 15.8% [7] 

Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) 4.8% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 7.7% [22]
72% 

28%

low 
and medium

high

Notes

I.  Estimates based on Kharif crop only.

II.  Based on 2:1:1 N:P:K ratio.

III. Data based on long-term average yield, compared to the yield when optimum NPK is 
applied to the soil.
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China Rice

Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 0.6% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 10.9% [7]

Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) 6.4% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 10.0% [22]

Potash: Consumption, Import 
and Domestic Production
2009 saw a cutback in China’s fertilization 
levels. Given growing domestic production 
and high levels of MOP stocks, the MOP 
contract with China was not signed until late 
December 2009. Therefore, import volumes 
were greatly below historical levels.
Potash fertilizer consumption is expected to 
grow by about 9% [15] in 2010, because reduced 
reserves of potash in the soil need to be 
replenished.

Agricultural Producers’ Income
The Chinese government is implementing 
reforms to reduce the income gap between the 
urban and the rural population. 
Therefore, the domestic consumption of 
agricultural products has increased, driving 
the requirement for additional yields. Also, 
the yield level is, for the time being, below that 
of developed countries. This gap could only 
be closed by regular and balanced fertilizing, 
particularly with potash. Meanwhile, the level 
of potash fertilization is currently four times 
below scientifi cally recommended levels. 

Agricultural Land Supplies
Agricultural lands in China are being 
eaten away by soil erosion and productivity 
has been reduced by the deterioration of 
soil quality. In order to counterbalance this 
fertilizers have to be used more intensely in 
agricultural crop production.

Water Supplies Scarcity
Water supply scarcity is also a factor driving 
potash consumption growth in China, 
since potash fertilization increases crop 
drought resistance.

Agricultural Crop Production
2009 saw a decline in yields of certain 
crops, alongside growth in rice and 
wheat production. Lower yield levels were 
primarily caused by reduced application 
of fertilizer to China’s depleted soil.
According to IPNI data, the shortfall in the 
fi rst and second rice crops in southeastern 
and southwestern China could average  
12-20% and 40% respectively if farmers do 
not apply fertilizer.

Main Agricultural Crops 
Grown in the Region
China is a global producer of fruits and 
vegetables, accounting for approximately 
one third of world market. 
Fruits and vegetables, consuming a large 
volume of potash, are responsible for 
roughly half of China’s domestic potash 
consumption.

Renewable water supplies, 2009 [14]
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Oil Palm

Potash: Consumption 
and Import
2009 saw a signifi cant reduction in 
Southeast Asian potash consumption 
compared with 2008 and 2007. Also, 
destocking was underway because, as of 
early 2009, distributors had extensive 
stock purchased at high 2008 prices. 
According to Fertecon’s forecast, potash 
fertilizer demand is expected to increase 
by about 27% in 2010.

Main Agricultural Crop Grown 
in the Region: Oil Palm
Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand together 
account for approximately 90%[29] of 
the world’s total palm oil production. 
A signifi cant proportion of the muriate of 
potash (MOP) imported into the region is 
used in the cultivation of oil palm.
Palm oil production margins remain high, 
making Southeast Asia, which is seeing 
growing potash demand, a potentially 
profi table market. According to Fertecon’s 
forecast, Southeast Asia’s share of world 
MOP consumption is expected to be as 
high as 9% by 2020.

Palm Oil Demand
Given the expected economic recovery in 
2010 and robust development prospects 
for the biofuel market, palm oil demand 
is likely to be driven to higher levels. 
Moreover, USDA estimates that the stock-
to-use ratio will remain very low in 2010, 
encouraging farmers to increase oil palm 
yields, thus triggering more intense use of 
fertilizers, particularly MOP.

USDA estimates that palm oil production 
will increase by about 6% in 2009/10 
compared with the 4% seen in 2008/09.

The agriculture sector forms the basis of 
the region’s economy and the main source 
of employment. More than 50% of the 
economically active population is involved 
in agriculture.

Production of main types of agricultural crops in Indonesia [29]

Potash fertilizer consumption and agricultural crop 
production in Malaysia [15], [29]

Potash consumption, import and domestic production in Southeast Asia [15]

Palm oil production, 2009 [29] SEA potash consumption 
breakdown by crop types [20]

Southeast Asia
Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 1.3% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009  
Indonesia 14.4% [7]

Malaysia 10.1% [7]

Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) 4.2% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E I 4.7% [22]
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Russia Wheat

The Russian government encourages the 
development of the national agricultural 
industry, supporting the enhancement 
of infrastructure, promoting increases 
in the number of railway cars and silos, 
and facilitating the construction of new 
port terminals. Uralkali also supports the 
Russian agricultural industry by setting 
special prices for Russian agricultural 
crop producers, which are signifi cantly 
lower than world MOP prices.
According to Fertecon the average potash 
consumption growth rate in Russia is 
expected to be approximately 7% for the 
period 2009-2020.

Russia’s agricultural crop production 
focuses on the cultivation of cereals, corn, 
sugar beet and vegetables and their yield 
depend on potash. 
When cultivating these crops, farmers need 
to apply fertilizer more intensively in order 
to preserve soil fertility and to achieve good 
levels of profi tability.

Agricultural cooperatives are the most 
effi cient organizational model in Russian 
agriculture. They are also in a position to 
apply scientifi cally recommended levels of 
fertilizer. In recent years, the number of 
cooperatives has grown appreciably, and 
they now account for almost 50%[23] of all 
farms in Russia.

Russia’s levels of grain production and 
export are increasing steadily. This will 
be another driver of regular and more 
balanced soil fertilization.

Agricultural production breakdown by farm/unit type [23]

Grain production and export trends [23]

Fertilizer use on agricultural crops and total potash consumption in Russia [15], [23]

Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) –0.4% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 5.2% [7] 
Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) –4.5% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 3.6% [22]

Russia’s agricultural industry is becoming 
more profi table, with the proportion 
of profi table farms having increased by 
approximately 16% since 2005 [23].

Profi table and low-profi t farms/units [23]
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USA Corn

Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 1.0% [29]

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 1.2% [7] 
Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) 0.8% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 2.7% [22]

Potash: Consumption, Import 
and Domestic Production 
Over 2008 and 2009, muriate of potash 
(MOP) consumption shrank compared 
with historical levels. With destocking 
underway in the US market in 2009, 
MOP imports into the region decreased 
considerably. 
Based on Fertecon, potash consumption 
growth will be approximately 26% in 2010.

Potash consumption, import and domestic production in the USA [15]
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Potash Fertilizer Stock Status
Potash stocks were at their historically 
highest level for the period from early 2009 
to November – at which time stocks began 
to decrease and dropped to a fi ve-year 
average. This shows the market is set for a 
recovery in potash fertilizer demand. 

North American Producers’ Potash Fertilizer Stock [23], [27], [5]
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Agricultural Crop Producers’ 
Income 
In spite of the global recession, US farmers 
cultivating soybeans and corn achieved 
high margins. It is expected that income 
for soybean and corn producers will grow 
in 2010, encouraging farmers to resume 
balanced fertilization of soils.

Farmers’ revenue [4]
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The main agricultural crop 
grown in the region is corn
Corn is a potash-dependent crop and 
is widely cultivated in the USA. The 
US accounts for 42%[29] of world corn 
production. 

World corn production in 2009 [29] US potash consumption breakdown by 
crop types [20]
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Agricultural Crop Production
High yield levels achieved in many types of 
crops in 2008 and 2009 in the US triggered 
a signifi cant depletion of nutrients from 
soils in the region. US agriculture is 
remarkable for its advanced methods of 
cultivation and the use of technology – and 
balanced fertilization is a critical element 
of this. 
In the coming season, good yield levels 
are expected for all crops with the highest 
levels anticipated in corn production. This 
will also provide impetus for returning to 
previous levels of potash fertilization and 
will trigger a boost in the potash demand.

Main types of agricultural crops produced in the USA [29]
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Cereals
Population, CAGR (1990-2030E) 0.1% [29] 

Agriculture as a proportion of GDP, 2009 2.1% [7]

Total potash consumption, CAGR (1990-2020E) –1.2% [15]

GDP growth, 2010E 1.0% [22]

Potash: Consumption, Import 
and Domestic Production 
In 2009, muriate of potash consumption 
decreased dramatically compared with 
historical levels.
According to Fertecon’s estimates, potash 
consumption in the region is expected to 
grow by approximately 28% in 2010 due 
to the anticipated economic recovery and 
the need to maintain natural levels of soil 
fertility.

Potash Fertilizer Use in Europe
Unlike their counterparts in many other 
regions, European agricultural producers 
have historically been distinguished by 
advanced methods of cultivation and a 
scientifi cally-based fertilization approach, 
resulting in balanced soil fertilization. In 
order to grow high quality crops about 52%[28] 

of agricultural producers maintained potash 
use for soil fertilization at the previous 
levels. This approach, combined with the 
anticipated global economic recovery, means 
that 2010 is expected to see stronger potash 
fertilizer demand than in 2009.

Potash consumption, import and domestic production in Europe [15]
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Agricultural Crop Prices
Due to the low prices for the main 
agricultural crops experienced in 2009, 
approximately 72%[28] of European 
agricultural crop producers decided to 
cut costs rather than boost yields, thereby 
reducing demand for potash. 

European agricultural producer survey 2009 [28]
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Main Types of Agricultural 
Crops Grown in the Region 
Among developed countries, Europe is the 
biggest producer of wheat, which is highly 
potash-dependent. 
Other crops widely cultivated in Europe 
include corn and fruits and vegetables, all 
of which require substantial soil potash 
levels. 
Growth in potash consumption in the 
region is thus strongly supported by 
fundamentals.

World wheat production in 2009 [29] Europe potash consumption breakdown 
by crop types [20]
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Agricultural Crop Production 
In conjunction with other factors, the 
downturn in the potash application 
triggered a decrease in the production 
of wheat and other cereal crops. 
The level of fertilization must be raised – 
not only to offset the depletion of soil 
nutrients but also to achieve high yields 
in 2010.

Main types of agricultural crops produced in Europe [29]
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Sales Review

Export Sales
Uralkali’s sales strategy is based on striking the right balance between spot and 
long-term contract sales. Spot prices are set based on the current market situ-
ation, whereas long-term contracts set prices for an extended period, taking 
long-term trends into consideration. The major markets for Uralkali where 
long-term contracts are used are India and China (sea shipments). The spot to 
long-term contractI split in export sales was 73% to 27% respectively in 2009.

Maintaining a balance between spot and long-term sales allows the 
Company to be fl exible and to respond to changes in the market quickly. This 
strategy has been proven over time and Uralkali intends to continue following 
it in the future. 

Historically exports account for the majority of the Company’s output. 
Its key markets are: Brazil, India, China, Southeast Asia, Russia, the US and 
Europe. Those are countries with high growth rates both in population and 
income, which drive demand for potash fertilizer (see also Potash Market 
Overview 2009 on p. 24). 

In 2009, the share of Uralkali’s deliveries on domestic market was higher 
than previous years due to the fall in global potash demand. Some 24% of the 
total Company’s sales were in Russia.

•  BRIC and SEA countries account for some 60%[15] of world 
potash fertilizer consumption and have higher than industry 
average rates of growth in demand 

•  Uralkali deliveries to the BRIC and SEA markets accounted 
for 75% of the Company’s sales in 2009

•  The Company has maintained its leading position in the 
Latin American, Indian and Chinese markets selling through 
BPC

•  The Company has a positive view of the Russian potash 
market’s growth potential

Note

I.  For thе purposes of this report: Contract – China (sea shipments), India. Spot – other regions of export.
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Domestic Sales
The domestic share of Uralkali’s sales rose sharply in 2009 as a result of a decline 
in demand in its major overseas markets. Historically, the main consumers of the 
Company’s products in the Russian market have been agricultural operators and 
producers of complex types of fertilizer, which is why Uralkali implemented some 
anti-crisis measures in 2009 to assist the Russian farming sector.

In line with government policies to support the agricultural sector, 
Uralkali decided to set the price for Russian complex fertilizer producers 
(PhosAgro and EuroChem) at 3,955 rubles per tonne for the fi rst six months of 
2009, which corresponded to the expected level of full KCl production costs for 
the sector. During the fi rst half of 2009, Uralkali supplied some 220,000 tonnes 
of potash to Russian complex fertilizer producers at this discounted price. This 
involved setting potash prices for Russian farmers and complex fertilizer produc-
ers at well below global levels. 

Uralkali proposed a price increase to 4,750 rubles per tonne from 1 July, 
mainly because production was running below capacity. However, given the 
continued diffi culties in the Russian farming sector and the recommendations 
of Russia’s Ministry of Industry and Trade, the discounted price level was subse-
quently maintained until the end of the year. Therefore, the Company additionally 
shipped around 265,000 tonnes of potash to complex fertilizer producers at 3,955 
rubles per tonne.

The ceiling price for potassium chloride sold directly to Russian farmers 
remained at the level of 3,700 rubles per tonne throughout 2009. Over 30,000 
tonnes of potash was supplied at that price to the domestic market. 

Another traditional group of customers are companies in the oil, chemi-
cal and atomic industries, who use potash in their specialist technologies. Sales 
to these clients reached some 53,000 tonnes in 2009. In setting prices for these 
customers, Uralkali used the formula set out in the agreement signed with the 
Russian Anti-Monopoly Service (FAS) in 2008. The formula is based on the average 
weighted export price in the lowest-priced market, excluding transport costs. 

In negotiating long-term contracts with its customers, Uralkali adheres 
to the provisions of anti-monopoly law and the agreement signed with the FAS 
in 2008.

Russian Deliveries in 2009 
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NPK fertilizer
producers
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Operations Review

2009 Production
In 2009 Uralkali ran two mines and fi ve plants, including one process-

ing carnallite. Production capacity in 2009 was 5.5 million tonnes of potassium 
chloride, although only 48% was used due to the decline in world fertilizer 
demand. As a result, the Company’s total output for the year was just over 2.6 
million tonnes.

Uralkali took advantage of this situation to upgrade its key assets. Before 
2009, the Company was operating at full capacity, which limited the possibility 
for a full overhaul of existing production facilities. The Company began an 
expansion programme at its Mine 4 in order to reach annual production capac-
ity of 7 million tonnes of potash in 2012. 

The cost of modernizing Production Unit 4 in 2009 was in excess of 4.6 
billion rubles. This included starting the replacement of additional main line 
conveyers and constructing a new production line for the plant. The Company 
also completed the installation of new power units and a pipe system for extract-
ing gas from the mines. Skip hoists will also be replaced at the mine in order to 
increase lifting capacity for each unit from 25 to 30 tonnes in 2010. 

Uralkali completed upgrading the second shaft at its Mine 2 in 2009. 
The skip hoist was also replaced. The Company spent over 400 million rubles 
improving lifting capacity at Mine 2. The reconstruction of the fi rst shaft at the 
mine, including the replacement of the skip hoist, is scheduled for 2010. The skip 
hoists were ordered in 2008 and manufactured during 2009. When installed, the 
capacity for lifting skip vessels at Mine 2 will increase from 22 to 25 tonnes.
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Capacity Expansion Plans
Uralkali decided to amend the schedule for the realization of its invest-

ment programme and the launch of new production capacity, as it is unlikely to 
be demanded by the market until 2012. The new target is to achieve production 
capacity of 7 million tonnes of potassium chloride in 2012.

This increase should be achieved by the addition of the second produc-
tion line at Production Unit 4 (BKPRU-4), with an annual capacity of 1.5 million 
tonnes, and the overhaul of the fi rst line. 

In 2009 Uralkali also approved the investment programme for 2010-
2012: the average investment level for the period will amount to approximately 
12.5 billion rubles annually, with 6.7 billion rubles earmarked for capacity 
expansion and nearly 5.8 billion rubles for capacity maintenance. This fi gure 
excludes investment in the development of Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld, currently the 
Company’s main Greenfi eld project. The fi eld holds about 1,291I million tonnes 
of resources. 

In 2009 the Federal Agency for Subsoil Use (Rosnedra) extended the 
deadline for the preparation and approval of the Ust-Yaivinsky mine construc-
tion and design documentation to May 15, 2011. Development of the fi eld should 
start in 2015. The mine is scheduled to come on stream in 2018. The mine’s 
annual capacity should total 8 – 11 million tonnes, which corresponds to about 
2 – 2.8 million tonnes of potassium chloride. 

The drilling of a controlling well for the planned new shaft was started 
in November 2009, initiating the preparatory stage for the fi rst shaft of the new 
mine. Once the 500 metre deep well is drilled and rock analysis performed, 
Uralkali will determine, together with experts from Deilmann-Haniel Mining 
Systems, which type of wall support would be optimal for the future shaft. The 
diameter of the new shaft is expected to be 8 metres.

The Company has not yet decided how the ore should be processed after 
it is mined at the Ust-Yaivinsky fi eld. The decision as to whether a new plant 
should be constructed will depend on the recovery of the global potash market. 
In any case, most of the project lead time will be taken up in building the mine, 
due to the technical complexity of the project. One of Uralkali’s advantages is 
that it has suffi cient in-house expertise, knowledge and resources to complete 
the project. The Company has not ruled out the possibility of processing the new 
ore at existing facilities at other mines.

The total construction costs have not yet been determined. The Company 
will need to have all the project design documentation approved by the Federal 
Agency for Subsoil Use by May 2011. The investment parameters of the project 
will be agreed after this. Uralkali is well placed to carry out this expensive 
project. First of all, the fi eld is located in the same deposit as the Company’s 
other operating mines and its geology is already well known to the Company. 

Note

I. JORC as of 1 January 2010.
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One of its features is the depth of the ore horizon, which is only 400 metres. 
This is relatively low compared with the other world potash deposits. The 
second advantage is that Uralkali can use existing infrastructures to realize 
the new project.

In summary, Uralkali has done much work to upgrade and expand exist-
ing capacity in 2009, which will continue into 2010. The investment was directed 
at ensuring Uralkali was ready to respond to recovering demand in the global 
potash market.
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1. Gross Sales
The global fi nancial crisis caused a signifi cant decline in demand for 

potash in 2009.
Demand for Uralkali’s products decreased signifi cantly in a number of 

markets. As a result, the Company’s sales volumes in 2009 were 47% below 2008 
levels. Low demand also led to reduced prices for potash fertilizers. The aver-
age export price (in US$) for Uralkali products was 14.3% lower in 2009 than in 
2008.

The combination of reduced demand and lower prices resulted in a 
decline in 2009 revenues to 33.8 billion RUR (US$1,065 million), down 46% 
on the previous year. 2009 revenues are presented net of export duties, which 
amounted to 0.267 billion RUR (US$8 million).

Non-potash sales, at 1.7 billion RUR (US$55 million), accounted for 5.2% 
of gross revenues. This fi gure includes non-core products and services, primarily 
sodium chloride (NaCl) solution and carnallite processing services, which made 
up 3% of total sales. It also includes transhipping services provided by the Baltic 
Bulk Terminal to complex fertilizer producers (2.2% of total sales).

2. Transportation
Almost 92% of export sales in 2009 were shipped by sea through the 

Company’s fully-owned terminal at the St. Petersburg seaport. Distribution costs 
for sea export include the railway tariff from Berezniki to St. Petersburg, transship-
ment and freight costs (except for deliveries on an FOB basis). 

About 6% of export sales were transported to China by rail. The remaining 
2% comprises other shipments, including deliveries by rail to customers in Europe 
and the CIS. Distribution costs for these deliveries include railway tariff costs to 
China, Europe and the CIS respectively.

2.1 Freight
In 2009 the appreciation of the US dollar against the ruble resulted in a 

12% increase in average freight rates to 1,734 RUR per tonne of product shipped by 
sea on a CFR basis. Average freight rates expressed in US dollars were 12% lower 
than in 2008, at US$55 per tonne of product shipped by sea on a CFR basis.

Uralkali’s policy is to hedge sea shipping costs using long-term freight 
contracts. In 2009 approximately 46% of sea deliveries were carried out using 
freight contracts, a lower ratio than usual. This is because, having predicted a 
considerable drop in future freight rates, we did not book any new contracts for 
2009. In addition, the uncertainty in global potash markets would have made it 
risky to enter into new long-term agreements for signifi cant sales volumes.

Financial Review

Financial Management Discussion 
and Analysis
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2.2 Railway Tariffs
Uralkali typically deliver its products to the shipping terminal in St. 

Petersburg by rail. The Company also carries out direct deliveries by rail to 
customers in North China, Europe and the CIS. 

Railway tariffs for all destinations are regulated by the State. During 
2009, the State twice increased the tariffs to both St. Petersburg (resulting in an 
effective increase of 15%) and to China (resulting in an effective increase 14%). 
Overall, expenses for railway transportation have fallen by 1.58 billion RUR, 
due to a decrease in export volumes. Volumes transported to St. Petersburg 
were down 52% on 2008 levels, while rail deliveries to China were 70% lower 
than in 2008. 

3. Net Sales
Net sales are defi ned as the gross revenues for the period net of certain 

distribution costs – freight costs, railway tariffs and transshipment costs. Net 
sales decreased in 2009 by 46% to 29.3 billion RUR.

4. Total expenses: Potash sales
Total expenses for the potash salesI amounted to 7,603 RUR per tonne 

in 2009. Total potash sales costs in the domestic market amounted to 5,164 RUR 
per tonne.II
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Notes

I.  Total expenses in the potash sales are calculated according to IFRS and include sales, distribution, general and administrative, 
and other operating expenses and taxes other than income tax for potash sales (See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statement for the year ending 31 December 2009).

II.  Total expenses of potash sales on the domestic market are calculated in accordance with Uralkali’s accounting policy and 
include expenses in lines №020, 030, 040, 070, 100, 141, 142, 143, 149, 152, 153 of form №2 (See profi t and loss statement within 
Uralkali’s accounts for 2009, prepared in line with the Russian accounting standards). 
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5. Cash Cost of Goods Sold I
Fixed costs account for more than 60%II of the cash cost of goods sold 

(COGS). As a result, COGS in 2009 was signifi cantly infl uenced by the reduction 
in sales volumes by 2.2 mln tonnes (53% of 2008 sales volume). The cash cost for 
products sold in 2009 was 2,554 RUR (US$ 80) per tonne.

5.1 Labour
As part of its anti-crisis optimization programme, Uralkali decided to 

suspend the payment of monthly bonuses in 2009 due to the decrease in pro-
duction levels. However since 1 August 2009, the payroll has been indexed by 
12.5%. As a result, the average monthly salary is now approximately 20,000 RUR 
(US$630), 17% below 2008 levels. Uralkali’s policy is not to reduce headcount 
during a period of temporary reduction in production volume. The plan for 
increasing productivity is covered in the Cost Reduction section of this report.

5.2 Fuel and Energy
Potash production is an energy-intensive process. For the most part, fuel 

and energy-related costs are variable and are set in rubles. In 2009, tariffs for 71% 
of supplied electricity and 85% of supplied gas were regulated by the State. The 
rest of the energy consumed by Uralkali was either purchased on the open market, 
or was produced by the Company (electricity). In 2009 electricity produced by the 
Company amounted to 5% of the total volume of electricity consumed, (for more 
information see the Cost Reduction section — power generation programme). 
Open market prices for gas and electricity in 2009 were respectively 5% and 27% 
higher than regulated prices.

As a result, the effective tariff on gas in 2009 increased by 9% on 2008 to 
1,959 RUR (US$62) per thousand cubic meters. The effective tariff on electricity 
in 2009 rose by 14% to 1,557 RUR (US$49) per thousand kWh.

5.3 Other Cash Costs
Other cash costs include variable costs (such as production materials 

and transportation between mines) and fi xed costs (such as costs related to 
outsourced repairs and maintenance and materials for repairs and utilities). 
More than 90% of these costs are in rubles.

Notes

I. Cash cost of goods sold = Cost of goods sold less depreciation.

II. For 100% utilization rate. Actual utilization rate in 2009 was approximately 50%.
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6. General and Administrative Expenses
On average general and administrative cash costsI in 2009 were 21% 

higher than in 2008. Personnel costs account for more than half of these 
expenses.
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I. Cash general and administrative expenses = General and administrative expenses less depreciation and amortisation.

General and administrative 
expenses, 2009

Insurance

2%

Labour
59%

Consulting
9%

Repairs
4%

Security
6%

Other
20%



54

7. Cost Reduction Programmes
7.1  Programme to Increase Productivity 

At the end of 2009, about 7,400 people were employed at Uralkali’s main 
Production Unit. The Company has a longstanding programme to increase 
productivity by 40% and reduce headcount in the main Production Unit to 6,000 
through the optimization and automation of production processes.

By the end of 2009 the Company had completed the planned separa-
tion of service divisions from the main Production Unit. The staff employed 
in service divisions (mainly involved in repairs, construction, motor freight, IT 
services and medical care) account for the difference between the headcount 
of the group and the headcount of the main Production Unit. During 2008 and 
2009 we had to increase the headcount of several service divisions, in particular 
those providing medical and repair services. Staffi ng levels in these divisions are 
determined by various factors, including the possibility of outsourcing services 
and the quality of outsourced services available in the region.
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7.2  Power Generation Programme
By the end of 2009 Uralkali had reached the fi nal stage of its power 

generation programme, which had been underway for several years.
In 2009, we completed the installation of the two additional electricity 

generation turbines at Production Unit 4, following the installation of the fi rst 
two turbines in fi rst quarter 2008. We expect to obtain a licence for parallel 
operation of the turbines in mid-2010, which will enable us to realise energy cost 
savings of approximately 50 RUR per tonne of potash produced.I

8. EBITDA
In 2009 adjusted EBITDAII decreased by 60% to 16.4 billion RUR. 

Adjusted EBITDA marginIII in 2009 fell to 56% from 76% the previous year.

9.  Mine Flooding Costs
As part of its corporate social responsibility commitment, Uralkali volun-

teered to reimburse the government 2.3 billion RUR for resettlement expenses 
following the accident at its Mine 1. The Company also paid Russian Railways 
0.5 billion RUR to build a 6-kilometer bypass line, as well as volunteering to 
commit 5 billion RUR to bridge the fi nancing gap for the construction of the 
53-km Yaiva-Solikamsk railroad. These payments amounted to 7.8 billion RUR in 
total and were performed out of provisions accrued as of 31 December 2008. 

As of 31 December 2009 the Company accrued additional provisions of 
1 billion RUR related to additional expenses on the Yaiva-Solikamsk railroad. 
(For more details see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
year ending December 31, 2009)

Notes

I. This is calculated as the difference between the cost of purchased electricity and the cost of generated electricity, based on 
the assumption that the company will operate at full capacity and that gas prices will increase by 25% and 15%, and electricity by 
11% and 12% in 2010 and 2011 respectively. 

II. Adjusted EBITDA represents operating profi t plus depreciation and amortisation. Adjusted EBITDA does not refl ect the 
impact of fi nance income and expenses and mine fl ooding costs.

III. Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated as adjusted EBITDA divided by Net Sales.
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10. CAPEX
In 2009 total CAPEX amounted to 14.1 billion RURI, of which half was 

spent on expansion and cost reduction. The main projects included increasing 
production at Production Unit 4 by 1.5 million tonnes (modernization of the 
second production line); designing the shaft for Mine 5; implementing the 
Company’s power generation programme; and infrastructure development. 
More than 90% of maintenance costs are in rubles.

11. Cash fl ow
Due to reduced sales volumes in Uralkali’s main markets, and the com-

pensation payments related to the fl ooding at Mine 1, net cash generated from 
operations fell to 4.5 billion RUR, 86% lower than in 2008. 

As of 31 December 2009 Uralkali had net debt of 9.1 billion RUR (US$303 
million). Its cash balance amounted to 4.3 billion RUR, with bank debt at 13.4 
billion RUR. More than 95% of this debt is in US dollars, with an average interest 
rate of around 2.5%.
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Notes

I.  CAPEX for the period includes additions to property, plant and equipment for the period, adjusted for the changes in 
balances of letters of credit and prepayments for acquisition of PPE.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock Company Uralkali:

(1) We have audited the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of Open Joint Stock Company “Uralkali” (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial position as of 31 December 2009 and the con-
solidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash fl ows and consolidated 
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

 Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
(2) Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated fi nancial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances. 

 Auditor’s Responsibility
(3) Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

(4) An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

(5) We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 Opinion
(6) In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial posi-
tion of the Group as of 31 December 2009, and its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

 Emphasis of Matter
(7) Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to Note 5 to the consolidated fi nancial statements outlining management esti-
mates of the compensations resulting from the fl ooding of Mine 1 that occurred on October 28, 2006. The ultimate outcome of the matter 
cannot presently be determined and costs in excess of the amounts provided for could be signifi cant for the Group in the future. 

Moscow, Russian Federation
29 April 2010

ZAO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
White Square Offi ce Center
10 Butyrsky Val, Moscow, Russia, 125047
Telephone +7 (495) 967 6000
Fax +7 (495) 967 6001
www.pwc.ru
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Note 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 42,208 30,642
Prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 1,653 1,345
Letters of credit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2,281 3,513
Goodwill 366 366
Intangible assets 10 138 161
Deferred income tax assets 26 247 197
Financial assets 230 70
VAT recoverable 225 225
Total non-current assets 47,348 36,519

Current assets
Inventories 11 3,481 2,965
Trade and other receivables 12 5,850 6,616
Current income tax prepayments 74 49
Loans issued to related parties 6 1,578 -
Cash and cash equivalents 13 4,297 16,174
Total current assets 15,280 25,804
Total assets 62,628 62,323

Equity
Share capital 14 648 648
Treasury shares 14 (12) (12)
Share premium/(discount) (849) (849)
Revaluation reserve 150 150
Retained earnings 43,751 34,662
Equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 43,688 34,599
Non-controlling interest 27 21
Total Equity 43,715 34,620

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 8,361 10,192
Post employment benefits obligations 27 260 284
Deferred income tax liability 26 416 232
Total non-current liabilities 9,037 10,708

Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 5,654 4,606
Trade and other payables 17 2,745 4,159
Mine flooding provisions 5, 15 1,000 7,804
Current income tax payable 109 136
Other taxes payable 368 290
Total current liabilities 9,876 16,995

Total Liabilities 18,913 27,703

Total Liabilities and Equity 62,628 62,323

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors
29 April 2010

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Uralkali Group 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as of 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)
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Note 2009 2008
Revenues 18 33,809 62,798
Cost of sales 19 (8,878) (9,410)
Gross profit 24,931 53,388

Distribution costs 20 (6,075) (9,840)
General and administrative expenses 21 (3,838) (3,204)
Taxes other than income tax (502) (402)
Other operating income and expenses 23 (1,328) (1,109)
Operating profit 13,188 38,833

Mine flooding costs 25 (1,060) (8,294)
Finance income 24 456 856
Finance expense 24 (1,350) (1,860)
Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535

Income tax expense 26 (2,139) (7,592)

Net profi t for the year 9,095 21,943

Profit is attributable to:
Owners of the Company 9,089 21,937
Non-controlling interests 6 6
Net profi t for the year 9,095 21,943

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (in Roubles) 28 4.33 10.45

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Uralkali Group 
Consolidated Statement of Income
for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)
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2009 2008
Net profit for the year 9,095 21,943

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,095 21,943

Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 9,089 21,937
Non-controlling interests 6 6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Uralkali Group 
Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)
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Note 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible 
assets 8, 10 3,188 2,516
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23 271 157
Loss on fixed assets disposed on mine flooding 25 - 336
(Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment of receivables 23 (20) 148
Net change in mine flooding provisions 15 (6,804) 7,781
Finance income and expense, net (7) 35
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net 24 751 737

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 8,613 41,245
Decrease in trade and other receivables 115 191
Increase in inventories 11 (516) (1,443)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other creditors (1,368) 1,334
Increase/(decrease) in other taxes payable 70 (14)

Cash generated from operations 6,914 41,313
Interest paid 16 (393) (723)
Income taxes paid (2,049) (7,986)

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,472 32,604

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of intangible assets 10 (34) (85)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (13,606) (13,505)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 26 53
Purchase and sale of investments, net (39) (4)
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries - (9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (753) -
(Increase)/decrease in irrevocable bank deposits 13 (13) 98
Loans issued to related party 6 (1,578) -
Dividends and interest received 628 542

Net cash used in investing activities (15,369) (12,910)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings 16 (11,880) (10,446)
Proceeds from borrowings 16 10,774 11,488
Finance lease payments 16 (38) (38)
Dividends paid to shareholders (10) (12,361)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (1,154) (11,357)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 161 644

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,890) 8,981
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year, net of restricted cash 13 16,174 7,193
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, net of restricted cash 13 4,284 16,174

Uralkali Group 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Uralkali Group 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 
(Note 14)

Treasury
shares

(Note 14)

Share 
premium/ 
(discount)

Revaluation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
attributable 
to owners of 

the Company

Non-
controlling 

interest Total equity
Balance at  
1 January 2008 648 (12) (849) 150 25,113 25,050 24 25,074
Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - 21,937 21,937 6 21,943
Dividends declared - - - - (12,388) (12,388) - (12,388)

Acquisition of 
additional interest in 
subsidiary - - - - - - (9) (9)

Balance at 31 
December 2008 648 (12) (849) 150 34,662 34,599 21 34,620

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - 9,089 9,089 6 9,095

Balance at 31 
December 2009 648  (12) (849) 150 43,751 43,688 27 43,715
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The Uralkali Group and its operations1. 
Open Joint Stock Company Uralkali (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) produce mineral 

fertilizers, primarily potassium based, which are extracted and processed in the vicinity of the city of Berezniki, Russia, 
and which are distributed both on domestic and foreign markets. The Group manufactures approximately ten types of 
products, the most signifi cant of which is a wide range of potassium salts. The Group is one of two major potash manufactur-
ers in the Russian Federation. For the year ended 31 December 2009 approximately 76% of potash fertilizer production was 
exported (for the year ended 31 December 2008: 89%). 

The Company holds operating licenses, issued by the Perm regional authorities for the extraction of potassium, 
magnesium and sodium salts from the Bereznikovskiy, Durimanskiy and Bigelsko-Troitsky plots of the Verkhnekamskoye 
fi eld. These licenses expire in 2013; however based on the statutory licensing regulations and prior experience, the Company’s 
management believes that the licenses will be renewed without incurring any signifi cant cost. The Company also owns 
a license for the Ust’-Yaivinskiy plot of the Verkhnekamskoye fi eld, which expires in 2024. 

The Company was incorporated as an open joint stock company in the Russian Federation on 14 October 1992. 
The Company has its registered offi ce at 63 Pyatiletki St., Berezniki, Perm region, Russian Federation. Almost all of 
the Group’s productive capacities and all long-term assets are located in the Russian Federation. 

As of 31 December 2009, Madura Holdings Limited, registered in Cyprus, was the parent company of the Group. 
The Group is ultimately controlled by Mr. Dmitry Rybolovlev.

As of 31 December 2009 the Group employed approximately 13.2 thousand employees (31 December 2008: 
12.9 thousand).

Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies2. 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated fi nancial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1  Basis of preparation
These consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) under the historical cost convention except for certain fi nancial instruments that are presented at fair 
value as described in Note 2.13. 

Group companies maintain their accounting records in Russian Roubles (“RR”) and prepare their statutory fi nancial 
statements in accordance with the Federal Law on Accounting of the Russian Federation, except for Uralkali Trading SA, 
Uralkali Trading (Gibraltar) Ltd. and UKT Chicago which maintain their accounting records in US Dollars (“US$”) and 
prepare their fi nancial statements in accordance with IFRS. Belarusian Potash Company maintains its accounting records 
in Belarusian Roubles (“BYR”) and in accordance with Belarusian Laws and Regulations. These consolidated fi nancial 
statements are based on the statutory records, with adjustments and reclassifi cations recorded for the purpose of fair 
presentation in accordance with IFRS. 

Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)
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Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.2  Accounting for the effect of infl ation
The Russian Federation has previously experienced relatively high levels of infl ation and was considered to 

be hyperinfl ationary as defi ned by IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinfl ationary Economies”. IAS 29 requires 
that fi nancial statements prepared in the currency of a hyperinfl ationary economy be stated in terms of the measur-
ing unit current at the balance sheet date. Hyperinfl ation in the Russian Federation ceased effective from 1 January 
2003. Restatement procedures of IAS 29 are therefore only applied to assets acquired or revalued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed prior to that date. For these balances, the amounts expressed in the measuring unit current at
31 December 2002 are treated as the basis for the carrying amounts in these consolidated fi nancial statements.

2.3 Consolidated fi nancial statements
Subsidiaries are those companies and other entities in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of 

more than one-half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies so as to obtain 
economic benefi ts. 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible are con-
sidered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The date of exchange is the acquisition date 
where a business combination is achieved in a single transaction, and is the date of each share purchase where a business 
combination is achieved in stages by successive share purchases. 

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the acquiree at each exchange trans-
action represents goodwill. The excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities acquired over cost (”negative goodwill”) is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are meas-
ured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the assets transferred. The Company and 
all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.

2.4  Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and net assets of a subsidiary, including fair value adjustments, 

which is attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group. Non-controlling interest forms 
a separate component of the Group’s equity.

The difference, if any, between the carrying amount of a non-controlling interest and the amount paid to acquire 
the relevant share is recognised as goodwill.
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Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.5  Joint ventures

Jointly controlled entities
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity which 

is subject to joint control. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Unrealised 
gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the joint ventures; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 
the asset transferred. 

2.6  Investments in associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, generally accompanying 

a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of associates includes 
goodwill identifi ed on acquisition less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition 
profi ts or losses of associates is recorded in the consolidated statement of income, and its share of post-acquisition move-
ments in reserves is recognised in reserves. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred.

2.7  Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment acquired or constructed prior to 1 January 1997 is recorded at the amounts deter-

mined by an independent valuation as of 1 January 1997 less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Property, plant 
and equipment acquired or constructed subsequent to 1 January 1997 is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost 
includes all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

The amounts determined by the independent valuation represent gross replacement cost less accumulated depre-
ciation to arrive at an estimate of depreciated replacement cost. This independent valuation was performed in order to 
determine a basis for cost because the historical accounting records for property, plant and equipment required for IFRS 
fi nancial statements preparation were not available. Therefore, this independent valuation is not a recurring feature, since 
it was intended to determine the historical costs. The changes in carrying value arising from this valuation were recorded 
directly to retained earnings. 

At each reporting date management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant 
and equipment. If any such indication exists, the management estimates the recoverable amount, which is deter-
mined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to 
the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of income. 

An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s value in use and fair value less costs to sell.

Repair and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capital-
ised. Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount are recognised in profi t 
or loss.
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Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment items is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives: 

Useful lives in years

Buildings 10 to 50

Mine development costs 10 to 30

Plant and equipment 2 to 30

Transport 5 to 15

Others 2 to 15

Land Not depreciated

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of 
the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of 
its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to use the asset until the end of its physical life. Assets’ 
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

2.8  Operating leases
Leases where a signifi cant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classifi ed 

as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the consolidated statement of income. 

2.9  Finance lease liabilities
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to owner-

ship to the Group, the assets leased are capitalised in property, plant and equipment at the commencement of the lease 
at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment 
is allocated between the liability and fi nance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the fi nance balance outstand-
ing. The corresponding rental obligations, net of future fi nance charges, are included in borrowings. The interest cost 
is charged to the income statement over the lease period using the effective interest method. The assets acquired under 
fi nance leases are depreciated over their useful life or the shorter lease term if the Group is not reasonably certain that it 
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

2.10  Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the acquirer’s share of the net iden-

tifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of exchange. Goodwill 
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of associates is included in investment in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. 

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that goodwill 
may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that are expected 
to benefi t from the synergies of the business combination. Such units or group of units represent the lowest level at which 
the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than a segment. 

Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated 
include the carrying amount of goodwill associated with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of 
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU which is retained.
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Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.11  Other intangible assets 

Expenditure on software, patents, trademarks, and mineral and non-mineral licenses are capitalised and amortised 
using the straight-line method over their useful lives. 

If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use and fair value less 
cost to sell.

2.12  Classifi cation of fi nancial assets
The Group classifi es its fi nancial assets into the following measurement categories: trading investments, available-

for- sale, held to maturity and loans and receivables. 
Trading investments are securities or other fi nancial assets which are either acquired to generate a profi t from short-

term fl uctuations in price or trader’s margin, or are included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term trading exists. 
The Group classifi es fi nancial assets into trading investments if it has the intention to sell them within a short period 

of time after the acquisition. Trading investments are not reclassifi ed out of this category even if the Group’s intentions 
subsequently change. 

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments other than 
those that the Group intends to sell in the near term. 

The held to maturity classifi cation includes quoted non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable pay-
ments and fi xed maturities that the Group has both the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Management determines 
the classifi cation of investment securities held to maturity at their initial recognition and reassesses the appropriateness of 
that classifi cation at each balance sheet date. 

All other fi nancial assets are included in the available-for-sale category. 

2.13  Initial recognition of fi nancial instruments
Trading investments and derivatives are initially recorded at fair value. All other fi nancial assets and liabilities are 

initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction 
price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between the fair value and the transaction 
price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation 
technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

Changes in fair value are recognised in profi t or loss for trading investments and in equity for assets classifi ed as 
available for sale. 

All regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the fi nancial instrument.

2.14  Derecognition of fi nancial assets
The Group derecognises fi nancial assets when (i) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash fl ows from the assets 

have otherwise expired or (ii) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets 
or (iii) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but has not 
retained control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety 
to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.
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Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.15  Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. Interest income on available-for-sale debt securities is calcu-

lated using the effective interest method and recognised in profi t or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments 
are recognised in profi t or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. All other elements of changes in 
the fair value are deferred in equity until the investment is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss is removed from equity to profi t or loss. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) 
that occurred after the initial recognition of available-for-sale investments. A signifi cant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously rec-
ognised in profi t or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profi t or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments 
are not reversed through profi t or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classifi ed as available 
for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised 
in profi t or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through current period’s profi t or loss.

2.16  Income taxes
Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with legisla-

tion enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the Russian Federation for entities incorporated 
in the Russian Federation, in Switzerland for Uralkali Trading SA, in Gibraltar for Uralkali Trading (Gibraltar) Ltd, 
in the USA for UKT Chicago and in Belarusia for Belarusian Potash Company. The income tax charge comprises current 
tax and deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidated statement of income unless it relates to transactions that are 
recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity. 

The Group’s uncertain tax positions are assessed by management at every balance sheet date. Liabilities are recorded 
for income tax positions that are determined by management as less likely than not to be sustained if challenged by tax 
authorities, based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management’s best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the balance sheet date.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable 
profi ts or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes other than on income are recorded within operating expenses.

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and tempo-
rary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for fi nancial reporting 
purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences 
arising on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, 
when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary 
differences on initial recognition or subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes. 

Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date which are 
expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the Group. Deferred tax assets 
for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profi t will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on post-acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where the Group con-
trols the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not reverse through dividends or otherwise 
in the foreseeable future.
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2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.17  Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is determined on 
the weighted average basis. The cost of fi nished products and work in progress comprises raw material, direct labour, other 
direct costs and related production overhead (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. The cost 
of fi nished goods includes transport expenses that the Company incurs in distributing goods from its factory to sea ports, 
vessels and overseas warehouses as these are costs incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses.

2.18  Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. A provision for 

impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

2.19  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less and deposits with original maturity of more than three months 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash needs that are convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to 
insignifi cant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash fl ows. 
Restricted balances being exchanged or used to settle liability at least twelve months after the balance sheet date are shown 
separately from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of fi nancial position and are included in non-
current assets. 

Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.20 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than 

on a business combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of 
consideration received over the par value of shares issued is presented as share premium.

2.21  Treasury shares
Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid, including any 

directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity 
holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is 
included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2.22  Dividends 
Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if they are declared 

before or on the balance sheet date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the balance sheet date or 
proposed or declared after the balance sheet date but before the consolidated fi nancial statements have been authorised 
for issue. 
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2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.23  Value added tax
Output value added tax is payable to the tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection of the receivables from 

customers or (b) delivery of the goods or services to customers. Input VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT 
upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and 
purchases is recognised in the statement of fi nancial position on a gross basis and disclosed separately as an asset and 
liability. Where a provision has been made for impairment of receivables, the impairment loss is recorded for the gross 
amount of the debt, including VAT.

2.24  Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less transactions costs. Borrowings are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense on a time-proportion basis using 
the effective interest method. The Group capitalises borrowing costs relating to assets that take a substantial period of time 
to prepare for use or sale (qualifying assets) as part of the cost of the asset. The Group considers a qualifying asset to be an 
investment project with an execution period exceeding one year.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.25  Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 

is probable that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group made no provision for warranties based on past experience of no warranty claims.

2.26  Trade and other payables
Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under contract and are carried at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.27  Foreign currency transactions
Functional and presentation currency. Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 

measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional cur-
rency”). The Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency is the national currency of the Russian 
Federation, Russian Roubles (“RR”).

Transactions and balances. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end offi cial exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income. Translation at year-end rates does not apply to non-monetary 
items, including equity investments. 
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2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
2.27 Foreign currency transactions (continued)

Group companies. The results and fi nancial positions of all group entities (none of which has the currency of 
a hyperinfl ationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated to 
the presentation currency as follows: 

аassets and liabilities for each statement of fi nancial position presented are translated at the closing rate at (i) 
the date of that statement of fi nancial position;
income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this (ii) 
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 
all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.(iii) 

At 31 December 2009, the offi cial rate of exchange, as determined by the The Central Bank of the Russian Federation 
(CBRF), was US$ 1 = Rouble 30.24 (31 December 2008: US$ 1 = Rouble 29.38). The offi cial Euro to RR exchange rate at 31 
December 2009, as determined by the CBRF, was Euro 1 = Rouble 43.39 (31 December 2008: Euro 1 = Rouble 41.44). 

2.28  Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised on the date of risks transfer under the appropriate INCOTERMS specifi ed in the sales 

contracts, as this is the date when the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customers. For “Free On Board” 
(FOB) transactions, the title to goods transfers as soon as the goods are loaded on the ship. For “Delivery At Frontier” 
(DAF) transactions, the title to goods transfers only when goods cross the Russian border. For “Free Carrier” (FCA) terms, 
the title transfers when goods are loaded on the fi rst carrier (railway carriages). For “Cost and Freight” (CFR) terms, the title 
transfers when goods pass the rail of the ship in the port of shipment. 

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. 
Sales are shown net of VAT, export duties and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenues are 

measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

2.29  Transhipment costs
Transhipment costs incurred by OJSC Baltic Bulker Terminal (“BBT”), a 100% subsidiary whose activity is related 

to transhipment of fertilizers produced by the Group, are presented within distribution costs. These costs include deprecia-
tion, payroll, material expenses and various general and administrative expenses.

2.30  Employee benefi ts
Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual 

leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefi ts (such as health services and kindergarten services) are accrued 
in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group.

2.31  Social costs
The Group incurs personnel costs related to the provision of benefi ts such as health services and charity costs related 

to various social programmes. These amounts have been charged to other operating expenses. 
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2. Basis of preparation and signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.32  Pension costs
In the normal course of business the Group contributes to the Russian Federation state pension scheme on behalf 

of its employees. Mandatory contributions to the governmental pension scheme are expensed as incurred. 
For defi ned benefi t pension plans, the cost of providing benefi ts is determined using the Projected Unit Credit 

Method and is charged to the consolidated statement of income so as to spread the cost over the service period of the employ-
ees. An interest cost representing the unwinding of the discount rate on the scheme liabilities is charged to the consolidated 
statement of income. The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position, in respect of defi ned 
benefi t pension plans is the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation at the balance sheet date. The plans are not 
externally funded. The defi ned benefi t obligation is calculated annually by the Group. The present value of the defi ned 
benefi t obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outfl ows using interest rates of government bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefi ts will be paid and that have terms of maturity approximating 
the terms of the relevant pension liability. 

All actuarial gains and losses which arise in calculating the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation are 
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 

2.33  Earnings per share
Earnings per share are determined by dividing the net income attributable to equity holders of the Company by 

the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the reporting year.

2.34  Segment reporting
The Group identifi es the segment in accordance with the criteria set forth in IFRS 8, Operating Segments, and based 

on the way the operations of the Company are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to analyse perform-
ance and allocate resources. The chief operating decision-maker has been determined as the Board of Directors. It was 
determined, that the Group has one operating segment – the extraction, production and sales of potash fertilizers.

2.35  Research and development costs
Research expenditures are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relat-

ing to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that 
the project will be a success considering its commercial and technological feasibility and if costs can be measured reliably. 
Other development expenditures are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as 
an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Development costs with a fi nite useful life that have been 
capitalised are amortised from the commencement of the commercial production of the product on a straight-line basis 
over the period of its expected benefi t.
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Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations3. 
Certain new interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2009: 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The standard applies 

to entities whose debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or that fi le, or are in the process of fi ling, their 
fi nancial statements with a regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market. 
IFRS 8 requires an entity to report fi nancial and descriptive information about its operating segments, with segment infor-
mation presented on a similar basis to that used for internal reporting purposes. The Group has decided to early adopt 
improvements to IFRS 8 issued in April 2009, which allows the Group to not disclose information about segment assets 
and liabilities in these consolidated fi nancial statements, since such information is not regularly provided to the Board of 
Directors;

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). 
The main change to IAS 23 is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an expense borrowing costs that relate 
to assets that take a substantial period of time to prepare for use or sale. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that is not carried at fair value and that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualifying asset) form part of the cost of that asset, if the com-
mencement date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense using 
the effective interest method. The Group considers a qualifying asset to be an investment project with an execution period 
exceeding one year. These consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared under the revised requirements;

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009). The main change in IAS 1 is the replacement of the statement of income by a statement of compre-
hensive income which also includes all non-owner changes in equity, such as the revaluation of available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets. Alternatively, entities will be allowed to present two statements: a separate statement of income and a statement of 
comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 also introduces a requirement to present a statement of fi nancial position at 
the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever the entity restates comparatives due to reclassifi cations, changes 
in accounting policies, or corrections of errors. The Group has elected to present two statements: a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 had an impact on the presentation of the Group’s 
fi nancial statements but had no impact on the recognition or measurement of specifi c transactions and balances. These 
consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared under the revised requirements;

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2008). In 2007, the International 
Accounting Standards Board decided to initiate an annual improvements project as a method of making necessary but 
non-urgent amendments to IFRS. The amendments consist of a mixture of substantive changes, clarifi cations, and changes 
in terminology in various standards. The substantive changes relate to the following areas: classifi cation as held for sale 
under IFRS 5 in the event of a loss of control over a subsidiary; the option to present fi nancial instruments held for trading 
as non-current under IAS 1; accounting for sale of IAS 16 assets which were previously held for rental and classifi cation of 
the related cash fl ows under IAS 7 as cash fl ows from operating activities; clarifying the defi nition of a curtailment under 
IAS 19; accounting for below market interest rate government loans in accordance with IAS 20; making the defi nition of bor-
rowing costs in IAS 23 consistent with the effective interest method; clarifying accounting for subsidiaries held for sale under 
IAS 27 and IFRS 5; reducing the disclosure requirements relating to associates and joint ventures under IAS 28 and IAS 31; 



75

Uralkali Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

3.  Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued)

the enhancement of disclosures required by IAS 36; clarifying accounting for advertising costs under IAS 38; amending 
the defi nition of fair value through profi t or loss category so that it is consistent with hedge accounting under IAS 39; 
introducing accounting for investment properties under construction in accordance with IAS 40; and reducing restrictions 
over the manner of determining the fair value of biological assets under IAS 41. Further amendments made to IAS 8, 10, 18, 
20, 29, 34, 40, 41 and to IFRS 7 represent terminology or editorial changes only, which the IASB believes have no or minimal 
effect on accounting. The Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
fi nancial statements;

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate – IFRS 1 and IAS 27 Amendment (issued in May 
2008; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). This amendment allows fi rst-time adopters of IFRS 
to measure investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates at fair value or at previous GAAP carrying 
value as deemed cost in the separate fi nancial statements. The amendment also requires distributions from pre-acquisition 
net assets of investees to be recognised in profi t or loss rather than as a recovery of the investment. This amendment does 
not impact the Group’s fi nancial statements at 31 December 2009;

IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009). IFRIC 15 is not relevant to the Group’s operations at 31 December 2009;

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 
2008). IFRIC 16 does not have any impact on these fi nancial statements as the Group did not apply hedge accounting at 31 
December 2009;

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments – Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (issued in 
March 2009; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The Group does not expect the amendments 
to have any material effect on the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements;

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations – Amendment to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (issued in January 2008; effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). This amendment does not impact the Group’s fi nancial statements at 
31 December 2009;

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation – IAS 32 and IAS 1 Amendment (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The amendment requires classifying as equity some fi nancial instru-
ments that meet the defi nition of fi nancial liabilities. This amendment does not impact the Group’s fi nancial statements at 
31 December 2009;

Embedded Derivatives – Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 (effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 
2009). The amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements;

IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008). IFRIC 13 is not 
relevant to the Group’s operations because no Group companies operate any loyalty programmes.

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to signifi cantly affect 
the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.
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New accounting pronouncements4. 
The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been published that are manda-

tory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods and which the Group has not 
early adopted: 

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in April 2009; amendments to IFRS 2, IAS 38, 
IFRIC 9 and IFRIC 16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009; amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 
1, IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 36 and IAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010). The improvements 
consist of a mixture of substantive changes and clarifi cations in the following standards and interpretations: clarifi cation 
that contributions of businesses in common control transactions and formation of joint ventures are not within the scope 
of IFRS 2; clarifi cation of disclosure requirements set by IFRS 5 and other standards for non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classifi ed as held for sale or discontinued operations; requiring to report a measure of total assets and liabilities 
for each reportable segment under IFRS 8 only if such amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision 
maker; amending IAS 1 to allow classifi cation of certain liabilities settled by entity’s own equity instruments as non-current; 
changing IAS 7 such that only expenditures that result in a recognised asset are eligible for classifi cation as investing 
activities; allowing classifi cation of certain long-term land leases as fi nance leases under IAS 17 even without transfer of 
ownership of the land at the end of the lease; providing additional guidance in IAS 18 for determining whether an entity acts 
as a principal or an agent; clarifi cation in IAS 36 that a cash generating unit shall not be larger than an operating segment 
before aggregation; supplementing IAS 38 regarding measurement of fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination; amending IAS 39 (i) to include in its scope option contracts that could result in business combinations, (ii) to 
clarify the period of reclassifying gains or losses on cash fl ow hedging instruments from equity to profi t or loss and (iii) to 
state that a prepayment option is closely related to the host contract if upon exercise the borrower reimburses economic loss 
of the lender; amending IFRIC 9 to state that embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in common control transactions 
and formation of joint ventures are not within its scope; and removing the restriction in IFRIC 16 that hedging instruments 
may not be held by the foreign operation that itself is being hedged. The Group does not expect the amendments to have 
any material effect on its fi nancial statements.

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions – Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010). The amendments provide a clear basis to determine the classifi cation of 
share-based payment awards in both consolidated and separate fi nancial statements. The amendments incorporate into 
the standard the guidance in IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11, which are withdrawn. The amendments expand on the guidance 
given in IFRIC 11 to address plans that were previously not considered in the interpretation. The amendments also clarify 
the defi ned terms in the Appendix to the standard. The Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect 
on its fi nancial satements.

Classifi cation of Rights Issues – Amendment to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 February 2010). The amendment exempts certain rights issues of shares with proceeds denominated 
in foreign currencies from classifi cation as fi nancial derivatives. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amend-
ment on its fi nancial statements.

IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures (amended November 2009, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011). IAS 24 was revised in 2009 by: (a) simplifying the defi nition of a related party, clarifying its intended meaning 
and eliminating inconsistencies from the defi nition and by (b) providing a partial exemption from the disclosure require-
ments for government-related entities. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on disclosures 
in its fi nancial statements.
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4. New accounting pronouncements (continued)

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013, with earlier application permitted). IFRS 9 replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classifi cation and measure-
ment of fi nancial assets. Key features are as follows:

(a) Financial assets are required to be classifi ed into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently 
at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. 
The classifi cation depends on the entity’s business model for managing its fi nancial instruments and the contractual cash 
fl ow characteristics of the instrument. 

(b) An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both (i) the objec-
tive of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash fl ows, and (ii) the asset’s contractual cash 
fl ows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only “basic loan features”). All other debt instruments 
are to be measured at fair value through profi t or loss.

(c) All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading 
will be measured at fair value through profi t or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made 
at initial recognition to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other comprehensive income 
rather than profi t or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to profi t or loss. This election may be made 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profi t or loss, as long as they represent a return 
on investment. The Group is considering the implications of this standard, its impact on the Group and the timing of its 
adoption by the Group.

IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2010). This IFRIC clarifi es the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result that 
the liability is extinguished through the debtor issuing its own equity instruments to the creditor. A gain or loss is recognised 
in the profi t and loss account based on the fair value of the equity instruments compared to the carrying amount of the debt. 
The Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect on its fi nancial statements.

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement – Amendment to IFRIC 14 (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2011). This amendment will have a limited impact as it applies only to companies that are required to make 
minimum funding contributions to a defi ned benefi t pension plan. It removes an unintended consequence of IFRIC 14 
related to voluntary pension prepayments when there is a minimum funding requirement. The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of the amended interpretation on its fi nancial statements.

IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008; effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009). The revised IAS 27 will require an entity to attribute total comprehensive income to the owners of 
the parent and to the non-controlling interests (previously “minority interests”) even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a defi cit balance (the current standard requires the excess losses to be allocated to the owners of the parent 
in most cases). The revised standard specifi es that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result 
in the loss of control must be accounted for as equity transactions. It also specifi es how an entity should measure any gain 
or loss arising on the loss of control of a subsidiary. At the date when control is lost, any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary will have to be measured at its fair value. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard 
on its fi nancial statements.

IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised January 2008; effective for business combinations for which the acquisition 
date is on or after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised IFRS 
3 will allow entities to choose to measure non-controlling interests using the existing IFRS 3 method (proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets) or at fair value. The revised IFRS 3 is more detailed in providing guidance on 
the application of the purchase method to business combinations. The requirement to measure at fair value every asset 
and liability at each step in a step acquisition for the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill has been removed. 
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4. New accounting pronouncements (continued)

Instead, in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer will have to remeasure its previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognise the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profi t or loss. Acquisition-
related costs will be accounted for separately from the business combination and therefore recognised as expenses rather 
than included in goodwill. An acquirer will have to recognise at the acquisition date a liability for any contingent purchase 
consideration. Changes in the value of that liability after the acquisition date will be recognised in accordance with other 
applicable IFRSs, as appropriate, rather than by adjusting goodwill. The revised IFRS 3 brings into its scope business com-
binations involving only mutual entities and business combinations achieved by contract alone. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the amended standard on its fi nancial statements.

Other new standards or interpretations. The Group has not early adopted the following other new standards or 
interpretations: 

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters – Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS • (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010).
IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners•  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
Eligible Hedged Items – Amendment to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement • (effective with 
retrospective application for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards•  (following an amendment in December 
2008, effective for the fi rst IFRS fi nancial statements for a period beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers • (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
The International Financial Reporting Standard for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities•  (issued in July 2009). As a listed 
entity, the Group is not eligible to apply the IFRS for SMEs;

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to signifi cantly affect 
the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.

 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements 5. 
in applying accounting policies
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next fi nancial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying 
the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial state-
ments and estimates that can cause a signifi cant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
fi nancial year include: 

Provisions for mine fl ooding. On 28 October 2006, the Group ceased production operations in Mine 1 due to natural 
groundwater infl ow that reached a level which could not be properly controlled. 

On 1 November 2006, the commission of Rostekhnadzor issued an act on its technical investigation of the causes of 
fl ooding in Mine 1. According to the act, the cause of fl ooding was a “new kind of previously unknown anomaly of geological 
structure” and “the development of two sylvinite layers AB (1964-1965) and Kr II (1976-1977)”. The combination of circum-
stances in the run up to the accident, in terms of the source, scope and strength was classifi ed as “being extraordinary and 
unavoidable events under prevailing conditions not dependent on the will of the parties involved”.
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5. Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies  (continued)

In November 2008, at the request of the Russian Deputy Prime Minister, Igor Sechin, a new commission was estab-
lished by Rostekhnadzor for a second investigation into the cause of fl ooding in Mine 1. According to the report of the second 
commission, issued on 29 January 2009, the fl ooding was caused by a “combination of geological and technological factors”.

Provision for compensations

In February 2009, the Company decided voluntarily, as a part of its social responsibility, to compensate expenses 
incurred by different levels of the government for liquidation of fl ooding consequences including expenses for resettlement 
of citizens, construction of a 6-kilometer railway bypass incurred prior to 31 December 2008, and also partially compensate 
for the defi cit of fi nancing related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway bypass. 

Thereby the Company accrued a provision as of 31 December 2008 for future expenses, which could be reliably 
valued at the date of authorisation of fi nancial statements and whose likelihood was estimated as “probable”. The provision 
amounted to RR 7,804 and included the following expenses: 

Compensation of expenses related to liquidation of fl ooding consequences incurred by federal and regional • 
budgets. The compensation amounted to RR 2,314;

Compensation for the defi cit of fi nancing related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway bypass in • 
the amount of RR 5,000;

Other compensations in the amount of RR 490, including expenses related to construction of a 6-kilometer railway • 
bypass of RR 454, and expenses incurred by the budget of Berezniki in relation to resettling citizens of RR 36.

During the year ended 31 December 2009 the Company utilized the provision accrued as at 31 December 2008 and 
made compensation payments in the amount of RR 7,804 (Note 15).

At the end of 2009 the Company was in negotiations with OJSC “Russian railways” regarding voluntarily compensa-
tion of additional actual expenditures related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway bypass in the amount of RR 1,000. 
In March 2010 the Board of Directors of the Company approved these compensations, as a part of its social responsibility. 
Since as of 31 December 2009 the determination that these compensations would crystallise was assessed as “probable” the 
Company accrued an additional provision in this amount (Note 15). 

Other possible risks not included in provision for compensations

Additional expenses, which could be incurred by the government for resettlement purposes after 31 December 
2008, are estimated in the amount of RR 184. The Company estimates the probability that it will agree to compensate these 
expenses from “remote” to “possible” and therefore has not accrued this amount. 

In July 2009, the Company received a request from OJSC TGK-9 to compensate expenses in the amount of RR 3,160. 
According to the request, this amount corresponds to the development of a reserve energy supply source in Berezniki. 
The Company believes that only the expenses that are directly caused by the mine fl ood should be considered for compensa-
tion. The parties established a technical commission in order to determine whether these expenses are in fact directly 
connected to the consequences of the mine fl ood. Currently, the Company has no reliable information as to whether these 
expenses could be regarded as being directly caused by the fl ooding of the mine. The Company estimates the probability of 
having to pay this compensation to be from “remote” to “possible” and therefore this amount has not been accrued.

The procedure for calculating and compensating for mineral deposits lost as a result of mine fl ooding is not estab-
lished by Russian law. However, the Company evaluates the risk that such claims could arise as “possible”. In the appendices 
to the report of the second commission, there is a calculation of the value of lost mineral resources (from RR 25,380 to RR 
84,602) and a calculation of losses resulting from mineral extraction tax not received by the government due to fl ooding 
(from RR 964 to RR 3,215). 
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5. Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies  (continued)

The Company analysed the calculations provided in the appendices and evaluated the risk of compensation in 
the stated amount as “remote”. 

In October 2009, the Company has received the decision of tax authorities based on the tax audit for 2005-2006. Tax 
authorities have stated that in October 2006 the Company should have charged mineral extraction tax for mineral deposits 
written off in the state records due to fl ooding. The sum of unpaid mineral extraction tax including fi nes and penalties 
amounted to RR 782. The Company has fi led its appeal to the decision, however in December 2009 that appeal was declined 
by Federal Tax Service of the Russian Federation. In January 2010 the Company received the claim of tax authorities to pay 
tax, fi nes and penalties. The Сompany believes that the conclusion in the decision is not valid, and challenged the decision 
and the claim in the court. In January 2010 the Company fi lled a petition that the decision and the claim are not valid, and 
the court has suspended the execution of tax authorities’ claim as an interlocutory injunction. On 16 April 2010 Moscow 
arbitration court declined the Company’s petition. The Company believes that the conclusion in the decision of the court 
is not valid, and intends to challenge the decision in the appellate court. In this case the decision comes into force from the 
date of appellate court’s resolution, if not discharged or amended. The Company estimates the probability of this liability 
crystallising as “possible” and accordingly has not made an accrual for this amount. 

Due to a lack of information at the date of authorising these consolidated fi nancial statements the Company’s 
management could not reliably estimate the total amount of future cash outfl ows related to the mine fl ooding and cor-
responding claims of third parties; however, the amount could be signifi cant and substantially exceeded the provision 
accrued as of 31 December 2009.

Remaining useful life of property, plant and equipment. Management assesses the remaining useful life of property, 
plant and equipment in accordance with the current technical conditions of assets and estimated period during which these 
assets will bring economic benefi t to the Group (Note 8). The estimated remaining useful life of some property, plant and 
equipment is beyond the expiry date of the relevant operating licenses (Note 1). The management believes that the licenses 
will be renewed in due order. However if the licenses are not renewed, property, plant and equipment with net book value 
of RR 1,084 (31 December 2008: RR 689) should be assessed for impairment in 2013.

Land. All facilities of OJSC BBT are situated on land occupied on an annual lease basis, but the management plans 
to purchase the land under the right provided by statutory legislation or to secure the assets by a long-term rent agree-
ment with the municipal authorities. If the Group cannot secure long-term use of this land, non-current assets of RR 2,417 
(31 December 2008: RR 2,454) should be assessed for impairment.

Impairment test of property, plant and equipment. At 31 December 2009 the Group performed an impairment test of 
property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations use cash fl ow projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by management covering a fi ve-year 
period for JSC Uralkali and fi ve-year period for JSC BBT and the expected market prices for potassium fertilizers and tran-
shipment services for the same period according to the leading industry publications, which are broadly in line with 2009 
average prices. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business sector of the economy in 
which the CGU operates. The discount rate used of 15% is pre-tax and refl ects specifi c risks relating to the relevant CGUs. 
The Group did not recognise any impairment.

Impairment of goodwill. The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. The goodwill primarily relates to 
expected reduction of transport costs to be incurred from synergies with the Company when exporting potash by the Baltic Sea 
and is allocated to CGU JSC Uralkali. The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined based on value in use calculations 
whereby cash fl ow projections approved by management covering a fi ve-year period and analysis of synergies performed by an 
independent appraiser. Cash fl ows beyond that fi ve-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3% growth rate. This 
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business sector of the economy in which the Company 
operates. Pre-tax discount rate of 15% that refl ects risks relating to OJSC Uralkali was used in the calculation of the recover-
able value. The Group did not recognise any impairment.
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5. Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies  (continued)

Trade and other receivables. The Company’s management analyses overdue trade and other accounts receivable at 
each reporting date. Overdue accounts receivable are not provided if management has certain evidence of their recover-
ability. If management has no reliable information about the recoverability of overdue receivables, a 100% impairment 
provision is accrued for trade and other receivables overdue by more than 90 days; receivables overdue by more than 45 (but 
less than 90) days are provided for at 50% of their carrying amount.

Inventory. The Group engages an independent surveyor to verify the physical quantity of fi nished products 
at the reporting dates. In accordance with the surveyor’s guidance and technical characteristics of the devices used, 
the possible valuation error is +/-4-6%. At the reporting date the carrying amount of finished products 
may vary within this range.

Tax legislation. Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations (Note 29). 

Related parties6. 
Related parties are defi ned in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Parties are considered to be related if one party 

has the ability to control the other party, is under common control, or can exercise signifi cant infl uence over the other party 
in making fi nancial and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed 
to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. Key management and close family members are also related 
parties.

The Company’s immediate parent and ultimate controlling parties are disclosed in Note 1.
The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Group entered into signifi cant 

transactions or had signifi cant balances outstanding are detailed below.

Statement of fi nancial position caption Nature of relationship 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Loans issued to related parties Ultimate controlling party 1,578 -

Statement of income caption Nature of relationship 2009 2008

Interest income Ultimate controlling party 16 -

Shareholder’s equity caption Nature of relationship 2009 2008

Dividends declared Parent company - 8,225

Loan issued to related party
In September 2009, the Group entered into a loan agreement for a total amount of EUR 50 million with Mr Dmitry 

Rybolovlev, who ultimately controls the Group. The loan was provided at an interest rate of Euro Libor + 4% for 1 year. 
The management believes that the loan was provided on market terms and conditions since the interest rate on the loan 
exceeded the rates on the US$ denominated loans (Note 16) held by the Group as of 31 December 2009.

Acquisition of subsidiary
In January 2009, the Group acquired a subsidiary (Note 9) from Blue Horizon Enterprise Ltd., an entity under 

common control. The total purchase consideration of RR 753 (US$ 23,196,232) was fully paid by the Group in 2009.
Guarantees given
As of 31 December 2009, the Group had no issued guarantees to key management personnel (31 December 2008: 

RR 6) (Note 29 vii).
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6.  Related parties (continued)

Cross shareholding
As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 LLC Kama, a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, owned 1.16% of 

the ordinary shares of the Company. 
Management compensation
Compensation of key management personnel consists of remuneration paid to executive directors and vice-presi-

dents for their services in full- or part-time positions. Compensation is made up of annual remuneration and a performance 
bonus depending on operating results. 

Total key management compensation represented by short-term employee benefi ts and included in general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of income was RR 702 and RR 375 for the periods ended 31 December 
2009 and 2008, respectively. 

Segment reporting7. 
Starting from 1 January 2009, the Group prepares its segment analysis in accordance with IFRS 8, Operating segments, 

which replaced IAS 14, Segment reporting. Comparatives were adjusted to conform to the presentation of current period 
amounts.

The Group identifi es the segment in accordance with the criteria set forth in IFRS 8, and based on the way the opera-
tions of the Company are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to analyse performance and allocate 
resources. The chief operating decision-maker has been determined as the Board of Directors. It was determined, that 
the Group has one operating segment - the extraction, production and sales of potash fertilizers.

The fi nancial information reported on operating segments is based on management accounts which are based on 
IFRS. 

a) Segment information for the reportable segment is set out below:

Note      2009      2008 

 Revenue 33,809 62,798 

 Segment result (Net profit) 9,095 21,943 

 Depreciation and amortization (3,188) (2,516)

 Accrual of provision for compensations 25 (1,000) (7,804)
 Finance income 24 456 856 

 Finance expense 24 (1,350) (1,860)

 Income tax 26 (2 139) (7,592)

b)  Geographical information
The analysis of Group sales by region was:

     2009      2008 

Russia      4,587      4,509 

Latin America, China, India, Southeast Asia     20,239     38,812 

USA, Europe      8,713     18,851 

Other countries       270       626 

Total revenue     33,809     62,798 

The sales are allocated by region based on the destination country.
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7.  Segment reporting (continued)

c)  Major customers
The Group had one external customer from India which represented 15% of the Group’s revenues in 2009 and one 

external customer from China which represented 10% of the Group’s revenues in 2008.
d)  In addition to above segment disclosure management is preparing additional information that splits 

the result of Potash segment activity between export potash sales, domestic potash sales and other sales. Direct Cost of 
sales and Distribution expenses are allocated proportionally based on revenues. Indirect expenses, such as General and 
administrative expenses, Other operating income and expenses and Taxes other than income tax are allocated between 
categories proportionally based on Cost of sales. Some costs are considered as unallocated (Loss on disposal of fi xed assets, 
Net results on sale of Belaruskali goods, Mine fl ooding costs, Finance income and expense, Income tax expense). This split 
for the year ended 31 December 2009 was as follows: 

Export potash 
sales

Domestic 
potash sales

Total potash 
sales Other  sales Unallocated Total

Tonnes (thousands) 1,895 602 2,497 - - 2,497

Revenues 29,189 2,878 32,067 1,742 - 33,809
Cost of sales (6,109) (1,942) (8,051) (827) - (8,878)

Distribution, general and administrative 
expenses, other operating income and 
expenses and taxes other than income tax (9,739) (1,195) (10,934) (545) (264) (11,743)

Operating profit/(loss) 13,341 (259) 13,082 370 (264) 13,188

Mine flooding costs (1,060) (1,060)

Finance income and expense, net (894) (894)

Profit before income tax 11,234
Income tax expense (2,139) (2,139)

Segment result/Net profi t 9,095

This split for the year ended 31 December 2008 was as follows:

Export potash 
sales

Domestic 
potash sales

Total potash 
sales Other  sales Unallocated Total

Tonnes (thousands) 4,141 527 4,668 - - 4,668

Revenues 58,222 3,190 61,412 1,386 - 62,798

Cost of sales (7,662) (975) (8,637) (773) - (9,410)

Distribution, general and administrative 
expenses, other operating income and 
expenses and taxes other than income tax (13,456) (596) (14,052) (398) (105) (14,555)
Operating profit/(loss) 37,104 1,619 38,723 215 (105) 38,833

Mine flooding costs (8,294) (8,294)

Finance income and expense, net (1,004) (1,004)

Profit before income tax 29,535
Income tax expense (7,592) (7,592)

Segment result/Net profi t 21,943
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Property, plant and equipment8. 
Property, plant and equipment and related accumulated depreciation consist of the following:

 Buildings
 Mine develop-

ment costs
 Plant and 

equipment  Transport
 Assets under 
construction  Other  Land  Total

Cost

Balance as of 31 December 2008 8,547 5,785 16,649 4,733 13,011 543 179 49,447

Additions - - - 192 14,837 - - 15,029

Transfers 936 279 4,895 1,311 (7,538) 107 10 -

Disposals (52) (34) (501) (58) (123) (7) - (775)

Balance as of 31 December 2009 9,431 6,030 21,043 6,178 20,187 643 189 63,701

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance as of 31 December 2008 3,746 4,716 8,432 1,596 - 315 - 18,805

Depreciation charge 271 175 2,340 395 - 42 - 3,223

Disposals (22) (8) (453) (45) - (7) - (535)

Balance as of 31 December 2009 3,995 4,883 10,319 1,946 - 350 - 21,493

Net Book Value

Balance as of 31 December 2008 4,801 1,069 8,217 3,137 13,011 228 179 30,642
Balance as of 31 December 2009 5,436 1,147 10,724 4,232 20,187 293 189 42,208

Buildings
Mine develop-

ment costs
Plant and 

equipment Transport
Assets under 
construction Other Land Total

Cost

Balance as of 31 December 2007 8,049 5,317 13,285 4,096 8,771 500 179 40,197

Additions - - - 710 9,860 - - 10,570

Transfers 701 524 4,048 - (5,325) 52 - -

Disposals (203) (56) (684) (73) (295) (9) - (1,320)

Balance as of 31 December 2008 8,547 5,785 16,649 4,733 13,011 543 179 49,447

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance as of 31 December 2007 3,604 4,601 7,294 1,304 - 276 - 17,079

Depreciation charge 239 144 1,725 345 - 48 - 2,501

Disposals (97) (29) (587) (53) - (9) - (775)

Balance as of 31 December 2008 3,746 4,716 8,432 1,596 - 315 - 18,805

Net Book Value

Balance as of 31 December 2007 4,445 716 5,991 2,792 8,771 224 179 23,118
Balance as of 31 December 2008 4,801 1,069 8,217 3,137 13,011 228 179 30,642
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation
For the year ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, respectively, the depreciation was allocated to statement of income 

as follows:

2009 2008

Cost of sales 2,502 1,908

Distribution costs (including transhipment activities – Note 2.29) 356 341

General and administrative expenses 241 196

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 32 8

Total depreciation expense 3,131 2,453

In 2009 the Group incurred depreciation amounting to RR 92 (2008: RR 48), directly related to the construction of 
new fi xed assets. These expenses were capitalised on the consolidated statement of fi nancial position in accordance with 
the Group accounting policy and included in assets under construction.

Fully depreciated assets still in use
As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the gross carrying value of fully depreciated property, plant and 

equipment still in use was RR 7,072 and RR 6,434, respectively. 

Assets pledged under loan agreements 
As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the carrying value of property, plant and equipment pledged under 

bank loans was RR 6,729 and RR 4,582 (Note 16), respectively. 

Investments in subsidiary and jointly controlled entities9. 
 Investment in jointly controlled entity

The Company has a 50% interest in JSC Belarusian Potash Company (“BPC”) – the remaining 50% is divided 
between Belaruskali (which owns 45%) and Belarusian Railways (which owns 5%). According to BPC’s charter, all sharehold-
ers meeting decisions may be taken only with a majority of 75%. Therefore, BPC operations are under the joint control of 
Belaruskali and the Company (the “Participants”). BPC’s principal activity is marketing and exporting as an agent potash 
fertilizers produced by the participants. 

BPC’s charter provides for separate accounting of the operations of each participant, including separate accounting 
for the sales of the participants’ goods and the related cost of sale and distribution costs. Administrative expenses incurred 
by BPC are currently shared as follows: not more than 69% on Belaruskali operations, and not less than 31% on Group 
operations. The actual proportion depends on the volume of goods sold by each participant through BPC. 

The distribution of net income to each participant is made on the basis of their relevant results after deduct-
ing administrative costs, unless both participants decide not to distribute. Group’s operations through BPC, assets and 
the Group’s liabilities located in BPC in which the Group has a direct interest are included in these consolidated fi nancial 
statements. The statement of income refl ects the revenue from sales by BPC of Uralkali’s products, together with the related 
costs of sales, distribution and administrative costs.
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9. Investments in subsidiary and jointly controlled entities (continued)

 Acquisition of subsidiary
On 27 January 2009, the Group acquired a 100% stake in the share capital of Sophar Property Holding Inc., the only 

identifi able asset at the date of acquisition was a contract for the purchase of a corporate business jet. The total purchase 
consideration for the acquired subsidiary of RR 753 (US$ 23,196,232) was equal to the net fair value of this contract. The total 
purchase consideration was fully paid by the Group in 2009.

The Group's management considers that this acquisition constitutes a purchase of asset and not a business 
combination.

Intangible assets10. 
 Software Other Total

Cost as of 1 January 2008            374              20              394 
Accumulated amortisation            (247)     -            (247)

Carrying amount as of 1 January 2008 127 20 147

Additions 85 - 85

Amortisation charge (71) - (71)

Cost as of 31 December 2008 459 20 479

Accumulated amortisation (318) - (318)

Carrying amount as of 31 December 2008 141 20 161

Additions 20 14 34
Amortisation charge (57) - (57)

Cost as of 31 December 2009 479 34 513
Accumulated amortisation (375) - (375)

Carrying amount as of 31 December 2009 104 34 138

The balances of intangible assets reported in these consolidated fi nancial statements as of 31 December 2009 and 
2008 respectively mainly represent management information and accounting system costs and fees charged by an external 
consultant for the installation of this software. The costs of the software are amortised over a period not exceeding fi ve years. 
Other intangible assets are mainly represented by licenses (Note 1). 

Inventories11. 
Inventories consist of the following:

2009 2008

Raw materials 1,819 1,557

Finished products 1,639 1,324

Work in progress 23 84
Total inventories 3,481 2,965

As of 31 December 2009 the value of circulating fi nished goods valued at carrying value pledged as security for 
bank loans was RR 227 (31 December 2008: nil) (Note 16).
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Trade and other receivables12. 
 2009  2008

Trade receivables 1,414 3,033

Other accounts receivable 421 922

Less: provision for impairment of trade and other receivables (209) (233)

Total financial receivables 1,626 3,722

VAT recoverable 1,797 1,880

Other taxes receivable 1,876 473

Advances to suppliers 432 435

Insurance expenses prepaid 49 40

Other prepayments 70 66

Total trade and other receivables 5,850 6,616

As of 31 December 2009 trade receivables of RR 1,239 (31 December 2008: RR 2,907), net of provision for impairment, 
were denominated in foreign currencies. 68% of this balance was denominated in US$ (31 December 2008: 63%) and 32% 
was denominated in Euro (31 December 2008: 37%). Management believes that the fair value of accounts receivable does not 
differ signifi cantly from their carrying amount.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables are as follows:

2009 2008

Trade receivables Other receivables Trade receivables Other receivables 

As of  January 1 (79) (154) (51) (39)

Provision accrued (147) (74) (32) (137)

Provision reversed 117 124 4 17

Provision written-off - 4 - 5
As of December 31 (109) (100) (79) (154)

The accrual and reversal of the provision for impaired receivables have been included in other operating expenses 
in the consolidated statement of income (Note 23). Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when 
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. 
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12.  Trade and other receivables (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of trade and other receivables is as follows:

 2009 2008

Trade receivables Other receivables Trade receivables Other receivables

Current and not impaired

Customers from developed countries 443 34 827 41
Customers from developing countries 512 79 1,793 -
Domestic customers 101 201 30 628

Total current and not impaired 1,056 314 2,650 669

Past due but not impaired

less than 45 days overdue 248 - 153 55
45 to 90 days overdue - 7 141 -

Total past due but not impaired 248 7 294 55

Determined to be impaired (gross)

45 to 90 days overdue 2 - 20 88
over 90 days overdue 108 100 69 110

Total gross amount of impaired accounts receivables 110 100 89 198

Total financial receivables (gross) 1,414 421 3,033 922

Less impairment provision (109) (100) (79) (154)
Total fi nancial receivables 1,305 321 2,954 768

As of 31 December 2009 no trade and other receivables were pledged as collateral (31 December 2008: nil).

Cash and cash equivalents13. 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

 2009  2008

RR denominated cash on hand and bank balances (interest rate: from 0.5% p.a. to 3.5% p.a. 
(2008: from 0.5% p.a. to 5.0% p.a.)) 882 1,570

US$ denominated bank balances 1,792 300
EUR denominated bank balances 305 1,933
Other currencies denominated balances 11 9
US$ term deposits (interest rate: 1.9% p.a. (2008: 1.2% p.a.)) 293 1,598
EUR term deposits (interest rate: from 5% to 13% p.a. (2008: 3% p.a.)) 221 2,031

RR term deposits (interest rate: from 5% to 15% p.a. (2008: from 4.0% to 11.8% p.a.)) 780 8,733

Cash and cash equivalents, net of restricted cash 4,284 16,174

Restricted cash

Term bank deposits (12.7% p.a.) 13 -
Total restricted cash 13 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,297 16,174
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13.  Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Term deposits, except those included in restricted cash, as at 31 December 2009 have various original maturities 
but may upon request be withdrawn without any restrictions. 

Shareholders’ equity 14. 
Number of ordinary shares (in millions) Ordinary shares Treasury shares Total

At 1 January 2008 2,124 648 (12) 636

At 31 December 2008 2,124 648 (12) 636
At 1 January 2009 2,124 648 (12) 636

At 31 December 2009 2,124 648 (12) 636

The number of unissued authorised ordinary shares is 1,500 million (31 December 2008: 1,500 million) with a nomi-
nal value per share of 0.5 Roubles. All shares stated in the table above have been issued and fully paid.

Treasury shares. As of 31 December 2009 treasury shares comprise 24,601,344 ordinary shares of the Company 
(31 December 2008: 24,601,344) with a nominal value per share of 0.5 Roubles owned by LLC Kama, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Group (Note 6). These ordinary shares carry voting rights in the same proportion as other ordinary shares. Voting rights of 
ordinary shares of the Company held by entities within the Group are effectively controlled by the management of the Group. 

Profi t distribution. In accordance with Russian legislation, the Company distributes profi ts as dividends or transfers 
them to reserves (fund accounts) on the basis of fi nancial statements prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Rules. 

The Company’s statutory accounting reports are the basis for profi t distribution and other appropriations. Russian 
law identifi es net profi t as the basis of distribution. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the current period net statutory 
profi t for the Company as reported in the published annual statutory reporting forms was RR 1,153 (for the year ended 
31 December 2008: RR 29,480) and the closing balance of the accumulated profi t including the current period net statutory 
profi t totalled RR 33,643 (31 December 2008: RR 32,480). However, this legislation and other statutory laws and regulations 
are open to legal interpretation and accordingly management believes at present that it would not be appropriate to disclose 
the amount of the distributable reserves in these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Mine fl ooding provisions15. 
 Note  2009 2008

Balance as of January 1 7,804 23 
Utilisation of provision for brine injection 25 - (23)

Utilisation of provision for compensations 25, 5 (7,804) -

Accrual of provision for compensations 25, 5 1,000 7,804
Balance as of December 31  1,000 7,804 

Borrowings16. 
2009 2008

Bank loans 13,463 13,987
Short-term company loans - 439

Long-term company loans 45 45

Finance lease payable 507 327
Total borrowings 14,015 14,798
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16.  Borrowings (continued)

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the fair value of the current and non-current borrowings is not 
materially different from their carrying amounts.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting and has not entered into any hedging arrangements in respect of its 
interest rate exposures.

2009 2008

Balance as of  January 1 13,987 10,600

Bank loans received, denominated in US$ 10,418 7,297

Bank loans received, denominated in RR 500 4,229

Bank loans repaid, denominated in US$ (11,830) (6,212)

Bank loans repaid, denominated in RR (50) (4,234)
Interest accrued 384 676

Interest paid (393) (723)

Recognition of syndication fees (144) (38)

Amortisation of syndication fees 27 26

Currency translation difference 564 2,366
Balance as of December 31 13,463 13,987

The table below provides interest rates as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 and the split of the bank loans 
into short- and long-term.

Short-term borrowings

Interest rates 2009 2008

Bank loans in US$ – fixed interest 2008: 8.75% - 1,075

Bank loans in US$ – floating interest

 From 1 month Libor +1.6% to 1 month 
Libor +3.4% (2008: from 1 month Libor 

+1.6% to 1 month Libor +1.95%) 5,199 3,092
Bank loans in RR – fixed interest 14% 455 -

Total short-term bank loans 5,654 4,167

Long-term borrowings

Interest rates 2009 2008

Bank loans in US$ – floating interest

From 1 month Libor +1.6% to 1 month Libor +3.4% 
(2008: from 1 month Libor +1.6% to 1 month 

Libor +1.95%) 7,809 9,820

Total long-term bank loans 7,809 9,820

US$ denominated bank loans bear a weighted average interest of 2.49% (31 December 2008: 5.63%).
As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, loans (including short-term borrowings) were guaranteed by the col-

lateral of property, plant and equipment (Note 8). A bank loan of RR 455 (31 December 2008: nil) was collateralised by 
fi nished goods (Note 11).

Bank loans of RR 5,673 (31 December 2008: RR 5,569) were collateralised by future export proceeds of the Group 
under sales contracts with certain customers acceptable to the banks. 
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16.  Borrowings (continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings mature as follows:

2009 2008

- within 1 year 5,654 4,167

- between 2 and 3 years 7,809 9,820
Total bank loans 13,463 13,987

In December 2009 OJSC BBT entered into the new fi nancial lease agreement with Federal State Unitary Enterprise 
Rosmorport (“FSUE Rosmorport”) for 49 years. Under this agreement, BBT has leased berth No. 106 and renegotiated 
the lease terms for berth No. 107. As of 31 December 2009 the leased berths were included in buildings, with a net book value 
of RR 476 (31 December 2008: RR 276).

Minimum lease payments under fi nance leases and their present values are as follows:

2009 2008

- within 1 year 49 38

- between 2 and 5 years 196 152

- after 5 years 2,157 1,447
Minimum lease payments at the end of the year 2,402 1,637
Less future finance charges (1,895) (1,310)

Present value of minimum lease payments 507 327

  Trade and other payables17. 
2009 2008

Trade payables 1,110 2,570

Accrued liabilities 134 237
Dividends payable 107 94

Other payables 407 307
Total financial payables 1,758 3,208

Accrued liabilities 446 449

Advances received 147 103

Deferred consideration of subsidiary acquisition 139 132

Other payables 255 267
Total trade and other payables 2,745 4,159
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Revenues18. 
2009 2008

Export 

Potassium chloride 16,474 41,613

Potassium chloride (granular) 12,715 16,609

Domestic

Potassium chloride 2,878 3,190
Other 238 249

Transportation and other revenues 1,504 1,137
Total revenues 33,809 62,798

In March 2008, the Government of the Russian Federation introduced duties, effective from April 2008 until April 
2009, on the export of potassium chloride outside the CIS Customs Union. The duty applicable to Uralkali’s potassium 
chloride was 5% of the declared customs value, which the Group charged on almost all of the Group’s potassium chloride 
exports. Export revenues were shown net of the abovementioned duties, which amounted during the year ended 31 December 
2009 to RR 267 (for the year ended 31 December 2008: RR 1,886).

Cost of sales19. 
Note 2009 2008

Depreciation 8 2,502 1,908

Labour costs 22 2,083 2,622

Fuel and energy 1,499 1,864

Materials and components used 1,460 1,820

Repairs and maintenance 1,242 1,282

Transportation between mines by railway 201 348

Utilities 16 25

Change in work in progress, finished goods and goods in transit (172) (479)

Other costs 47 20
Total cost of sales 8,878 9,410

Expenses of RR 45 (for the year ended 31 December 2008: RR 95) related to transportating ore between mines by 
automotive transport were incurred by CJSC Autotranskali, a 100% subsidiary of the Group, and are mainly included in 
labour costs, materials and components used and fuel and energy costs. 
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Distribution costs20. 
Note 2009 2008

Freight 2,611 4,960

Railway tariff 1,628 3,203

Transport repairs and maintenance 347 572

Transhipment 340 282

Depreciation 273 259

Labour costs 22 217 137

Travel expenses 157 158

Commissions 52 22

Other costs 450 247

Total distribution costs             6,075 9,840

General and administrative expenses21. 
Note 2009 2008

Labour costs 22 2,081 1,532

Consulting, audit and legal services 318 362

Depreciation 8 241 196
Repairs and maintenance 141 92

Security 119 113

Mine-rescue crew 111 93

Insurance 67 116
Travel expenses 59 67

Amortisation of intangible assets 57 71

Communication and information system services 51 67

Bank charges 24 69

Other expenses 569 426
Total general and administrative expenses 3,838 3,204
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Labour costs22. 
Note 2009 2008

Labour costs – Cost of sales 19 2,083 2,622

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other compensations 1,689 2,128

Unified social tax 397 465

Post employment benefits 27 (3) 29
Labour costs – Distribution costs 20 217 137

Wages, salaries, bonuses, other compensations and unified social tax 217 137
Labour costs – General and administrative expenses 21 2,081 1,532

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other compensations 1,868 1,295

Unified social tax 214 205

Post employment benefits 27 (1) 32
Total labour costs 4,381 4,291

Other operating income and expenses23. 
2009 2008

Social cost and charity 1,031 565
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 271 157

Provision for impairment of receivables (20) 148

Net result on sale of Belaruskali goods (7) (52)

Other expenses, net 53 291
Total other operating income and expenses 1,328 1,109

The Group entered into a sales agreement with BPC for processing the sales of Belaruskali goods through 
Uralkali Trading SA in 2009 and 2008, respectively, in order to overcome certain drawbacks in Belarusian export 
legislation. 

Finance income and expense24. 
The components of fi nance income and expense were as follows:

2009 2008

Interest income 313 852

Dividend income - 4

Fair value gains on investments 114 -

Other financial income 29 -
Finance income 456 856
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24. Finance income and expense (continued)

2009 2008

Interest expense 411 702

Finance lease expense 38 38

Foreign exchange loss, net 751 737

Fair value losses on investments - 151

Letters of credit fees 150 232
Finance expense 1,350 1,860

During the year ended 31 December 2009 the Group did not acquire any new qualifying assets for which construc-
tion would commence on or after 1 January 2009, consequently no interest was capitalized.

Mine fl ooding costs25. 
Mine fl ooding costs include costs associated with fl ooding at Mine 1 (Note 5): 

Note 2009 2008

Dismantling costs - 111

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 336
State financing - (16)

Brine injection costs - 47

Monitoring costs 60 35
Utilisation of provision for brine injection 5, 15 - (23)

Accrual of provision for compensations 5, 15 1,000 7,804
Total mine fl ooding costs 1,060 8,294

Dismantling costs are mainly represented by labour costs, depreciation expenses and costs paid to service organisa-
tions for dismantling equipment at Mine 1. 

Income tax expense 26. 
2009 2008

Current income tax expense 2,005 7,953

Deferred income tax 134 (343)

Effect of change in tax rates - (18)

Income tax expense 2,139 7,592
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26. Income tax expense (continued)

Income before taxation and non-controlling interests for fi nancial reporting purposes is reconciled to tax expense 
as follows:

2009 2008

Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535

Theoretical tax charge at effective statutory rates 1,741 5,907

Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes 537 1,691
Difference in tax rates (193) (15)

Effect of change in tax rates - (18)

Other 54 27
Consolidated tax charge 2,139 7,592

Most companies of the Group were taxed at rates of 15.5% and 20% on taxable profi ts in the Russian Federation, 
the Perm region, for 2009 and 2008 respectively. 

Domestic deferred income tax has been computed in these consolidated fi nancial statements using the rate expected 
to apply in future periods (i.e. 15.5%). Deferred taxes in other countries were computed applying respective national income 
tax rates.

31 December  2009 31 December  2008 
Charged/(credited)   to 

profi t or loss 2009
Charged/(credited)  to 

profi t or loss 2008

Tax effects of taxable temporary differences:

Property, plant and equipment (439) (342) (97) 196

Investments (7) (7) - 48

Inventories (23) - (23) 60

Borrowings (25) (5) (20) -

Accounts receivable (4) 22 (26) 12
Other - (12) 12 (12)

(498) (344) (154) 304
Tax effects of deductible temporary differences:
Finance lease 101 65 36 (14)

Mine flooding reserve - - - (5)

Accounts payable 48 113 (65) 5

Inventories - 131 (131) 131
Tax loss carry forward 156 - 156 -

Other 24 - 24 (60)

329 309 20 57
Deferred income tax expense/(income) (134) 361

Total net deferred income tax asset/(liability) (169) (35)

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Reflected in the statement of financial position as 
follows:

Deferred income tax asset 247 197

Deferred income tax liability (416) (232)

Deferred income tax asset/(liability), net (169) (35)
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26. Income tax expense (continued)

The Group has not recognised a deferred income tax liability in respect of temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries in the amount of RR 10,921 (31 December 2008: RR 9,358). The Group controls the timing of 
the reversal of these temporary differences and does not expect their reversal in the foreseeable future. 

Post employment benefi ts obligations27. 
In addition to statutory pension benefi ts, the Company also has several post-employment benefi t plans, which cover 

most of its employees.
The Company provides fi nancial support of a defi ned benefi t nature to its pensioners. The plans provide for the pay-

ment of retirement benefi ts starting from the statutory retirement age, which is currently 55 for women and 60 for men. 
The amount of benefi t depends on a number of parameters, including the length of service in the Company at retirement. 
The benefi ts do not vest until and are subject to the employee retiring from the Company on or after the above ages. This plan 
was introduced in the Collective Bargaining Agreement concluded in 2007. 

The Company further provides other long-term employee benefi ts such as lump-sum payments upon death of its 
current employees and pensioners and a lump-sum payment upon retirement of a defi ned benefi t nature. 

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the net liabilities of the defi ned benefi t plan and other post-employment 
benefi t plans comprised the following:

2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) 327 361

Present value of unfunded obligations 327 361
Unrecognised past service cost (67) (77)

Post employment benefi ts obligations 260 284

The amount of net expense for the defi ned benefi t pension plans recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income (Note 22) was as follows:

2009 2008

Current service cost 22 17

Interest cost 34 21

Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognised during the year (70) 14

Amortisation of past service cost 10 9
Post employment benefi ts (4) 61

The movements in the liability for post-employment benefi t plans were as follows:

2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) as of 1 January 361 324
Service cost 22 17

Interest cost 34 21

Actuarial (gain)/loss (70) 14

Past service cost - 10

Benefits paid (20) (25)

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligations (DBO) as of 31 December 327 361
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27. Post employment benefi ts obligations (continued)

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, respectively, the principal actuarial assumptions for the post-employment benefi t 
plans were as follows:

2009 2008

Discount rate 11.12% 9.30%

Salary increase 10.16% 10.16%

Inflation 8.00% 8.00%

Benefits increase (fixed-amount) 8.00% 8.00%

Mortality tables Russia (1986-87) Russia (1986-87)

Net defi cit on the post-employment benefi t plans and the number of experience adjustments for the years ended
31 December 2009 and 2008, respectively, were as follows:

2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) 327 361
Deficit in plan 327 361

(Gains)/losses arising of experience adjustments on plan liabilities (47) (22)

Earnings per share 28. 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to equity holders of the Company by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding treasury shares (Note 14). 
The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares: therefore, the diluted earnings per share equal the basic earnings 
per share.

 2009 2008

Net profit 9,089 21,937

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 2,100 2,100

Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RR per share) 4.33 10.45

Contingencies, commitments and operating risks29. 
i.  Legal proceedings

From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received. On the basis of its 
own estimates and both internal and external professional advice, the management is of the opinion that there are no cur-
rent legal proceedings or other claims outstanding that could have a material effect on the result of operations or fi nancial 
position of the Group which have not been accrued or disclosed in these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Between September and November 2008, a number of purported class action lawsuits were fi led in US federal district 
courts in Minnesota and Illinois. Class actions are civil lawsuits typically fi led by a plaintiff seeking money damages on behalf 
of the named plaintiff and all others who are similarly situated. The plaintiffs in the suits fi led in Minnesota and Illinois are 
various corporations and individuals who have fi led the suits purportedly on behalf of all direct and indirect purchasers of 
potash from one of the defendants in the United States. The complaint alleges price fi xing violations of the US Sherman Act 
since 1 July 2003. The Company and BPC (Note 9) were listed among the defendants, as well as certain other potash producers.
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29. Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)
 i. Legal proceedings (continued)

The plaintiffs in the suits have not claimed any specifi c amount in damages, and it is premature at this time to assess 
the Group’s potential exposure to the plaintiffs’ claims. The management of the Group believes that these suits have no merit 
and the Group intends to defend its position vigorously. 

At the end of 2009 the Federal Antimonopoly Service (FAS) concluded that the Company violated Clause 1 Part 1 
Article 11 of the Federal Law On Protection of Competition (coordinated actions restricting competition). Basing on this 
conclusion FAS could impose a fi ne on the Company amounting up to RR 311. However the Company believes that conclusion 
of FAS is not valid and intends if necessary to defend its position in the court. The Company estimates the possibility of this 
liability crystallising as “remote” and has not recognised any provision in respect of this risk.

On the basis of its own estimates, as well as both internal and external professional advice, the management is of 
the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of these claims.

ii.  Tax legislation
Russian tax, currency and customs law are subject to varying interpretations and changes, which can occur frequently. 

The management’s interpretation of such laws as applied to the Group’s transactions and activity of the Group may be chal-
lenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. 

The Russian tax authorities may be taking a more aggressive position in their interpretation of the law and assess-
ments, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may now or in the future 
be challenged. This includes them following guidance from the Supreme Arbitration Court for anti-avoidance claims based 
on reviewing the substance and business purposes of the transactions, and it is possible that this will signifi cantly increase 
the level and frequency of scrutiny from the tax authorities. As a result, signifi cant additional taxes, penalties and interest 
may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding 
the year of review. Under certain circumstances, reviews may cover longer periods.

Russian transfer pricing legislation provides the possibility for the tax authorities to make transfer pricing adjust-
ments and impose additional tax liabilities in respect of certain controllable transactions, provided that the tax authorities 
prove that the transaction price established by the parties deviates by more than 20% from the market price. Controllable 
transactions include transactions with interdependent parties under the Russian Tax Code, all cross-border transactions 
(irrespective of whether they are performed between related or unrelated parties), transactions where the price applied 
by a taxpayer deviates by more than 20% from the price applied in similar transactions by the same taxpayer within a short 
period of time. There is no formal guidance as to how these rules should be applied in practice. In the past, arbitration court 
practice in this respect has been contradictory.

Tax liabilities arising from intercompany transactions are determined using actual transaction prices. It is possible, 
with the evolution of the interpretation of transfer pricing rules in the Russian Federation and the changes in the approach 
of the Russian tax authorities, that such transfer prices could potentially be challenged in the future. Given the nature of 
the current Russian transfer pricing rules, the impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be 
signifi cant.

The Group’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that 
the Group’s tax, currency legislation and customs positions will be sustained. Accordingly, as of 31 December 2009 and
31 December 2008, no provision for potential tax liabilities had been recorded. Management will continue to monitor the situ-
ation as legislation and practice evolve in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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29. Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

iii. Insurance policies
The Company generally enters into insurance agreements when it is required by statutory legislation. The insurance 

agreements do not cover the risks of damage to third parties’ property resulting from the Group’s underground activities and 
the risks refl ected in Note 5; therefore, no losses from the fl ooding of Mine 1 are expected to be compensated. 

iv. Environmental matters
The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement posture 

of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its obligations under envi-
ronmental regulations. In the current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that there 
are no signifi cant liabilities for environmental damage due to legal requirements except for those mentioned in Note 5. 
The Company’s mining activities and the recent mine fl ooding may cause subsidence that may affect the Company’s facilities, 
and those of the city of Berezniki, state organisations and others. 

v. Operating environment of the Group
Since October 2008, world mineral fertilizer markets have experienced a slowdown and the Group decided to curtail 

its production of potassium fertilizers in the fourth quarter of 2008 and in 2009. Production volume in 2008 and 2009 were 
at 92% and 52% respectively of the 2007 production level. In July 2009, the Group concluded an agreement with a major 
Indian customer for potash deliveries effective between July 2009 and March 2010. The prices have been set at US$ 460 per 
tonne of potash (the previous price was US$ 625 per tonne effective between May 2008 and March 2009). In December 2009, 
the Group concluded an agreement with two major Chinese customers for potash deliveries effective between January 2010 
and December 2010. The prices have been set at US$ 350 per tonne of potash (the previous price was US$ 560 per tonne 
effective between February 2007 and December 2008)

The availability of external funding in fi nancial markets has signifi cantly reduced. Such circumstances could affect 
the ability of the Group to obtain new borrowings and re-fi nance its existing borrowings at terms and conditions similar to 
those applied to earlier transactions.

The debtors of the Group may also be affected by the tighter liquidity situation which could in turn have an impact on 
their ability to repay amounts owed. Deteriorating operating conditions for customers may also have an impact on the ability 
of management to forecast cash fl ow and assess the impairment of fi nancial and non-fi nancial assets.

The effects of the global fi nancial crisis continued to have a serious effect on the Russian economy in 2009:

lower commodity prices have resulted in lower income from exports and thus lower domestic demand. Russia’s • 
economy contracted in 2009;

the rise in Russian and emerging market risk premiums resulted in a certain increase in fi nancing costs;• 

the offi cial US$ exchange rate of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation increased from RR 29.38 at 31 • 
December 2008 to RR 30.24 at 31 December 2009. At 1 April 2010 the US$ exchange rate was RR 29.50.

The tax, currency and customs legislation within the Russian Federation is subject to varying interpretations and 
frequent changes, and other legal and fi scal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities currently operating 
in the Russian Federation. The future economic direction of the Russian Federation is largely dependent upon the effective-
ness of economic, fi nancial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government, together with tax, legal, regulatory and 
political developments. 

Management is unable to reliably determine the effects on the Group’s future fi nancial position of any further dete-
rioration in the Group’s operating environment as a result of the ongoing crisis. It believes it is taking all necessary measures 
to support the sustainability and growth of the Group’s business in the current circumstances. 
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29. Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

vi. Capital expenditure commitments
As of 31 December 2009 the Group had contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment 

from third parties for RR 5,012 (31 December 2008: RR 6,123).
The Group has already allocated the necessary resources in respect of these commitments. The Group believes that 

future net income and funding will be suffi cient to cover these and any similar such commitments.

vii. Guarantees 
Guarantees are irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that another party cannot 

meet its obligations. As of 31 December 2009 the Group issued guarantees in favour of third parties in the amount of RR 3     
(31 December 2008: RR 9).

Financial risk management30. 
30.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value inter-
est rate risk, cash fl ow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Overall risk management procedures 
adopted by the Group focus on the unpredictability of fi nancial and commodity markets and seek to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s fi nancial performance. 

 (a) Market risk
 (i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated 
in a currency that is different from the functional currency of the companies of the Group.

The Group operates internationally and exports approximately 76% of potash fertilizers produced. As a result 
the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. Export sales are denominated in 
a hard currency, namely in US$ or Euro. The Group maintains a balance between US$ and Euro sales in order to mitigate 
the risk of US$/Euro exchange rate fl uctuations. The Company is exposed to the risk of RR/US$ and RR/Euro exchange 
rates fl uctuations: however the Company is currently benefi ting from weak exchange rate of the Rouble against the US$ and 
Euro, since all the Company’s major expenses are denominated in Roubles. 

As of 31 December 2009, if the RR had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US$ and Euro with all other 
variables held constant, the post-tax profi t for the year would have been RR 722 lower/higher (31 December 2008: RR 381 
lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on the translation of US$ and Euro denominated trade 
receivables, cash in bank, deposits and foreign exchange losses/gains on the translation of US$ denominated borrowings.

 (ii) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk, since the Group does not enter in any operations with fi nancial 

instruments whose value is exposed to the value of commodities traded on the public market. 

 (iii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash fl ows are exposed to market interest rates changes. The Group is exposed 

to fair value interest rate risk through market value fl uctuations of interest bearing short- and long-term borrowings, whose 
interest rates comprise a fi xed component. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash fl ow interest rate risk 
(Note 16). The Group has interest-bearing assets which are at fi xed interest rates (Note 13). 

The objective of managing interest rate risk is to prevent losses due to adverse changes in market interest rate level.  
The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 
refi nancing, the renewal of existing positions and alternative fi nancing.
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30. Financial risk management (continued)
30.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
 (a) Market risk (continued)
 (iii) Interest rate risk (continued)

As of 31 December 2009, if Libor rates on US$ denominated borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with 
all other variables held constant, post-tax profi t for the year would have been RR 130 (31 December 2008: RR 96) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on fl oating rate borrowings. 

 (b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties to transactions may default on their obligations, causing 

fi nancial losses for the Group. The objective of managing credit risk is to prevent losses of liquid funds deposited with or 
invested in such counterparties. Financial assets, which potentially subject Group entities to credit risk, consist primarily of 
trade receivables, cash and bank deposits. The maximum exposure to credit risk resulting from fi nancial assets is equal to 
the carrying amount of the Group’s fi nancial assets – RR 9,783 (31 December 2008: RR 23,409).

The Group is exposed to concentrations of credit risk. As of 31 December 2009 the Group had two counterparties 
(31 December 2008: nine counterparties) with aggregated receivables balances above RR 100. The total aggregate amount of 
these balances was RR 448 (31 December 2008: RR 2,856) or 24% of the gross amount of the trade and other receivables (31 
December 2008: 72%). Cash and short-term deposits are placed in banks and fi nancial institutions, which are considered at 
the time of deposit to have minimal risk of default. The Group has no other signifi cant concentrations of credit risk.

Trade receivables are subject to a policy of active credit risk management which focuses on an assessment of ongoing 
credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures. The objective of the management of trade receivables is to sustain 
the growth and profi tability of the Group by optimising asset utilisation while at the same time maintaining risk at an accept-
able level. 

The effective monitoring and controlling of credit risk is performed by the Group’s corporate treasury function. 
The credit quality of each new customer is analysed before the Group enters into contractual agreements. The credit quality 
of customers is assessed taking into account their fi nancial position, past experience, country of origin and other factors. 
The management believes that the country of origin is one of the major factors affecting a customer’s credit quality and makes 
a corresponding analysis (Note 12). Most customers from developing countries are supplied on secured payment terms. 

These terms include deliveries against opened letters of credit and arrangements with banks on non-recourse dis-
counting of promissory notes received from customers. Only customers from developed countries with a high reputation are 
supplied on a credit basis.

Although the collection of receivables could be infl uenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no 
signifi cant risk of loss to the Group beyond the provision already recorded (Note 12).

The table below shows the credit quality of cash, cash equivalents and letters of credit balances on the balance sheet 
date, based on the credit ratings of independent agency Moody’s Investor Services (for the cash balances held on accounts in 
Russia the locally tailored ratings are used) as of 31 December 2009 and 2008:

Rating 2009 2008

Aa3 3,407 8,679
A1 902 1,666
Aaa.ru 891 -
Baa2.ru 793 -
B1 393 -
Aa2 165 -
B3.ru - 1,672
Baa.1 - 5,818
Ba1 - 580
Unrated* 27 1,272

Total 6,578 19,687

* Unrated balance contains cash on hand and other cash equivalents.
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30. Financial risk management (continued)
30.1 Financial risk factors  (continued)

 (c) Liquidity risk
In accordance with prudent liquidity risk management, the management of the Group aims to maintain suffi cient 

cash in order to meet its obligations. Group treasury aims to maintain suffi cient level of liquidity based on monthly cash fl ow 
budgets, which are prepared for the year ahead and continuously updated during the year. 

Liquidity risk is defi ned as the risk that an entity will encounter diffi culty in meeting obligations associated with 
fi nancial liabilities.

The table below analyses the Group’s fi nancial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the time remaining 
from the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash fl ows at spot rates. 

Note Less than 1 year Between 2 and 5 years Over 5 years

As of 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables 17 1,758 - -

Borrowings 6,071 8,166 -

Finance leasing 16 49 196 2,157

As of 31 December 2008

Trade and other payables 17 3,208 - -
Borrowings 5,344 10,190 -

Finance leasing 16 38 152 1,447

30.2  Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure in order 
to reduce the cost of capital. The Group considers total capital to be total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of 
fi nancial position.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on a debt to equity ratio basis. This ratio is calcu-
lated as the sum of long- and short-term bank borrowings divided by total equity. 

The debt to equity ratios as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 were as follows:

31 December 2009 31 December 2008 

Total bank borrowings (Note 16) 13,463 13,987

Total equity 43,715 34,620
Debt to equity ratio 31% 40%

As of 31 December 2009 management has set a level of 30% debt to equity ratio as a strategic goal. 
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Fair value of fi nancial instruments31. 
Fair value is the amount at which a fi nancial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 

parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active quoted market price.
The estimated fair values of fi nancial instruments have been determined by the Group using available market infor-

mation, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to interpret 
market data to determine the estimated fair value. The Russian Federation continues to display some characteristics of an 
emerging market and economic conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the fi nancial markets. Market quota-
tions may be outdated or refl ect distress sale transactions, and therefore not represent fair values of fi nancial instruments. 
Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of fi nancial instruments.

Financial instruments carried at fair value. Trading and available-for-sale investments are carried on the consolidated 
statement of fi nancial position at their fair value. 

Fair values were determined based on quoted market prices, except for certain investment securities available for 
sale for which there were no available external independent market price quotations. These securities have been fair valued 
by the Group on the basis of the results of recent sales of equity interests in the investees between unrelated third parties, 
consideration of other relevant information such as discounted cash fl ows and fi nancial data of the investees and application 
of other valuation methodologies. Valuation techniques required certain assumptions that were not supported by observable 
market data. Changing any such used assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would not result in signifi cantly differ-
ent profi t, income, total assets or total liabilities. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost. The fair value of fl oating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. 
The estimated fair value of fi xed interest rate instruments is based on estimated future cash fl ows expected to be received 
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. Discount rates used 
depend on the credit risk of the counterparty. Carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate fair values. Cash and cash 
equivalents are carried at amortised cost which approximates current fair value.

Liabilities carried at amortised cost. The fair value is based on quoted market prices, if available. The estimated fair 
value of fi xed interest rate instruments with stated maturity, for which a quoted market price is not available, was estimated 
based on expected cash fl ows discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining 
maturity. The fair value of liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period (“demandable liabilities”) is estimated as 
the amount payable on demand, discounted from the fi rst date that the amount could be required to be paid. Estimated fair 
values of borrowings are presented in Note 16. 
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Uralkali’s employees are the Company’s main asset and the foundation for its 
future growth. The successful realization of the Company’s projects depends on 
experts capable of managing challenging tasks. There has for many years been 
a shortage of high-quality personnel for the industrial sector. The Company 
is therefore aware of the need to offer its staff adequate rewards in terms of 
compensation, as well as good career prospects and a comfortable work environ-
ment and living conditions.

 Staff training and development 
In 2009, 3,272 managers and professionals, as well as 1,982 workers, 

received training through various programmes of vocational education and 
refresher courses. A total of 86 employees are now receiving vocational training 
and specialist higher education, and 25 managers completed two-year MBA 
courses. The total cost of staff training in 2009 was 45.4 million rubles.

  Management and staff reserve 
development 
A management and line staff reserve – a group of employees with the 

knowledge and training to cover the responsibilities of other members of staff 
if required – was formed at Uralkali early in 2009. In contrast to previous years 
an integrated approach was adopted, aimed at improving the management of 
the Company as a whole. The programme started in the summer of 2009 and 
involved professionals at all levels: top and mid-level managers as well as lower 
level reserve positions. This approach helps to improve overall management of 
the Company. The programme currently involves 253 of Uralkali’s employees. 
It is scheduled for two years and is run in conjunction with the International 
Management Institute of St. Petersburg. 

Corporate and Social 
Responsibility
Employees
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 Cause of accident 2009

Traffi c rules violations 3

Safety rules violations when operating a transport vehicle 3

Unsatisfactory organization of production process 1

Personal negligence 5

Other 5

TOTAL: 17

The production of potash fertilizer is a complex engineering process which 
requires stringent safety measures at each of Uralkali’s production facilities. 
Industrial safety, labour protection and fi re fi ghting systems are installed and 
in operation at all of Uralkali’s facilities. Workplace inspections are conducted 
every year on a regular basis, and personnel are trained and certifi ed in the 
rules and norms of industrial safety. All of this helps to maintain a high level of 
operational safety.  

Uralkali is constantly improving its industrial safety systems and invests 
heavily in programmes of labour protection, increasing the amount invested 
every year. The Company’s investment in labour safety rose from 98.6 million 
rubles in 2007 to 107.2 million rubles in 2008 and 267.4 million rubles in 2009.

These measures have been highly effective, and have resulted in a steady 
decline in the number of accidents over the last few years. Over the period from 
1999 to 2009 the number of accidents fell by three quarters. 

In 2009, there were a total of 17 injuries throughout Uralkali’s operations, 
three fewer than in 2008. No accidents were recorded at either Production Unit 1 
(BKPRU-1) or in the Power Division of Uralkali in 2009.

Work continued during 2009 to improve and expand the monitoring of 
employees’ observation of industrial safety requirements at hazardous locations 
throughout the production chain. Over 500 employees have completed training 
at accredited training centres and are certifi ed in industrial safety and labour 
protection.

Labour Protection and 
Industrial Safety 
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As a good corporate citizen Uralkali is doing its best to protect the environment 
and minimize the potential negative effects from production. Every year the 
Company prepares and implements a programme of measures to protect the 
environment. Sixteen such measures were introduced during the course of 
2009, aimed at protecting the atmosphere and water basin, improving waste 
disposal and encouraging staff to protect the environment. The Company 
allocated some 316 million rubles for the programme, 25 million rubles more 
than originally planned.

In 2009 over 1,100 Uralkali employees received training in Environmental 
Safety. Members of Staff are trained every year in quality management, 
ecological management, industrial ecology, and environmental protection law. 
Uralkali is advised by the leading research institutes of Perm and St. Petersburg 
on environmental issues. Over 8 million rubles were paid for their services in 
2009.

 Protection of ambient air 
A Binder-produced drying unit, using gas instead of fuel oil, was 

installed and commissioned at Production Unit 3 during 2009. This resulted in 
a sharp reduction of sulphur dioxide emissions. 

Equipment was replaced in the drying section of the Production Unit 4 
plant, removing the atmosphere brine effect. 

The possible negative environmental effects of solid domestic waste 
were studied at a temporary disposal fi eld. No harmful effects were found.

 Water Protection
Around 9 million rubles was spent on geological and hydrological 

studies in 2009. Throughout the year, experts from the UrO RAN Mining 
Institute continued to study the effects of the production facilities on the water 
environment. In addition, measures were introduced to upgrade existing 
biological water cleaning facilities at Production Units 2 and 3 (BKPRU-2 
and 3).

 Land protection 
Soils were monitored in sanitary protection zones at Uralkali’s 

operation divisions in 2009 by experts from the inter-regional laboratory centre 
of technical measurement analysis. They found no signifi cant harmful effects 
caused by the typical agents used in potash production.

 Waste utilization 
The Company is working to minimize surface storage of production 

waste. In 2009, potassium chloride solution of halite wastes at Production Unit 1 

Air pollution levels at Uralkali 
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(BKPRU-1) reduced surface storage by almost 700,000 tonnes. In addition, over 
110,000 tonnes of clay-salt mud was deposited underground at Mine 4.

The Company has done much work in 2009 to utilize 1-3 class hazard 
wastes. Scores of used rail slippers, mercury-containing power elements, used 
tires and indicator tubes were submitted for disposal. The cost of these measures 
amounted to 3 million rubles.

Social Programmes
In spite of the global economic downturn, Uralkali continued with major social 
programmes for its staff throughout 2009, allocating around 250 million rubles 
for this purpose. Uralkali also continued its social programmes for the city 
of Perm. The total expenditure on corporate and urban social programmes 
exceeded 630 million rubles in 2009.

Uralkali aims to be the most attractive employer in the regional labour 
market and provides additional benefi ts and social provisions to its staff and 
their families. The Company believes that providing assistance and support to 
staff and helping them resolve day-to-day issues results in improved effi ciency 
and productivity.

 Corporate Meals 
In 2009 Uralkali continued to provide corporate catering for staff. 

Canteens at the second and third Production Units re-opened after repairs. 
In addition to the system of offsetting meal costs, employees were given the 
opportunity to make non-cash payment for meals from September. Under 
this system, meal costs are deducted from an employee’s salary at the end of 
the month. The number of staff using corporate canteens and other catering 
services grew in 2008-2009 by almost 20%. Over 50 million rubles went into 
catering in 2009, an increase of 30% from 2008. 

 Housing
Due to the diffi cult economic situation, Uralkali stopped recruiting 

new participants for its housing programme in 2009, which covers employees’ 
mortgage interest payments. At the same time the Company met its current 
obligations to the 262 employees in the programme, spending over 18 million 
rubles  on mortgage interest payments in 2009. Over 700 employees are currently 
on the waiting list to receive improved accommodation.
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  Health Care
Uralkali employees have access to medical services both under the state’s 

Obligatory Medical Insurance (OMI) scheme, and the Company’s voluntary 
medical insurance (VMI). Under the VMI programme employees are served 
at a corporate medical centre (Uralkali-Med Polyclinic, JSC) on an ad-hoc 
basis, including vaccinations as required and preventive medical treatments to 
protect against possible work-related conditions. In 2009, 169 employees were 
reimbursed for the cost of expensive treatment and medicine. Uralkali spent a 
total of 26 million rubles on voluntary medical services in 2009.

 Health rehabilitation 
In 2009, 154 employees were offered the opportunity to improve their 

health and visit various resorts as part of the corporate programme for staff 
health rehabilitation. The corporate recreation centre was re-opened in 
October. It provided rehabilitation treatments to some 450 employees over the 
course of the year. Over 1000 of the Company’s workforce visited the corporate 
holiday retreat Uralskoye Razdolie during the summer. The Company spent 
some 16 million rubles on these services in 2009, with a further 4 million rubles 
spent by the Social Insurance Fund. 

 Assistance to the Veteran Council 
In 2009, Uralkali continued the implementation of its “Attention and 

Care” programme to support the Company’s retired employees, who make 
up Uralkali’s Veteran Council. The programme includes providing fi nancial 
support to former employees, organizing cultural events, covering the costs of 
sightseeing tours and recreation trips, and providing vouchers for sanatoriums 
and resorts. In autumn 2009, 240 of the Company’s veterans were given 
vouchers for free accommodation at the Uralskoye Razdolie resort for 14 days. 
Their itinerary included standard medical procedures, as well as a variety of 
entertainment events. Uralkali covered all expenses for this trip, at a cost of 
more than 4 million rubles. The Company spent more than 10 million rubles on 
donations to former employees during 2009, with the total cost for the Veteran 
Council programme surpassing 20 million rubles.
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  Corporate Scholarships
In keeping with established tradition, Uralkali awards scholarships and 

bonuses to the best students at the Perm State Technical University (PSTU) and 
its Berezniki Branch (BB PSTU). Based on the results of the fi rst semester of 
the 2008-2009 academic year, a total of 13 students from the two colleges were 
awarded scholarships by Uralkali. The Company also gave awards to the winners 
of the Verkhnekamsky Potash Research Contest. This is the third successive year 
that Uralkali has been granting awards to the best and most talented students 
through its scholarship programme with PSTU and BB PSTU. 

    Education for Children
Uralkali is continuing to invest in education in its host city of 

Berezniki, spending over 10 million rubles in support of Gymnasium No.9 and 
Kindergarten No.88 in 2009.

 Berezniki Social Projects
Uralkali believes that it is extremely important to contribute to the 

development of Berezniki, where the Company’s production facilities are 
located. In 2009 the Company continued to fi nance the “Berezniki Character” 
social fund, which supports various projects in culture, the arts, education and 
sports. The Company also contributes funding to the “Safe City” project, aimed 
at tackling street crime. Uralkali allocated a total of some 110 million rubles to 
those programmes in 2009.

To maintain the established tradition, in 
2009 Uralkali granted scholarships and 
bonuses to the best and most talented 
students of the PSTU 

Uralkali supports the development of 
educational and cultural programmes of 
the home city of Berezniki
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 Corporate Governance Principles
Uralkali is continually striving to improve its system of corporate 

governance in accordance with the leading corporate governance standards 
and the recommendations of the Russian Code of Corporate Conduct.

Further increasing the effi ciency of the Board of Directors and the 
Committees of the Board was a major focus for Uralkali in 2009. The Board 
established a new Investment and Development Committee and dissolved the 
Information Disclosure Committee, which had achieved its aim of building an 
effective system of information disclosure and investor relations at the executive 
management level. 

Adhering to the principles of transparency and full information 
disclosure remains one of Uralkali’s highest priorities. In 2009 the Company’s 
efforts to improve information disclosure were recognized by the investor 
relations community: Uralkali’s 2008 Annual Report won awards from rating 
agency Expert RA, the RTS and MICEX stock exchanges, and Securities Market 
Journal.

In 2009 the Company sought to further improve its internal audit system. 
In particular, the Board of Directors developed and approved a new system of 
risk management. (See also Risk Factors on p. 126).

 Governance Structure
In compliance with the Federal Law on Joint Stock Companies and 

the charter of the Company, the General Meeting of the Shareholders is the 
supreme governing body of Uralkali. The Board of Directors of the Company 
has overall control of its activities and determines its long-term strategy. 
The Company’s executive bodies – the General Director (the Chairman of 
the Management Board) and the Management Board – are responsible for 
management on a daily basis. The Audit Committee oversees the Company’s 
fi nancial and economic activities. Uralkali’s fi nancial statements are assessed 
by an independent auditor.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance 
Principles and Structure
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 General Meeting of the Shareholders 
As the owners of the Company, the shareholders of Uralkali exercise 

their right to participate in managing the Company at the General Meeting of 
the Shareholders.

In 2009 the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders took place on 
30 June. The agenda included:

•    Approval of Uralkali’s 2008 Annual Report and fi nancial statements
•  Distribution of the Company’s profi ts in view of the 2008 results
•  Electing members of Uralkali’s Audit Committee
•    Appointing the independent auditor
•  Electing the members of Uralkali’s Board of Directors 
•  Approving interested-party transactions which may be concluded by 

Uralkali in the course of its day-to-day fi nancial activity (in compliance 
with clause 6, article 83 of the Federal Law on Joint Stock Companies)

 Board of Directors
The Board of Directors exercises overall control over the Company’s 

activities. Its key priorities include ensuring the long-term sound development 
of the Company in accordance with the interests of the stakeholders, overseeing 
the activities of the Company’s governing bodies, rigorously observing and 
protecting the rights and interests of shareholders, and enterprise-wide 
management succession planning.

The Board of Directors is constantly seeking to improve its effectiveness. 
This includes working to achieve the optimal balance of professional knowledge 
and skills in the Board, as well as a balance between executive, non-executive and 
independent directors.

General Meeting of the Shareholders

Board of Directors

Management Board Employee and 
Remuneration Committee

Investment and 
Development Committee

Audit Committee

President Director GeneralIInternal Audit

Note

I. As per the decision of the Board of Directors dated 29 April 2010 Denis Morozov, who has been in the post of President 
and acting CEO since 1 February 2010, will appointed Director General as of 1 July 2010.
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In compliance with global corporate governance practices and the 
recommendations of the Code of Corporate Conduct developed by the Federal 
Commission of the Securities Markets of Russia, independent directors 
are elected to Uralkali’s Board of Directors. The criteria of independence 
for members of the Board of Directors are set out in Uralkali’s corporate 
documentation and comply with the best international practice.

Uralkali’s Board of Directors has nine members, of which three are 
independent directors and a further three are non-executive directors. All 
committees of the Board of Directors are headed by non-executive directors, 
and the Audit Committee by the independent director. The majority of members 
in each committee are independent and non-executive directors.

The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the General 
Meeting of the Shareholders for a one-year term, until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Shareholders. Members of the Board of Directors are elected 
through cumulative voting.

Name Position Number 
of years served 

as a member 
of the Board

Independent / 
Executive

Audit 
Committee

Employee and 
Remuneration 

Committee

Investment and 
Development 

Committee

Information 
Disclosure 

CommitteeI 

D. Rybolovlev Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

15 Executive – 
ultimately 

controls
the Group

+

M. Antonov Member of the 
Board of Directors

Elected 30 
June 2009

Executive + Chairman

V. Baumgertner Member of the 
Board of Directors

5 Executive +

Yu. Gavrilov Member of the 
Board of Directors 

9 Non-executive + +

A. Konogorov Member of the 
Board of Directors

7 Non-executive + Chairman +

K. Marchuk Member of the 
Board of Directors

2 Non-executive + + Chairman

V. Ruga Member of the 
Board of Directors

1 Independent + +

H.J. Horn Member of the 
Board of Directors

1  Independent Chairman 

I. Yuzhanov Member of the 
Board of Directors

3 Independent +

Note

I. By the resolution of the Board of Directors of Uralkali (proceedings № 225 of 7 October 2009), the Information Disclosure 
Committee was dissolved.
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The quorum for the meeting of the Board of Directors is considered 
secured when fi ve elected members of the Board of Directors are present. 
Decisions at the meetings of the Board of Directors are made by a majority 
vote of the members taking part in the meeting and/or having expressed their 
opinion in written form, unless it is otherwise stipulated by the Federal Law on 
Joint Stock Companies and the charter of the Company. All the decisions which 
were made at the meetings of the Board of Directors in 2009 were approved by 
the majority of the elected members of the Board.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected from and by the 
members of the Board through a majority vote. The Chairman of the Board of 
Directors is responsible for organizing the work of the Board, convening and 
presiding at Board meetings and ensuring that meeting minutes are taken.

  The Board of Directors’ Activity in 2009 
There were 16 meetings of Uralkali’s Board of Directors in 2009, of 

which eight were held in person.

During 2009, the Board of Directors focused its efforts on examining 
strategic programmes and development plans, improving the effectiveness 
of internal audit and risk management systems, overseeing the activities 
of subsidiaries and joint ventures, and developing the Company’s system 
of corporate governance. It also dealt with other matters within its remit, 
including:

•  Electing the Chairman of the Board of Directors and his deputy, 
appointing the Secretary of the Board of Directors, and forming the 
Committees of the Board of Directors

•  Determining the size and composition of the Management Board, 
appointing the Company’s senior management

•  Calling and conducting the Annual General Meeting of the 
Shareholders for consideration of 2008 results

•  Approval of interested-party transactions
•  Approval of fi nancial statements
•  Approval and adjustment of the budget
The most important matters are always discussed at Board meetings 

in person.
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AttendanceI

Board of Directors Audit Committee Employee and 
Remuneration 

Committee

Investment and 
Development 

Committee

D. Rybolovlev 12 (16) 1 (3)

M. Antonov  7 (7) 1 (1) 1 (1)

V. Baumgertner 12 (16) 1 (1)

Yu. Gavrilov 14 (16) 5 (5) 1 (1) 1 (1)

A. Konogorov 16 (16) 2 (2) 2 (3) 1 (1)

K. Marchuk 15 (16) 1 (1) 1 (1) 1 (1)

V. Ruga 15 (16) 0 (1)

Hans Jochum Horn 12 (16) 6 (6)

I. Yuzhanov 15 (16) 5 (6) 2 (2)

With the aim of improving corporate governance and board effectiveness, 
the Board approved changes to the Code of Corporate Governance in February 
2010, and undertook an assessment of the activities of the Board of Directors.

This assessment involved a face-to-face meeting of the Board where 
the results of the Board’s work were analyzed, and possible ways to improve 
effectiveness discussed.

 Committees of the Board of Directors
Committees of the Board of Directors assist the Board in undertaking 

preliminary consideration of important questions and developing 
recommendations. The following Committees are constantly in operation:

•  Audit Committee
•  Employee and Remuneration Committee
•  Investment and Development Committee
Membership of these committees is drawn from the active members of 

the Board of Directors, taking into account the professional background of the 
Board members as well as the independence criteria.

Note

I. The number on the left indicates the number of meetings attended by the Board member; the number in brackets 
indicates the total number of meetings that the member could have attended as a member of the Board / Committee.
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 Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of four member of the Board of Directors: 

Hans Jochum Horn (Chairman), A. Konogorov, K. Marchuk, and I. Yuzhanov. 
Two members of the Audit Committee are independent, one of whom is the 
Chairman of the Committee, while the other two members are non-executive 
directors.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assessing candidates 
for the position of auditor, assessing the independence and quality of the audit 
report, overseeing the effectiveness of internal audit and risk management 
systems, and monitoring the activity of the internal auditor of the Company.

In 2009 the Committee focused its efforts on increasing the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal audit function and improving its system of risk 
management. The internal audit function is managed by the Internal Audit 
Board, which consists of ten members. The Internal Audit Board is subordinate 
to the Audit Committee.

  Employee and Remuneration Committee
The Employee and Remuneration Committee consists of four members 

of the Board of Directors: A. Konogorov (Chairman), K. Marchuk, V. Ruga, 
and D. Rybolovlev. One of the Committee members is independent, while two, 
including the Chairman of the Committee, are non-executive directors.

The Employee and Remuneration Committee is responsible 
fi rst and foremost for ensuring that the Company is managed by highly-
qualifi ed professionals. This involves succession planning and developing 
recommendations on personnel, remuneration, and social policy.

The Committee’s highest priority in 2009 was further developing the 
assessment and remuneration system for Uralkali’s top management.

  Investment and Development Committee
The Investment and Development Committee consists of fi ve elected 

members of the Board of Directors: K. Marchuk (Chairman), M. Antonov, 
V. Baumgertner, Yu. Gavrilov, and A. Konogorov. Three members of the 
Committee are non-executive directors, including the Chairman of the 
Committee.

The main responsibilities of the Committee include determining 
investment and development priorities, analyzing long-term development 
plans, setting budgets, reviewing fi nancial performance, undertaking 
preliminary consideration of the Company’s key investment projects, and 
making recommendations to the Board of Directors.
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 Governing Bodies
The General Director and the Management Board are responsible for 

day-to-day management of the Company. The General Director is a member 
of the Management Board.

The rights and duties of the General Director and the members of 
the Management Board in exercising day-to-day control over the Company 
are governed by federal law, the Company charter, and internal regulatory 
policies. The members of the Management Board are appointed for the same 
term as the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has the right to change 
the composition of the Management Board as well as cease the powers of the 
General Director before the end of the term.

There are certain matters, falling under the jurisdiction of the Board 
of Directors, that lie outside the authority of the Management Board and 
General Director. The Management Board and the General Director are 
responsible for overseeing the implementation of the decisions of the General 
Meeting of the Shareholders and the Board of Directors.
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Management Board as of December 31, 2009 I

Name Position CVII Meeting 
AttendanceIII

Vladislav 
Baumgertner

General Director, 
Chairman of the 
Management Board

General Director and Chairman of the Management Board since 2005, 
Member of the Board of Directors since 2004. Vladislav Baumgertner was 
born in 1972. He graduated from Ural State Technical University in 1994 with 
a degree in Electrical Engineering and Power Plants, subsequently earning 
an MBA from Kingston Business School in 2000 and an MSc in Financial 
Management from the University of London in 2003. He is a member of the 
Investment and Development Committee.

10 (10)

Mikhail Antonov Vice-President for 
Strategic Development

Member of the Management Board and the Board of Directors since 2009, 
Vice-President for Strategic Development since 2008, Acting President since 
July 2009. Mikhail Antonov was born in 1966. He graduated from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University in 1988 with a degree in Economics and Computer 
Science, and subsequently earned a PhD in Economics. He is a member of the 
Investment and Development Committee of the Board of Directors.

2 (5)IV 

Viktor Belyakov Deputy General Director, 
Director for Economics 
and Finance

Member of the Management Board since 2007, Director for Economics and 
Finance since 2007, and Deputy General Director since 2008. Viktor Belyakov 
was born in 1973. He has been awarded degrees in Economics (1997) and 
Computer Science (1995) from Tver State Technical University, and also holds 
a CMA (Certifi ed Management Accountant) certifi cate and an MBA from 
Kingston Business School.

10 (10)

Sergey Diakov Deputy General Director Member of the Management Board since 2002, Deputy General Director since 
2006. Sergey Diakov was born in 1956. He graduated from Perm Polytechnic 
Institute in 1978 with a degree in Automation and Electrifi cation of Mining 
Works. 

9 (10)

Elena Samsonova HR Director Member of the Management Board since 2004, HR Director since 2004. Elena 
Samsonova was born in 1976. She graduated from Perm State University in 1998 
with a degree in English Philology, before earning a Master of Management 
degree from Durham University Business School in 2000. 

9 (10)

Marina Shvetsova Director of Legal and 
Corporate Matters

Member of Management Board since 2005, Director of Legal and Corporate 
Matters since 2006. Marina Shvetsova was born in 1972. In 1994 she graduated 
from Perm State University with a degree in Law. 

9 (10)

Vladislav Baumgertner has been the Chairman of Uralkali’s Mana-
gement Board since 2005. 

At present the Management Board of Uralkali consists of six people.

Notes

I.  The current Management Board was appointed by the Board of Directors of Uralkali on 12 August 2009. As of 1 January 
2009, before the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders was held on 30 June , 2009, the Management Board included 
V. Baumgertner (Chairman), A. Alexandrov, V. Belyakov, S. Durnovtsev, S. Diakov, I. Zaytseva, A. Kleiman, E. Koridorov, 
E. Samsonova, V. Shanin, M. Shvetsova, I. Yamilova.
II.  Place of employment and work status of the persons are quoted as of 31 December 2009.
III.   The total number of the Management Board meetings held is indicated in brackets. 
IV.   Mikhail Antonov was fi rst elected Member of the Management Board on 12 August 2009. Five meetings were held in 
between the beginning of 2009 and the time of electing new Management Board.
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  Management Board Activities in 2009
The main issues dealt with by the Management Board in 2009 were:
•  Reviewing Uralkali’s budgets
•  Approving local regulatory acts of the Company
•  Reviewing compensation for senior managers
•  Reviewing the risk management system

 Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is an internal body which oversees the Company’s 

fi nancial and economic activities. It is responsible for ensuring that Company 
activities are aligned with shareholder interests and comply with federal law, 
and that fi nancial statements accurately represent the Company’s fi nancial 
position. 
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 Remuneration of the members of the 
governing bodies

14,464,400 rubles were paid to the members of the Board of Directors for 
their service as Board Committee Members, in accordance with the decision of 
the 2008 Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Uralkali.

Members of the Board of 
Directors 

Remuneration

A. Konogorov 3,616,100 RUR

V. Ruga 3,616,100 RUR

Hans Jochum Horn 3,616,100 RUR

I. Yuzhanov 3,616,100 RUR

Executive directors are not remunerated for their service on the Board 
of Directors.

The decision as to the size of the compensation to be paid to the members 
of the Board of Directors of Uralkali for 2009 will be taken at the 2010 Annual 
General Meeting of JSC “Uralkali”. 

The total remuneration paid to the General Director, members of the 
Management Board and the Board of Directors following the 2009 results was 
202,457,010 rubles.

Director shareholdings (as of December 31, 2009)
Name Position Number of shares, 

as of 1 January 2009
% of authorized share 

capital as
 of 1 January  2009

Number of shares, as of 
31 December 2009

% of authorized 
share capital as of 
31 December 2009

S. Diakov Deputy General 
Director 

3,171,000 0.15 3,171,000 0.15

Total members of the Board of Directors 
and Management Board

3,171,000 0.15 3,171,000 0.15
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Board of Directors I, II 

Notes

I. Place of employment and work status of the persons are quoted as of 31 December 2009.
II. The composition of the Board of Directors was reapproved by a resolution adopted at the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting on June 30, 2009. The Board of Directors, approved in June 2008, included: D. Rybolovlev (Chairman), V. Baumgertner, 
Yu. Gavrilov, A. Konogorov, A. Lebedev, K. Marchuk, V. Ruga, Hans J. Horn, I. Yushanov.
The members of Uralkali’s Board of Directors do not own the company’s shares.

Dmitry Rybolovlev
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors since 1996.
Dmitry Rybolovlev was 
born in 1966. He graduated 
from the Perm Medical 
Institute with a degree in 
General Medicine. Dmitry 
Rybolovlev is a member of 

Uralkali’s Employee and Remuneration Committee. 
He is a member of the board of the Russian Union 
of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, a non-profi t 
organization which promotes the interests of Russian 
businesses.

Andrey Konogorov
Member of the Board of 
Directors in 1996–1998, 
2000–2004, and since 2008, 
Advisor to the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors since 
October 2009.
Andrey Konogorov was born 
in 1964. He graduated from 

Perm Polytechnic Institute in 1986 with a degree in 
Mining Engineering, and in 2003 was awarded a degree 
in Strategic Management and Business by the Academy 
of National Economy under the Government of the 
Russian Federation.
Mr Konogorov is a member of Uralkali’s Employee 
and Remuneration Committee, and is a member of the 
Audit Committee and Investment and Development 
Committee.

Vladislav Baumgertner
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2004, Director 
General and Chairman of 
the Management Board since 
2005.
Vladislav Baumgertner 
was born in 1972. He 
graduated from Ural State 

Technical University in 1994 with a degree in Electrical 
Engineering and Power Plants, subsequently earning 
an MBA from Kingston Business School in 2000 and an 
MSc in Financial Management from the University of 
London in 2003. He is a member of the Investment and 
Development Committee.

Mikhail Antonov 
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2009, Vice 
President for Strategic 
Development since 2008, 
Acting President in July 2009 – 
February 2010. 
Mikhail Antonov was born 
in 1966. He graduated from 

Lomonosov Moscow State University in 1988 with 
a degree in Economics and Computer Science, and 
subsequently earned a PhD in Economics. 
He is a member of the Investment and Development 
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Yury Gavrilov
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2000.
Yury Gavrilov was born in 
1969. He holds a degree in 
Mechanical Engineering and 
Research from Perm State 
Technical University.
Mr Gavrilov is a member of 

Uralkali’s Investment and Development Committee. 
Since 1999 he has served as General Director of the 
investment company Finansovy Dom.

Kuzma Marchuk
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2007, Vice 
President for Finance (CFO) 
2004–2009.
Kuzma Marchuk was born 
in 1973. He graduated from 
Plekhanov Russian Academy 
of Economics in 1995 with a 

degree in Foreign Economic Activities of Enterprises 
and Organizations, and received a degree in Physics 
from Lomonosov Moscow State University in 1996.
He is a member of the Investment and Development 
Committee, and is a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Employee and Remuneration Committee. 

Vladimir Ruga
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2008.
Vladimir Ruga was born in 
1970. He graduated from 
Moscow State Pedagogical 
University with a degree in 
history in 1993.
Vladimir Ruga is a member of 

Uralkali’s Employee and Remuneration Committee. 
Since 2003 he has served as Vice President for Media and 
Public Relations at TNK-BP.

Hans Jochum Horn
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2008.
Hans Jochum Horn was born 
in 1948. He earned a degree in 
commerce from the University 
of Mannheim in 1974, and 
in 1977 graduated from 
Bergen University as a State 

Authorized Public Accountant in 1977.
Hans Jochum Horn is a member of Uralkali’s Audit 
Committee.
From 2005 to February 2009 he was Managing Director 
and the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Renaissance Group. Since February 2009, he has been 
Deputy Chief Executive Offi cer of Renaissance Group.

 Ilya Yuzhanov
Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2006.
Ilya Yuzhanov was born in 
1960. He graduated from the 
Zhdanov Leningrad State 
University with a degree 
in Economics in 1982 and 
subsequently earned a PhD 

in Economics. Mr Yuzhanov is a member of Uralkali’s 
Audit Committee. 
He has been a member of the Supervisory Board of 
Nomos-Bank since 2004, and since 2009 has served on 
the Supervisory Board of AK Alrosa. He has served as the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Polymetal since 
2008, and since 2009 has held the position of Managing 
Director at Deutsche Bank.
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Information for Shareholders 
and Investors
 
Uralkali securities are listed and traded on LSE, RTS and MICEX stock 
exchanges. The Company strictly observes the Federal Law on Joint Stock 
Companies as well as the rules governing companies listed on the Russian and 
London Stock Exchanges.

Uralkali discloses all relevant information to shareholders and investors 
in full and in a timely fashion.

 Ordinary shares
The authorized capital of Uralkali is 1,062,195,000I rubles, divided 

into 2,124,390,000 registered ordinary shares with a par value of 50 kopeks per 
share.

A 2004 directive of the Federal Commission for the Securities Market 
of Russia No. 04-81/r united the additional issues of Uralkali securities. As a 
result, issues of registered ordinary uncertifi cated shares were assigned the 
state registration number 1 01 00296-A.

As of January 1, 2009, there were 9,881 holders of recordII in Uralkali’s 
shareholder register. As of December 31, 2009, there were 9,872 holders of 
record.

 Global Depository Receipts (GDRs)
GDRs are issued in respect of ordinary shares in Uralkali as follows: 

5 registered ordinary shares = 1 GDR. Global Depository Receipts are listed and 
traded on London Stock Exchange (LSE).

Securities traded on the stock exchanges (LSE, MICEX and RTS) are 
fungible - ordinary shares may converted into GDRs and vice versa. 

As of 31 December 2009, GDRs traded on the LSE amounted to 19% of 
the authorized capital of the Company. The depository is Bank of New York — 
see contacts on p. 125.

 Trading fl oors of Uralkali’s shares
As of 31 December 2009, Uralkali’s ordinary shares and GDRs are traded 

on the following trading fl oors: LSE, MICEX and RTS.

Notes

I.  Uralkali’s 2009 fi nancial statement, prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Standards (Balance Sheet, line 410).
II.  The term “holders of record” encompasses both registered shareholders of the company and nominee shareholders.
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Ticker code

RTS URKA, URKAG, URKAS

MICEX URKA 

LSE URKA 

CUSIP:

 – Regulation S GDRs 91688E206

 – Rule 144A GDRs 91688E107

ISIN: 

 – Regulation S GDRs US91688E2063

 – Rule 144A GDRs US91688E1073
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Share price performance 
on the LSE, 2009

The Bank 
of New York

19.0%I

65.6%II

Legal entities
and individuals
15.3%

Madura
Holding
Limited

Equity structure, 31 December 2009

RTS: trading in ordinary shares URKA (market transactions)
2009 2008

Maximum 150.0 379.9 

Minimum 36.0 28.0 

Volume-Weighted Average Price at the end 
of the year (the date of the latest transaction)

125.1 53.1 

Annual number of transactions 278 745

Trading Volume (mln RUR) 109.6 105.0 

(RUR)

MICEX: trading in ordinary shares URKA (market transactions)
2009 2008

Maximum 156.9 386.0

Minimum 34.3 21.5 

Volume-Weighted Average Price at the end of the 
year (the date of the latest transaction)

125.5 53.1 

Annual number of transactions 2,404,176 1,073,372

Trading Volume (mln RUR) 123,430.8 46,257.5

(RUR)

LSE: trading in GDR URKA
2009 2008

Maximum 26.5 80.0

Minimum 4.2 3.3

Price at the end of the year 21.0 8.9

Trading Volume (mln US$) 4,278.9 9,411.7

(US$)

 

Notes

I. Holds shares as a depositary of Global 
Depositary Receipts (GDRs). GDRs are issued in 
respect of ordinary shares in Uralkali as follows: 
5 registered ordinary shares = 1 GDR. 
II. As of April 29, 2010, the stake of Madura 
Holding Limited in Uralkali’s equity capital 
decreased to 63.2 % shares.
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Dividends
 Taxation 

Dividend payments in Russia are taxed at 9% for domestic shareholders, 
both individuals and corporate entities, and 15% for overseas investors. In case 
when a double taxation treaty is applied, the tax payable is determined by 
reference to this agreement.

Potential and existing investors in Uralkali shares, including GDRs, are 
advised to consult their investment advisors on tax implications.

 Dividend Policy 
Dividend payment is subject to Russian federal law.
Dividends are paid from Uralkali’s net profi t (profi t after tax), which is 

determined based on its accounting statements. In accordance with the Federal 
Law on Joint Stock Companies, the Company charter and the Regulation on 
Dividend Policy, the Company is entitled to decide on the full-year dividend, 
as well as quarterly dividends at three, six and nine months. Decisions on 
the payment and size of dividends are made by the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. However, the dividend amount may not exceed the amount 
recommended by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Uralkali’s dividend policy stipulates that dividend payments should 
amount to at least 15 percent of net profi t, determined on the basis of the 
Company’s fi nancial statements for the corresponding period. At the same time, 
Uralkali draws shareholders’ attention to the fact that setting dividend payments 
is a right, and not an obligation, of the Company.

Dividends per share
Period Date of decision on 

dividend payment
Dividend per ordinary 

share/ one GDR, 
RUR

Accrued dividends, 
RUR in thousands

Dividend payout ratio 
(dividend payments as 

% of net profi t) 

9 months of 2005 30.12.2005 2.46 5,225,999.4 55%

9 months of 2006 15.12.2006 1.59 3,377,780.1 97%

2007 18.06.2008 1.90/9.5 4,036,341.0 50%

6 months of 2008 19.09.2008 4.0/20.0 8,497,560.0 39%

Uralkali discloses all relevant information on dividends in the quarterly 
issuer reports which are available on the Company’s website: www.uralkali.com.
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Contacts
Registrar:

Closed Joint Stock Company Registrator Intraco
Abbreviated name: Registrator Intraco
64, Lenina Street, Perm, Russian Federation, 614990
Tel: +7(342) 233-01-64
Fax: +7(342) 233-01-63
Web: www.intraco.ru
E-mail: root@intraco.ru
Operating licence to maintain share register
Licence number: 10-000-1-00272
Date of issue: 24.12.2002
Date of expiry: Perpetual
Issuing authority: Federal Financial Markets Service

Depository:
Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street 
22nd Floor
New York, New York 10286 
United States of America 

IR Contacts:
Anna Batarina
Vice President for Investor Relations
Tel: +7(495) 730-2371
Ir@msc.uralkali.com

Media Contacts:
Alan Basiev
Head of Media Relations

Larissa Belyaeva
Head of International Media Relations
Tel: +7(495) 730-2373 
press@uralkali.com
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The Audit Committee has designated the development of an effective risk 
management system as one of the Company’s most important strategic aims.

This includes, but is not limited to, minimizing potential threats, 
ensuring transparent division of duties, and improving the balance between 
the responsibilities and authorities of the decision-makers.

The Company has chosen the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
concept developed by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) as 
the methodological foundation for its risk management system. ERM provides 
an integrated framework for managing all key risks facing the Company.

Uralkali launched a number of management initiatives in 2009 
aimed at achieving this objective. These resulted in the establishment of a 
risk management division, as well as the development and implementation 
of appropriate mechanisms and procedures including training for Uralkali’s 
management and employees. Within its risk management framework, the 
Company analyzed its strategic goals, identifi ed key risks and formalized its key 
risk ranking matrix, which measures risks according to their severity and the 
likelihood of their adverse effect on the Company.

Introducing this risk management system would not have been suffi cient 
without additional efforts to mitigate key risks related to the Company’s most 
signifi cant business processes. Uralkali’s management therefore focused on 
developing plans to address risks in the fi elds of corporate governance and 
investment management, production, safety and environment, purchasing and 
distribution. An executive has been appointed to oversee risk management at 
each of Uralkali’s subdivisions.

 

Uralkali Risk Management 
System

Risk Factors
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Risk Factors
This section describes only those key risk factors (in addition to 

the risks inherent to the jurisdictions in which Uralkali operates) which are 
likely to severely affect Uralkali’s business, fi nancial position and operational 
performance. All estimates and forecasts presented in this Annual Report 
should be viewed taking into account the risk factors described in this section.

Other risks that Uralkali is currently not aware of, or believes to be 
immaterial, could become material in future and may also have a severe adverse 
effect on Uralkali’s business, fi nancial condition and operational results.

The Annual Report does not present an exhaustive account of all 
risks facing the Company. Uralkali will make further disclosures of relevant 
information on an ongoing basis as required, according to the demands 
of Russian legislation and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK 
Listing Authority.

Risk Description

Consequences of global 
fi nancial crisis

The global fi nancial crisis has resulted in economic instability in many countries. This makes 
forecasting the volume of global potash consumption in 2010, as well as the rates of price volatility and 
changes in global and domestic demand very diffi cult. 
Along with other negative external and internal risk factors, the effects of the fi nancial crisis may lead 
to a shortage of liquidity and failures in meeting fi nancial obligations such as payments to suppliers, as 
well as preventing planned or required investments.

Infl ation Infl ationary pressures and currency fl uctuations resulting in higher production costs due to the rise in 
prices of materials, resources and services (for example, freight services) may lead to a reduction in net 
profi t and increase of investment outlay.

Insuffi cient demand Macroeconomic factors, which include changes in the world population, availability of arable land 
per capita, reduced levels of income and lack of fi nance for potash consumers, may result in reduced 
potash demand.

Excess supply Excessive global potash production and high inventory levels of both potash producers and consumers 
may lead to excess potash supply in the market, which could cause a decline in potash demand and 
create downwards pressure on potash prices. As a result, this may reduce revenue volumes and, 
consequently, the Company’s profi tability.

Implementation of investment 
projects

Investment costs, including the cost of expanding capacity and boosting performance, accounts for a 
signifi cant proportion of Uralkali’s budget.There is a risk that projects could exceed their time limits 
or planned costs, or that it may prove impossible to meet projects’ technological targets. 

Suppliers and contractors Uralkali’s relationships with its key contractors are of strategic importance for the Company’s 
operations. The loss of such contractors, substantial changes in the costs of their goods and services, 
and risk of default may adversely affect the Company's business.

Employees Uralkali’s operations are dependent on the availability of professional and highly qualifi ed employees 
in the labour market. Uralkali may fail to attract, retain and motivate high-quality staff and may face 
additional costs for training and professional development of the Company’s personnel. All this may 
adversely affect the Company’s ability to meet its business objectives. 

Obtaining and prolongation of 
licences

Uralkali’s activities depend on the continuing validity of its licences and compliance with their terms. 
Changes in legislation and withdrawal or restriction of licences by regulatory bodies may adversely 
affect the business of the Company.

Production capacity and output Uralkali’s potash production may be diminished by various internal factors, such as emergency 
downtime or deterioration of physical infrastructure, and external factors, such as deterioration of ore 
quality or reduced capacity owing to technological changes prescribed by regulatory bodies as well as 
other internal and external factors.
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Risk Description

Production costs Uralkali’s production costs could rise as a result of the physical depreciation of the production 
equipment, utilization of outdated technology in the process of production, ineffective productivity 
improvement programmes or the failure to implement cost reduction programmes. Exposure to such 
risks is likely to directly affect the level of the Company’s net profi t.

Mineral resources Uralkali’s estimations of its reserves and resources may be considerably different from the mineral 
quantities that can be actually recovered and certain ore reserves or mineral deposits may become 
unprofi table to mine.

Natural and mining hazards Uralkali’s mining and production operations are subject to hazards and risks associated with the 
exploration, development and processing of mineral resources, including potential fl ooding, fi res and 
other accidents, which may lead to accidental losses and overall decrease of the Company’s effi ciency.

Risks related to Mine 1 fl ooding The fl ooding of Uralkali’s Mine 1, which took place in October 2006, had a signifi cant impact on the 
volume of Uralkali’s potash reserves and may result in additional costs, losses and liabilities.

Regulatory reviews Uralkali’s activity is subject to various reviews by tax authorities, the Federal Service for 
Environmental, Technological and Nuclear Supervision (Rostekhnadzor) and other relevant 
regulatory bodies. These reviews may lead to the imposition of additional obligations, costs and 
restrictions (for example, if governmental authorities take a more assertive position in their assessment 
and interpretation of the legislation).

Legislative changes Uralkali is subject to changes in Russian and international legislation, which may severely affect the 
Company’s business and result in additional costs.

Antimonopoly law Uralkali is subject to antimonopoly legislation in Russia and other countries. Antimonopoly claims and 
lawsuits may lead to additional costs for Uralkali.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures Risks associated with Uralkali’s key subsidiaries and joint ventures (such as BPC and BBT) may 
adversely affect Uralkali’s business, including its distribution network.

Health, safety and environment Uralkali’s operations and specifi city of its property are subject to complex environmental and health 
and safety regulations (which may allow variant readings). Compliance with these regulations may 
result in additional costs and obligations for Uralkali. 
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  Directors’ responsibility statement 
We confi rm that to the best of our knowledge: 
• the consolidated fi nancial statements, prepared in accordance with 

IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi nancial position and 
profi t or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole;

• this annual report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

On behalf of the Board, which approved the making of the responsibility 
statement for the Company at a Board Meeting on 29 April 2010. 

Responsibility Statement

Director General 
V. A. Baumgertner
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This is a letter to confi rm that SRK Consulting (UK) Limited (SRK) has 
reviewed all of the key information on which the most recently (1 January 2010) 
reported Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve statements for the mining assets 
of Joint Stock Company Uralkali (Uralkali) are based. Specifi cally it sets out 
SRK’s view regarding the tonnes and grade of rock which has the potential to be 
mined by the existing and planned mining operations (the Mineral Resource), 
the quantity of product expected to be produced as envisaged by the respective 
Business Plan (the Ore Reserve) and the work done to derive these.

SRK has not independently re-calculated Mineral Resource and Ore 
Reserve estimates for Uralkali’s operations but has, rather, reviewed the quantity 
and quality of the underlying data and the methodologies used to derive and 
classify the estimates as reported by Uralkali and made an opinion on these 
estimates including the tonnes, grade and quality of the potash planned to be 
exploited in the current mine plan, based on this review. SRK has then used 
this knowledge to derive audited resource and reserve statements according to 
the guidelines and terminology proposed in the JORC Code.

This report presents both the existing Uralkali resource estimates 
according to Russian standard reporting terminology and guidelines and SRK’s 
audited JORC Code statements. All of these estimates are dated as of 1 January 
2010. SRK has restricted its assessment to the resources and reserves at Mine 2, 
Mine 4 and Mine 5. Mine 1 has been excluded as this has no realistic potential to 
be re-opened in the foreseeable future. 

1. Quantity and Quality of Data 
While a drilling programme was initiated during 2009 to improve 

confi dence in the resource estimates in the eastern portion of Mine 4, the 
resource and reserve estimates derived by Uralkali are primarily based on 
exploration drilling undertaken between 1972 and 1998. A specially laid out 
drilling programme was developed for each mine with the aim of enabling 
10% of the contained resources to be assigned to the A category of resources as 
defi ned by the Russian Reporting Code, 20% to the B category and 70% to the 
C1 category.

The A category is the highest category in the Russian Reporting Code 
and only used where the stated tonnage and grade estimates are considered 
to be known to a very high degree of accuracy. The B, C1 and C2 categories 
are lower confi dence categories, with C2 denoting the least level of confi dence 
in the three categories. In the case of Uralkali, blocks are assigned to the A 
category where the drillhole spacing is less than 1km, to the B category where 
the drillhole spacing is between 1 and 2km and to the C1 category where the 
drillhole spacing is 2km. Areas drilled at a larger spacing than this, up to a 4km 
spacing, are assigned to the C2 category, though only a very small proportion of 
Uralkali’s resources have been categorised as such. SRK considers that in this 

Review of the Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves of Joint Stock 
Company Uralkali located 
in the Russian Federation 
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case all of these categories, apart from C2, are acceptable for use in supporting 
mining plans and feasibility studies. 

As a result of the above process, each mine is drilled on a 2km by 2km 
grid or less before a decision is taken to develop the mine. This information 
is, however, then supplemented by underground drilling once the access 
development is in place. This typically creates a grid of intersections measuring 
400m by 200m. Uralkali does not upgrade the categorisation of its resources 
based on this drilling but rather uses this to optimise the mining layouts. 

The drillholes, whether drilled from surface or underground, are 
sampled at intervals of at least 10cm. If a seam consists of several layers then 
each layer is sampled separately. The resulting samples are crushed and milled 
under the control of the geology department to produce an approximate 100g 
sample prior to submission to the laboratory. 

Assaying is carried out at an in house laboratories located at each mine. 
No samples are sent to any independent laboratories but there is an internal 
system of check assaying and repeat assaying. Approximately 5% of samples are 
repeat assayed. The majority of the assaying is carried out using classical wet 
chemistry techniques. SRK considers that the exploration approach followed 
by Uralkali has been appropriate and specifi cally aimed at collecting the data 
appropriate to the estimation of potash resources and that suffi cient data of 
suffi cient quality has been collected to support the resource estimates as derived 
by Uralkali and as presented here.

2. Resource Estimation
Introduction
The most up to date resource statements produced by Uralkali are 

those derived for the annual 5GR reports produced earlier this year which give 
the status as of 1 January 2010. The completion of 5GR reports is a statutory 
requirement. These estimates were produced using standard classical Russian 
techniques and are essentially based on calculations made in previous years 
adjusted for mining during 2009. This section therefore comments primarily 
on these statements.

Uralkali Estimation Methodology
Each seam and each mine is treated separately in the resource estimation 

procedure. In each case the horizons are fi rst divided into blocks such that each 
sub-divided block has reasonably consistent borehole spacing within it; that is 
more intensely drilled areas are subdivided from less intensely drilled areas. 
Each resulting “resource block” is then evaluated separately using the borehole 
intersections falling within that block only. 

Specifi cally, composite K2O and MgO grades are derived for each 
borehole that intersected each block and mean grades are then derived for each 
block by simply calculating a length weighted average of all of these composited 
intersections. No top cuts are applied and all intersections are allocated the 
same weighting. 
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A separate plan is produced for each seam showing the results of the 
above calculations, the lateral extent of each sub block, and any areas where 
the seams are not suffi ciently developed. The aerial coverage of each block is 
then used with the mean thickness of the contained intersections to derive a 
block volume. The tonnage for each block is then derived from this by applying 
a specifi c gravity factor calculated by averaging all of the specifi c gravity 
determinations made from samples within that block. 

The data for each resulting block is plotted on a Horizontal Longitudinal 
Projection (HLP). This shows the horizontal projection of the extent of each 
block as well as its grade and contained tonnage. The HLP also shows the 
block classifi cation, this being effectively a refl ection of the confi dence of the 
estimated tonnes and grade. 

Uralkali Resource Statements
Table 1 below summarises SRK’s understanding of the resource 

statements prepared by Uralkali to refl ect the status of its assets as of 1 January 
2010. Uralkali’s statements are based on a minimum seam thickness of 2m and a 
minimum block grade which dependent on the mine varies between 13.6% and 
13.9% K2O. 

Table 1: Uralkali Sylvinite Mineral Resource Statement at 1 January 2010
Category Tonnage

(mln tonnes)
K2O

(%)
K2O

(mln tonnes)

Mine 2

A 10.4 31.1 3.2

B 45.0 22.7 10.2

C1 262.2 24.8 64.9

C2 - - -

A+B+C1 317.7 24.7 78.4

Mine 4

A 394.0 21.6 85.2

B 439.9 22.6 99.4

C1 1,016.9 20.6 209.7

C2 310.3 26.8 83.3

A+B+C1 1,850.7 21.3 394.2

Mine 5

A 169.9 19.0 32.3

B 311.0 19.8 61.7

C1 809.7 19.8 160.4

C2 - - -

A+B+C1 1,290.6 19.7 254.4
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Category Tonnage
(mln tonnes)

K2O
(%)

K2O
(mln tonnes)

All Mines

A 574.3 21.0 120.8

B 795.9 21.5 171.2

C1 2,088.8 20.8 435.0

C2 310.3 26.8 83.3

Grand Total A+B+C1 3,459.0 21.0 727.0

SRK Comments
SRK has reviewed the estimation methodology used by Uralkali to 

derive the above estimates and the geological assumptions made and considers 
these to be reasonable given the information available. SRK has also undertaken 
various re-calculations both of individual blocks and seams as a whole and has in 
all cases found no material errors or omissions and has replicated the estimates 
derived by Uralkali to within 5%.

Overall, SRK considers the resource estimates reported by Uralkali 
to be a reasonable refl ection of the total quantity and quality of material 
demonstrated to be present at the three assets as of 1 January 2010. 

SRK Audited Mineral Resource Statements 
Table 2 below presents SRK’s audited resource statement. SRK has re-

classifi ed the resource estimates using the terminology and guidelines proposed 
in the JORC Code. In doing this, SRK has reported those blocks classifi ed as A or 
B by Uralkali as Measured, those blocks classifi ed as C1 as Indicated and those 
blocks classed as C2 as Inferred. SRK’s audited Mineral Resource statements 
are reported inclusive of those Mineral Resources converted to Ore Reserves. 
The audited Ore Reserve is therefore a sub set of the Mineral Resource and 
should not therefore be considered as additional to this. 

SRK has not attempted to optimise Uralkali’s Business Plan. 
Consequently, SRK’s audited resource statements are confi ned to those seams 
that both have the potential to be mined economically and which are currently 
being considered for mining only. 
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Table 2: SRK Audited Sylvinite Mineral Resource Statement at 1 January 2010
Category Tonnage

(mln tonnes)
K2O

(%)
K2O

(mln tonnes)

Mine 2

Measured 55.4 24.3 13.5

Indicated 262.2 24.8 64.9

Inferred - - -

Measured + Indicated 317.6 24.7 78.4

Mine 4

Measured 833.9 22.1 184.6

Indicated 1,016.9 20.6 209.7

Inferred 310.3 26.8 83.3

Measured + Indicated 1,850.7 21.3 394.3

Mine 5

Measured 480.9 19.5 94.0

Indicated 809.7 19.8 160.4

Inferred - - -

Measured + Indicated 1,290.6 19.7 254.4

All Mines

Measured 1,370.2 21.3 292.0

Indicated 2,088.8 20.8 435.0

Inferred 310.3 26.8 83.3

Total Measured + 
Indicated

3,459.0 21.0 727.0

SRK Comments
The audited Mineral Resource statement as at 1 January 2010 presented 

above is different to that presented as at 1 January 2009 as a function of mining 
activity during 2009 and some re-assessments completed during 2009 by Uralkali 
to refl ect updated mining limitations imposed by the appropriate regulatory 
bodies. 
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3. Ore Reserve Estimation
Introduction
Uralkali does not report reserves as these are typically defi ned by 

reporting guidelines and terminology developed in Europe, North America 
and Australia; that is, estimates of the tonnage and grade of total material that 
is planned to be delivered to the various processing plants over the life of the 
mine. SRK has therefore derived estimates of such using historical information 
gained during its site visits regarding the mining losses and dilution experienced 
during mining to date. SRK has also restricted the resulting estimates to 
those areas planned to be mined by Uralkali’s Business Plan during the next 
20 years from 2010 to 2029 inclusive. This Business Plan assumes that Uralkali 
will successfully re-negotiate its Mining Licences in 2013 and the Ore Reserve 
Statements therefore also assume this will be the case. 

Modifying Factors
The Modifying Factors applicable to the derivation of reserves comprise 

estimates for ore losses and dilution associated with the separation of the ore 
and waste. This is normally a function of the orebody characteristics and mining 
methods selected. 

The Modifying Factors considered by SRK to be appropriate for the 
sylvinite being mined at each of the assets is shown in Table 3 below. The ore 
losses primarily comprise material left behind in pillars while the grade factor 
represents the relationship between the grade of the ore delivered to the plant 
and the in-situ grade.

Uralkali undertakes an annual reconciliation to compare the ore tonnes 
mined each year with the resource that has been sterilised by this mining and it 
is these fi gures that SRK has reviewed to derive the ore loss factors. 

Similarly Uralkali keeps a record of the in situ grade of the material 
sterilised by mining each year and SRK has compared these with the grade of 
material reported to have been fed to the plants to derive the grade factors. SRK 
has used the average ore loss and dilution factors experienced at Uralkali’s 
mining operations over the last fi ve years. Given this SRK is confi dent that the 
Modifying Factors used refl ect the geometry of the orebodies being mined and 
the mining methods currently being used. 

Table 3: SRK Modifying Factors
Description Units Mine 2 Mine 4

Ore Loss (%) 68 62

Extraction Rate (%) 32 38

Grade Factor (%) 83 88
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SRK Audited Ore Reserve Statements
As with its audited Mineral Resource statements, SRK’s Ore Reserve 

statements have been reclassifi ed using the terminology and guidelines 
proposed in the JORC Code. SRK has been provided with actual production 
and operating cost data for 2009 and a revised production forecast for 2010 to 
2029 inclusive refl ecting Uralkali’s current plans regarding the refurbishment 
of some existing processing facilities and also the installation of additional 
facilities and information regarding sales agreements and price forecasts. 

SRK’s  audited Ore Reserve statement is therefore confi ned to those 
seams that are currently being considered for mining within the next 20 years 
only. Specifi cally, for the operating mines, SRK has classed that material reported 
in the tables above as a Measured Mineral Resource, and which is planned to 
be exploited within the fi rst ten years of the Business Plan, as a Proved Ore 
Reserve; and that material reported in the tables above as an Indicated Mineral 
Resource, and which is planned to be exploited within the Business Plan, and 
also that material reported above as a Measured Mineral Resource, but which 
is planned to be mined during the following 10 years of the Business Plan, as a 
Probable Ore Reserve. 

SRK’s Ore Reserve statement does not include any material from Mine 
5, as the updated feasibility study for this is ongoing. In addition no Inferred 
Mineral Resources have been converted to Ore Reserves. SRK can confi rm that 
the Ore Reserve defi ned in Table 4 below has been derived from the resource 
blocks provided to SRK and incorporates suffi cient estimates for ore losses and 
dilution based on actual historical data. 

The large difference between SRK’s audited Mineral Resource statement 
and its audited Ore Reserve statement is partly a function of the relatively low 
mining recovery inherent in the Room and Pillar mining method employed. 
It is also partly a function of the fact that SRK has limited the Ore Reserve 
statement to that portion of the Mineral Resource on which an appropriate 
level of technical work has been completed. In this case this relates to the period 
covered by the remaining 20 years of Uralkali’s Business Plan. 

Table 4: SRK Audited Sylvinite Ore Reserve Statement at 1 January 2010
Category Tonnage

(mln tonnes)
K2O

(%)
K2O

(mln tonnes)

Mine 2

Proved 17.7 20.1 3.6

Probable 82.7 20.6 17.0

Total 100.5 20.5 20.6

Mine 4

Proved 186.7 19.5 36.4

Probable 216.6 18.2 39.3

Total 403.4 18.8 75.8
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Category Tonnage
(mln tonnes)

K2O
(%)

K2O
(mln tonnes)

All Mines

Proved 204.5 19.6 40.0

Probable 299.3 18.8 56.4

Grand Total 503.8 19.1 96.4

SRK Comments
The audited Ore Reserve statement as at 1 January 2010 presented above 

is different to that presented as at 1 January 2009 as a result of mining during 
2009, the extension of the Uralkali Business Plan to 2029 and the revisions to 
the Mineral Resource statements commented upon earlier in this letter. 

4. Concluding Remarks
In SRK’s opinion the Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve statements as 

included herein are materially compliant with the JORC Code and are valid 
as at 1 January 2010. SRK considers that should the Ore Reserves as presented 
herein be re-stated in accordance with the reporting requirements of the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), specifi cally Securities 
Act Industry Guide 7 (“Industry Guide 7”), such Ore Reserves would not be 
materially different. SRK however notes that certain terms as used in this letter, 
such as “resources” are prohibited when reporting in accordance with Industry 
Guide 7. 

Yours faithfully 

Dr Mike Armitage
Managing Director SRK Consulting (UK) Ltd
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Index Names and Sources Decryption

1 Agroconsult Agroconsult Consulting & Marketing, Brazil

2 Bloomberg Closely-held fi nancial software, news and data company, USA

3 BMO CM BMO Capital Markets - investment and corporate banking department of BMO Financial Group

4 BofA ML Bank of America Merrill Lynch, Sector research, January 2010

5 BPC Belarusian Potash Company

6 Brazilian Central Bank Central Bank of Brazil (Banco Central do Brasil)

7 CIA The Central Intelligence Agency, USA

8 CONAB Department of the Ministry of Agriculture (Companhia Nacional de Abastecimento Brazil)

9 CRU Independent business analytic and consulting agency in the fi eld of mining, metals, energy, fertilizer and chemical sectors, UK 

10 Department of Fertilizers, India The Ministry of Chemicals and Fertilizers

11 Doane Doane Advisory Services - the multi-media provider of information, advice and business solutions to agriculture, USA

12 EIU The Economist Intelligence Unit

13 ERCOSPLAN Group of Companies, ERCOSPLAN, Germany

14 FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

15 Fertecon Fertilizer Economic Market Analysis and Consultancy, UK

16 GKS Federal State Statistics Service, Russian Federation survey, January 2009

17 HSBC HSBC Bank, Sector research, September 2009

18 http://admbrk.ru/4/5/ Offi cial website of Berezniki, Perm Region, Russia

19 http://indiabudget.nic.in Offi cial website of the Ministry of Finance, Government of India

20 IFA International Fertilizer Industry Association, France

21 IGC International Grains Council, UK

22 IMF International Monetary Fund, USA

23 IPNI International Plant Names Index, USA

24 MAPA Brazilian Ministry of Agriculture

25 OECD Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, France

26 RBC CM RBC Capital Markets

27 TFI The Fertilizer Institute, USA

28 UBS UBS Bank, Sector research, April 2009

29 USDA United States Department of Agriculture

30 USGS U.S. Geological Survey

APC Arab Potash Company Ltd, Jordan

Canpotex Canpotex Limited, Canada

Dеilmann - Haniel Deilmann - Haniel mining systems (dhms), Germany

EuroChem Mineral-Chemical Company EuroChem, Russia

ICL Israel Chemicals Ltd., Israel

IPC International Potash Company, Russia

K+S K+S Group, Germany

PhosAgro Company producer of phosphate-based fertilizers OAO PhosAgro, Russia

Yara Yara International (Oslo: YAR)

SQM Mineral fertilizers producing company (Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile NYSE: SQM), Chili

Index and Glossary
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CFR “Cost and Freight”, title transfers when goods pass the rail of the ship in the port of shipment

FCA “Free Carrier”, title transfers when goods are loaded on the fi rst carrier (railway carriages)

FOB “Free On Board”, title to goods transfers as soon as goods are loaded on the ship

GMOP Granular muriate of potash

K Chemical element Potash

K2O Potassium oxide

KCl Potassium chloride (1KCI=1.67 K2O)

N Chemical element Nitrogen

NaCl Sodium chloride

NPK Nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium fertilizer

P Chemical element Phosphorus

PMOP Pink muriate of potash

SRK Report SRK mineral resource statement

WMOP White muriate of potash

Carnallite A hydrated potassium magnesium chloride with formula: KMgCl3·6(H2O)

BBT Baltic Bulk Terminal, St. Petersburg, Russia

BKPRU Potash production mining department of Berezniki unit

BPC Belarusian Potash Company

CEO Chief Executive Offi cer

CFO Chief Financial Offi cer

JSC Joint Stock Company

BRIC Brazil, Russia, India, China

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States

GDP Gross Domestic Product

SEA Southeast Asia

  

CUSIP Committee on Uniform Security Identifi cation Procedures

GDR Global Depositary Receipt 

ISIN International Securities Identifi cation Number

LSE London Stock Exchange

MICEX Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange Trading Board

RTS Russian Trading System

  

CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate

CAPEX Capital Expenditures

COGS Cash Cost of Goods Sold

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation
Throughout the report EBITDA means adjusted EBITDA – calculated as Operating Profi t plus 
depreciation and amortization and does not include mine fl ooding costs

YoY Year Over Year

bn billion

mln million

RUR (RR) Russian Ruble

BRL Brazilian Real

US$ US dollar

Terms and Abbreviations 
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Major Agricultural Crops 
Planting and Harvesting 
Calendar [23]

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sen Oct Nov Dec

Brazil
Soybean
Sugar cane
Corn
Coffee

India
Corn
Spring wheat
Winter wheat
Kharif rice (90%)
Rabi rice (10%)
Sorghum
Sugar cane (states):
• Uttar Pradesh
• Tamil Nadu
• Maharashtra

China
Rice:
• Single crop (50%)
• Early Double-crop (25%)
•  Late Double-crop (25%)
Corn (North)
Corn (South)
Soybean
Winter wheat (70%)
Spring wheat (30%)

SE Asia
Palm oil
Rice

Russia
Winter wheat 
Spring wheat 
Potato
Sugar beet
Sunfl ower

USA
Corn
Soybean
Cotton
Winter wheat (70%)
Spring wheat (30%)

plant harvest plant/harvest
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This Uralkali annual report has been approved by the Uralkali Board of Directors on April 29, 2010 
(Minutes of Board of Directors No. 233 from April 29, 2010).
The Uralkali Audit commission has confi rmed the accuracy of the data included in this annual report.

Director General 
V. A. Baumgertner
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